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Holds 19,7 million individual and 
group savings accounts that are 
predominantly for the bottom of the 
pyramid and previously financially 
excluded customers. 

Partnered with the Eastern Cape 
Department of Public Works and 
Department of Roads and Transport 
to provide banking accounts to over 
23 000 workers.

Despite initial payments IT 
challenges, Postbank attained 
improved systems stability in 
2019/20 financial year which greatly 
upgraded its adherence to the 
industry SLA. 

The transfer of the operations of 
the Postbank division, including 
staff and assets & liabilities, to 
Postbank was gazetted with an 
effective date of 1 April 2019, in line 
with the provisions of the Postbank 
Amendment Act 44 of 2013.

Implemented grant payments and 
biometric systems.

Total of 8,4 million SASSA 
beneficiaries paid via Postbank 
accounts to the amount of R122,5 
billion during the 2019/20 financial.

Updates to Section 16 banking 
license application as well as Section 
43 related to the establishment of 
a bank controlling company are in 
progress.

Awarded the Department of 
Environmental Affairs (DEA) Waste 
Bureau business.

HIGHLIGHTS
Financial highlights 

Operational highlights 

The profit after tax 
for the financial year 
ended 31 March 2020 
amounted to R211 
million. 

Net Cash from Operating 
Activities amounted to cash basis 
figure of R5,3 billion, this is the 
amount of cash generated by 
Postbank from the revenue that 
was generated. 

Total assets amount to R14,2 
billion in 2020 financial year, 
which exceeds total liabilities 
by R3,7 billion. This means that 
Postbank has sufficient cash to 
pay its debts. 

Postbank generated 
total revenue of R2,3 
billion during the year 
ending 31 March 2020

Return on Assets 
amounted to 2,05% 
during the 2019/20 
financial year. This return 
shows the profitability 
of Postbank’s assets in 
generating revenue and 
earnings. 

Investments 
amounted to R7,065 
billion in the 2019/20 
financial year 
despite slow growth 
in deposits due to 
customers. 

Net Profit After 
Tax 

Net Cash From 
Operating Activities  

Total 
Assets 

Postbank 
Generated 
Total revenue 

Return on 
Assets

Investments 

Commenced HR capacity building in key areas 
of IT, Operations, Project Office, Product 
development. 

The corporatisation of Postbank was completed 
and a Postbank Board was appointed. The 
legislative process to amend the Bank’s Act, 
Postbank Act and related legislation to enable 
Postbank to apply for a banking license is 
underway.

Contactless card floor limits lowered by banking 
industry to curb detected fraud related to 
SASSA cards. Plans to replace SASSA cards in 
FY 2020/21 implemented in adherence to SARB 
recommendations.

Human 
Resources Government General
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List of Abbreviations

AGM  Annual General Meeting

ATM  Automated Teller Machine 

BAC  Bid Adjudication Committee

BASA  Banking Association of South Africa

DAC  Directors Affairs’ Committee

DCDT  Department of Communication and Digital Technologies

DFI  Developmental Finance Institution

FIC  Financial Intelligence Centre

FSCA  Financial Sector Conduct Authority 

HRTC  Human Resources and Transformation Commitee

ITSC  Information Technology Steering Committee

MNS  Managed Network Service

MTSF  Medium Term Strategic Framework 

NDP  National Developmental Plan

NII  Net Interest Income

NIR  Non Interest Revenue

NPS  National Payment System

RCMC  Risk and Capital Management Committee

REMCO Remuneration Committee

SAPO  South African Post Office

SARB  South African Reserve Bank

SASSA  South African Social Security Agency

SEC  Social and Ethics Committee

SOE  State Owned Entity

SRD  Social Relief of Distress

TOR  Terms of Reference
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INTRODUCTION TO THE ANNUAL REPORT
Postbank’s strategy and position is aligned to 
South Africa’s National Developmental Plan Vision 
2030, developmental targets of the Department of 
Communications and Digital Technologies (DCDT), 
and the Annual Performance Contract of the DCDT 
Minister, Honourable Ms Stella Ndabeni-Abrahams.

The Annual Report covers our performance for the 
2019/2020 financial year, and it is our inaugural report 
tabled in this format as a separate juristic person.

As a Board of Directors, our mandate as well as 
constitution and conduct are covered by The South 
African Postbank Act No.9 of 2010 (as amended). 
The Board’s leadership of Postbank is further guided 
by the King IV Code of Governance for South Africa, 
protocols governing SOE’s as well as the Protocol on 
Corporate Governance in the Public Sector.

This Annual Report also includes Postbank’s 
Annual Financial Statements, which are prepared 
in accordance with the requirements of the Public 
Finance Management (PFMA) Act No.1 of 1999 
(as amended), International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS), and the Companies Act of South 
Africa No.71 of 2008, where applicable. 

The Annual Report is structured as a narration our 
activities in the context of our operating environment 
and its impact in the course of our advancement of 
our set mandate as a creation of shareholder value, 
as well as our impact during the reporting period.

Inclusive in the report is also the narration of all those 
matters that we believe could impact the attainment 
of our mandate in the immediate, medium and long 
term.

Postbank is incrementally working towards a 
combined assurance model, which will allows us to 
obtain assurance within reasonable costs from our 
internal Risk Management Division, once adequately 
capacitated, and external providers as stated in our 
Audit and Risk Committee report.

Being a state-owned entity, the Auditor-General of 
South Africa is Postbank’s auditor and provider of 
external assurance on the fair presentation of the 
Annual Financial Statements. During the financial 
year under review, the Auditor-General of South 
Africa has issued a qualified audit opinion on the 
Annual Financial Statements as well as findings 
relating to performance on predetermined objectives, 
compliance with laws and regulations and internal 
controls, which is included in the Auditor-General of 
South Africa’s Report to Parliament that is contained 
in this Annual Report. 

The Board of Directors of Postbank, with the 
assistance from the Audit Committee together with 
Postbank’s executive management, is ultimately 
responsible for the integrity of this Annual Report. 
Significant thought has been dedicated by the Board 
in guiding management’s reporting process and the 
Board has concluded that this report represents 
all material matters and is presented in line with 
the requisite framework. The Board of Directors of 
Postbank approved this report in 28 April 2021.

Mr Gcobani Mancotywa
Postbank Board Member

Mr Thabile Wonci
Chairperson of the Audit and Committee
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Foreword by the
Chairperson

Mr Gcobani Mancotywa
Postbank Board Member

The mandate bestowed on Postbank to continue 
equipping itself sufficiently to assist government 
attain the meaningful and equitable participation 
of the marginalized into the financial marketplace 
is enormous. The task given us as a Board in this 
process is even more captivating because we have 
to ensure that Postbank attains its mandate, while 
simultaneously warranting the institution’s financial 
sustainability and correct standing necessary for its 
banking license application process with the SARB.    

When reflecting on the current reporting period, 
particularly within the broader context of the 
unprecedented societal health and economic shocks 
that have been witnessed, the Board is satisfied in 
reporting that Postbank remains steadfast and on 
course it’s founding mandate.

Postbank’s performance resilience through this wave 
of a generally unfavourable macro-economic climate 
during the period under review is the source of our 
confidence.  

MACRO-ENVIRONMENT 
ECONOMIC FACTORS 
The financial year period under review characterised 
an era of one of the most sluggish economic growth 
episodes seen in a long time. The pronouncements of 
indications of the presence of the Covid-19 pandemic 
in the country which started during the last quarter of 
the financial year under review were signs of further 
burden on an already noticeable tough economic 
climate. The contractions in the gross domestic 
product (GDP) growth became further pronounced 
in the minimum impact on employment during the 
period, further narrowing economic bases.

The instability of the electricity supply across the 
country during the reporting period also had a notable 
impact in our service standards within the Post Office 
branches, which remain one of Postbank’s primary 
channels. Adjusting operating procedures speedily in 
changing times is necessary for business success.
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REVIEW OF THE YEAR
Notwithstanding the generally unfavourable macro-
economic climate, Postbank has turned profits during 
the 2019/20 financial year period, continuing its 
profitability trajectory of the past 10 years.

Postbank continued to facilitate social grants 
payments to more than 8,4 million of our country’s 
needy. During the period under review (1 April 2019 to 
31 March 2020), Postbank facilitated SASSA social 
grants payments in excess of R122,5bn.

The Board is also pleased to report that Postbank, 
SAPO and SASSA have made noticeable strides 
in resolving the grants IT systems challenges that 
affected the grants payments. The Board recognizes 
that stability and reliability of IT systems is at the core 
of a banking business enterprise and form a critical 
basis for customer’s trust. Therefore, it is important 
for Postbank to move swiftly in its IT system’s 
modernisation processes and introduce an even more 
reliable and scalable core banking platform.

During the reporting period, Postbank registered 
a moderate net return on assets (of 2.05%). The 
Board believes this to be an indicator that requires 
improvement, and we are confident that this can be 
feasibly modified once the bank’s capacity is enhanced 
through the integrated growth initiatives that are 
earmarked for implementation in the next financial 
year, which also include the employment of people 
that possess retail banking skills to complement the 
existing team.

The corporatization of Postbank, together with the 
process of attaining a banking license for the entity 
is also progressing satisfactorily. The transfer of the 
operations of the Postbank division, including staff 
and assets as well as liabilities, from SAPO to Postbank 
SOC Limited was Gazetted with an effective date of 
1 April 2019 in line with the provisions of the Postbank 
Amendment Act 44 of 2013.  

The upcoming financial year is earmarked to 
become another difficult period for the domestic 
economy, the general population and the banks. As 
the economy enters its recovery period and market 
activity improves forecasters still anticipate either a 
flat growth field or further GDP contractions coupled 
with increased unemployment levels. 

In contrast, the next financial year is the period in 
which Postbank has earmarked to conclude its section 
16 banking license process, invest sizeably in necessary 
capital projects in areas of IT and customer channels 
expansions, increasing its share of participation in 
government business, establish a separate brand 
identity, and conclude appointments in executive 
leadership positions.  

The Board is confident that, with the support of 
the Executive Authority and sound decision making, 
Postbank will be able to deliver on these important 
initiatives that will mark a positive milestone in 
building the institution’s capacity to meet its mandate 
and the creation of value. 

As much dependent on Postbank as it is the task 
of the broader state and regulatory environment 
mechanisms, the mutability within the financial 
services marketplace dictates the hassled conclusion 
of the banking license process. 

This does not exclude facilitation of the conclusion 
of the process by way of direct state proclamations 
setting concrete timelines as an intervention, where 
appropriate, if the bank is to timeously attain any 
meaningful impact in line with its mandate. The 
changes in technology and regulation have made it 
easier for new banks, amongst others, to enter and 
rapidly alter the shape of the domestic financial 
marketplace and this will continue burdening the 
ability of Postbank to deliver on its mandate if the 
entity’s corporatization process is further prolonged. 

POSTBANK’S CORPORATISATION

THE YEAR AHEAD
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A WORD OF APPRECIATION
On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank every 
Postbank employee for their contribution to the 
institution during the period under review. 

The Board would also like to express its sincere 
gratitude to the shareholder representative, Minister 
Stella Ndabeni-Abrahams for her continued guidance 
and support. Truly the Minister has taken personal 
interest in championing the corporatization of 
Postbank and ensuring that necessary legislation 
is processed through Parliament. We thank you our 
honourable Minister from the bottom of our hearts. 
We also acknowledge and thank Deputy Minister Ms 
Pinkie Kekana for her support to Postbank’s Board 
and management during the period under review. We 

also want to express our gratitude to the Department 
of Communication and Digital Technologies staff.  
We also acknowledge and thank Deputy Minister Ms 
Pinkie Kekana for her support to Postbank’s Board 
and management during the period under review. We 
also want to express our gratitude to the Department 
of Communication and Digital Technologies staff. 

This 2019/2020 financial year Postbank Annual Report 
represents our inaugural primary communication 
with stakeholders as a separate juristic entity, and the 
report also incorporates Postbank’s Annual Financial 
Statements, including the DCDT.

Mr Gcobani Mancotywa
Postbank Board Member

The Postbank Board nominated Mr Gcobani 
Mancotywa to chair the meeting that approved this 
Annual Report in the absence of a Chairperson. It is 
on these basis that Mr Mancotywa is the designated 
signatory of the Chairperson’s Foreword. 
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Chief Executive Officer’s 
Overview

Mr Molatlhegi Kgauwe
Postbank Interim CEO

The 2019/2020 financial year period recounted in this 
Annual Report will be marked as one of the worst 
economic positions in our history as a society. As 
we look through this period, it is pleasing to report 
that Postbank has proven resilient, mainly thanks 
to all our stakeholders, especially our valuable and 
committed employees: 

• The profit before tax for the financial year ended 
31 March 2020 amounted to R291 million. 

• Postbank generated total revenue of R2,3 billion 
during the year ending 31 March 2020.

• Net Cash from Operating Activities amounted to 
cash basis figure of R5,3 billion, this is the amount 
of cash generated by Postbank from the revenue 
that was generated. 

• Return on Assets amounted to 2.05% during the 
2019/20 financial year. This return shows the 
profitability of Postbank’s assets in generating 
revenue. 

• Total assets amount to R14,2 billion in 2020 
financial year, which exceeds total liabilities by 
R3,7 billion. 

• Investments amounted to R7,065 billion in the 
2019/20 financial year despite slow growth in 
depositors due to customers.

Whilst the Net Interest Income (NII) increased 
even despite the muted interest rate environment, 
revenues reduced over the reporting period and this 
was mainly due to the reduction in the pricing of the 
SASSA fee which was brought down to 49% below 
the 2018/19 pricing, and retrospectively applied as 
at end of January 2020.  The delayed finalisation of 
the pricing also made it difficult for Postbank to fully 
make up the drop in revenue before year end. 

The Covid-19 pandemic, which started towards the 
latter part of the reporting period, was to prove itself 
to be a unique development and experience for our 
generation that had a profound impact on an already 

strained local economic environment. 

Postbank’s corporatisation, which forms an important 
part of the entity’s banking license application to 
the SARB, has progressed incrementally during 
the reporting period as well as the accompanied 
necessary legislative change processes.

In line with the corporatisation process, Postbank has 
also concluded a service level agreement with SAPO 
supporting the cooperation agreement between 
the two entities, in terms of which, amongst others, 
Postbank will continue receiving SAPO’s support in 
certain operations areas. 

In addition, during the period under review Postbank 
created its own organisational structure to fit its 
business strategy and all its employees have been 
transferred from SAPO. 
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The drive to capacitate Postbank and build a separate 
brand entity that is distinct, and independent from 
SAPO’s brand, was also part of the considerations 
in the creation of the Postbank business operations 
structure. However, where necessary during the 
reporting period, in order to make certain to not 
over-capacitate the bank with human capital, some 
functions’ support were still drawn from SAPO from 
a shared services arrangement accompanying the 
separation of the two entities in order to derive 
mutual efficiencies and save costs. 

To grow the necessary market confidence and 
trust, Postbank intends to progressively build its 
capacity as a measure of reducing the dependency 
on SAPO. Consequently, during the reporting period, 
Postbank commenced processes to ready the market 
introduction of its distinct corporate identity before 
the end of the 2020/21 financial year.

Management has identified bottlenecks and 
dependencies that impacted on Postbank’s ability to 
achieve most of its planned targets in the 2019/20 
financial year. The focus in the next financial year 
will be to address them and implement the plans for 
that year. We are positively optimistic that with the 
support of the Board and the Executive Authority 
progress will be attained.

On behalf of Postbank management and employees, 
I would like to thank the Board for its continued 
guidance and leadership over the reporting period. 
In particular, we thank the Board for ensuring that 

Mr Molatlhegi Kgauwe
Postbank Interim CEO

Postbank remains on course in our pursuit for a 
banking license which will enable us to fulfil the 
entity’s mandate more efficiently. We also extend 
our gratitude to the Minister, Ms Stella Ndabeni-
Abrahams, the Deputy Minister, Ms Pinkie Kekana, the 
DCDT SOE oversight colleagues and the department 
for the support they continued to give to us over the 
financial year on this important mission of building 
Postbank into a capable state-owned bank.  
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Strategic 
Overview
ABOUT POSTBANK

The journey of Postbank began 
when it started as a savings bank
within the South African Post 
Office in 1875. Through the years,
Postbank has transitioned into 
a meaningful financial services 
provider whose primary focus has
been on the provision of savings 
and transactional banking services.
Postbank offers secure, reliable, 
accessible and affordable banking
predominantly to the underbanked
and unbanked segments of the 
South African population. Its 
primary target market consists of
individuals, groups and businesses
within the lower living standards 
measures (LSM’s 1 to 6).

Postbank is a full participant 
within South Africa’s National 
Payment System.

Postbank began as a savings 
bank within the South African 

Post Office in 1875.

R4,2 billion capital 
reserves.

Additional 8,4 million 
individual SASSA beneficiaries 

customers.

Government financial services 
support for the Department of 

Environmental Affairs (DEA) 
Waste Bureau business and 

Eastern Cape Department of 
Public Works and Department 

Roads and Transport to 
provide banking services to 23 

000+ employees.

6,6 million primary bank 
customers.

10 years+ 
profitable

R7,6+ billion deposit 
base.

Postbank has a core deposit base
in excess of R7,6 billion, and more
than R4,2 billion in capital and 
reserves. Postbank is currently a 
subsidiary of the South African 
Post Office SOC Ltd and has been
profitable for more than 10 years.

In line with its founding mandate,
Postbank is positioned to play a 
key role in South Africa’s socio-
economic developmental goals 
and meaningful financial inclusion, 
as well as supporting government’s 
financial services.

Additional to the SASSA social 
grants payments, Postbank is 
involved with the Department of
Environmental Affairs (DEA) 
Waste Bureau business and it has
also partnered with the Eastern

Cape Department of Public Works 
and Department of Roads and 
Transport to provide banking 
services to over 23 000 employees.

Government is in the process of 
corporatizing Postbank and the 
entity has applied for a Section 16 
banking license with the SARB.

10
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WHERE WE OPERATE

Postbank’s operations have nationwide reach through Post Office branch infrastructure, which accords us 
widened footprint especially within the country’s rural and peri-urban centres. As a full NPS participant, 
Postbank’s customers are also able to access banking services from any other banks’ ATMs and perform retail 
merchant transactions.   

SAPO branch network Postbank’s card holders’ access to 
any of the country’s other banks’’ 
ATM’s  network 

Postbank’s card holders’ access to 
perform transactions in any of the 
country’s retail merchants’ network

SAPO branch network

Vision ValuesMission

The trusted banking partner 
to Government on financial 
inclusion.

Postbank adopted the following 
values: Passion | Personal growth
Accountability | Community |  
Collaboration | Efficiency

To offer simple and affordable 
banking solutions through secure 
channels.
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MANDATE, REGULATION AND
LICENSE

Regulation, Legislative and 
Governance Framework

Figure 1: Legal and Regulatory 
Framework

The South African Postbank SOC Limited was 
established in 2017 as a company in terms of the 
Companies Act. Originally existing as a savings 
institution within South African post Office, Postbank 
mainly draws its mandate from the Postbank 
Postbank Limited Act 9 of 2010 (as amended). 
Postbank’s mandate entails the promotion of 
financial inclusion in order to assist Government’s 
financial participation and developmental targets for 
previously excluded communities in areas including, 
growing savings, improving financial welfare, creating 
an inclusive safe transacting environment as well as 
improving financial literacy. 

Postbank SOC Limited complies with protocols and 
legislation governing SOE’s, and it is also guided by 
legislation and various regulations governing financial 
services institutions mandated by regulatory and 
oversight bodies that include the South African 
Reserve Bank (SARB), Financial Intelligence Centre 
(FIC), Financial Sector Conduct Authority and the 
National Treasury. 
Postbank is required to comply with, inter alia, the 
following:

• Postbank Act No. 9 of 2020 (as amended).
• Banks Act No. 90 of 1990 (as amended).
• Companies Act No. 71 of 2008 (as amended).
• Public Finance Management Act No. 1 of 1999 (as 

amended).
• Protection of Personal Information Act No, 4 of 

2013.
• Relevant legislation applicable to SOCs.
• Relevant legislation applicable to the financial 

services sector.

Postbank Act (2013) 
(as amended)

POPI Act 
(2013)

Bank Act No:
 90 of 1990

SARB and National 
Treasury Regulations*

Companies 
Act (2008)

PFMA 
(1999)

FIC Act 
(2001)

Other Guiding/ Governing Legislation, Protocols 
and Frameworks:

Protocol on good governance in the Public Sector; 
King IV™  Code of Good Corporate Governance
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ORGANISATIONAL 
STRUCTURE

Chief Executive
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PART B
PERFORMANCE
INFORMATION
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REPORT ON PERFORMANCE ON 
PREDETERMINED OBJECTIVES
SERVICE DELIVERY ENVIRONMENT

Stemming from its origins as a subsidiary of the 
South African Post Office, Postbank relies on the Post 
Office’s branch network as its main customer service 
channel. The Post Office branches are utilized for 
normal in-branch transactions, inclusive of deposits, 
enquiries, card replacements and withdrawals by all 
Postbank account categories together with SASSA 
social grants recipients.

The delays experienced by the Post Office in its 
Managed Network Service (MNS), aimed at the digital 
transformation of its branch network impacted 
Postbank’s branch customer service standards. 

However, following continued engagements with 
landlords for approvals and the installation of fibre 
networks, the Post Office has managed meaningful 
headways in its branch network digitalization and 
completed 1 083 out of a targeted 1 329 planned sites 
(83%). The completion of the digitalization process 
will greatly improve Postbank’s customer experience 
within Post Office’s branches.

Postbank’s grants payments system’s connectivity 
adherence to the industry’s service level agreement 
(SLA) in its performance within the NPS has also 
been significantly improved. 

The performance has improved to 92% which is 
industry average, following performance concerns 
that were raised especially at the inception of the 
payments. 

Following the detection of increased fraud incidents 
associated with the contactless function of the 
Postbank issued SASSA card during the reporting 
period, the SARB, other banks and the banking 
industry role players determined the reduction of 
the industry’s contactless transactions floor limits to 
R0.00 as a remedy. In addition, the SARB determined 
that Postbank devise a programme to replace SASSA 
cards currently in circulation. 

Postbank continues to provide periodic reports 
to the SARB on the SASSA cards replacement 
programme. Since most of the SASSA cards which 
were issued in 2018 have a lifespan of 5 years, the 
card replacement programme will entail bringing 
forward the replacement cycle of these cards by a 
few months which will therefore offset the associated 
replacement costs.

Post Office Branch Network 
Channel

Grants Payments System 
Connectivity

New SASSA 
Cards 
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ORGANISATIONAL 
ENVIRONMENT

CORPORATE STRATEGIC 
OBJECTIVES 

KEY POLICY 
DEVELOPMENTS
& LEGISLATIVE 
AMENDMENTS

Postbank’s employee head count increased by 7.1% 
(225 on 1 April 2019, to 241 as at 31 March 2020) in line 
with plans to capacitate the bank in critical functional 
areas to enable it to deliver on its mandate. However, 
in the period under review the entity has not been 
able to fill its executive level vacancies that include 
the position of the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and 
Chief Financial Officer (CFO), except for the position 
of the Chief Risk Officer. 

Lists of potential suitable candidates identified 
for these positions have been compiled during the 
reporting period and it is envisaged that the positions 
will be filled by the end of the second quarter of 
the 2020/2021 financial year. The remainder of the 
executive level positions are in recruitment phase, 
and also envisaged to be filled during the course of 
the 2020/2021 financial year period.

During the reporting period, the term of the non-
executive directors of the Board also expired and new 
non-executive directors of the Board were appointed 
together with a new chairperson.

Postbank’s Section 16 application to register as a 
bank was submitted on 26 June 2017 to the SARB. 
Cabinet approved the legislative changes to the 
Banks Act through the Financial Matters Amendment 
Bill which will enable Postbank to register as a fully-
fledged bank.

On 29 June 2019 the Postbank Board and executive 
team met with the SARB to map a way forward 
regarding the banking license application process. 
On 29 March 2019 the Honourable Minister of DCDT 
granted the transfer of Postbank division from the 
South African Post Office group as of 1 April 2019. 
The transfer of the Postbank division from the South 
African Post Office group is currently underway.

Postbank’s strategic goal is to be the trusted partner 
for accessible, simple and affordable banking 
solutions. Postbank developed a 3 year Corporate 
Plan which articulates the strategic objectives that 
will drive its business growth and market share by 
the year 2022. The Corporate Plan was developed 
in alignment with the National Development Plan 
(NDP) Vision 2030, the Medium Term Strategic 
Framework (MTSF) and other delivery agreements, 
as well as the shareholder Department’s strategic 
plans. The Postbank Corporate Plan outlines a list 
of Postbank’s strategic goals and a plan on how 
the bank intends to achieve these and the other key 
mandated priorities. 

Postbank has identified the following strategic 
priorities for the next three years ending 31 March 
2022:

1. Corporatise the bank and acquire a banking 
license.

2. Grow revenue.
3. Capacitate the organisation to be efficient and 

cost effective.
4. Digitalisation of the bank.
5. Become a full service retail bank.
6. Be Government’s preferred payment channel.

Postbank’s strategic objectives were underpinned 
by the following key success factors considered to 
be critical in the achievement of the bank’s strategic 
goals:

• Operational Efficiency
• Customer Centricity/Experience
• Financial Sustainability
• Governance and Compliance

Strategic objectives, key 
performance indicators planned 
targets and actual achievements
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Postbank also developed a related Annual 
Performance Plan (APP), incorporated into its 
Corporate Plan for a 3 year strategic period 2019/20 
– 2021/22. The APP provides further detail on the 
bank’s performance targets and measurements for 
the 2019/20 financial year. Postbank’s performance 
was measured and tracked through a total of 
sixteen (16) key performance indicators, aligned and 
responding to the six (6) corporate strategic priorities 

outlined above. Postbank managed to achieve 2 KPIs, 
and the balance of 14 KPIs were not achieved due 
to various strategic and operational reasons. This 
translates to an overall performance of 12,5%. The 
bank’s overall scorecard for the 2019/20 financial 
year is summarised and depicted in the diagram 
below:

1. Corporatise the Bank and Acquire a 
Banking License

2. Grow Revenue

3. Capacitate the Organisation to be 
Efficient and Cost Effective

4. Digitalisation of the Bank

5. Become a Full Service Retail Bank

6. Be Government’s Preferred Payment 
Channel

3

2

2

4

4

1

0

0

1

0

1

0

3

2

1

4

3

1

0%

0%

50%

0%

25%

0%

Strategic Themes

TOTAL

No. of KPIs

16

Achieved

2

Not Achieved

14

% 
Score

12,5%
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This objective was meant to enable Government 
to establish a state-owned bank that will meet the 
state’s developmental objectives. There are large 
markets that are not served by the traditional banks 
in the private sector that Postbank will endeavour 
to provide services to. These include the informal 
sector, rural economies, youth and SMMEs. There is 
also the overarching objective of enhancing financial 
inclusion for the unbanked and under-banked as per 
Postbank’s mandate enunciated in the Postbank Act. 

This strategic objective comprised of 3 KPIs, metrics 
that considered to (i). Successfully transfer Postbank’s 
assets and liabilities into Postbank SOC Ltd; (ii). 
Reduce and eliminate material audit findings; and 
(iii). Achieve a target cost-to-income ratio. Postbank 
did not deliver on this strategic objective as it did 
not achieve any of the targets related to these KPIs 
due to capacity challenges and a number of external 
dependencies.

Postbank’s mandate of financial inclusion entails 
filling the identified market gap and deliver 
convenient access to affordable financial services 
to the unbanked and underserved communities. 
The bank has to do this in a financially sustainable 
manner in order to ensure its own sustainability. 
Postbank’s financial sustainability creates a platform 
for economic transformation, job creation as well 
as economic growth. A strengthened balance sheet 
provides a strong foundation for the provision of 
loans in the future.

It is on this basis therefore that the bank has to 
ensure growth in revenue in order to be able to fund 
its financial operations. The element of financial 
sustainability ties closely the imperatives of growing 
revenue and cost containment. This strategic 
objective comprised of 2 KPIs, which considered to 
(i). Achieve a targeted Net-Interest Income (NII); and 
(ii). Achieve a targeted Non-Interest Revenue (NIR). 
Postbank did not achieve any of these two KPIs due 
to a combination of internal and external factors - 
thus the bank was not able to deliver on this priority 
area of ensuring financial sustainability. 

Efficiencies within the organisation contribute 
towards the establishment of an effective and capable 
state owned asset. Operational efficiencies also 
contribute towards long term financial sustainability, 
thereby ensuring that Postbank is in a strong position 
to fulfil the State’s developmental mandate. The 
key performance indicators linked to this strategic 
priority relate to the human capacitation of the 
organisation, as well as tracking the ratio of costs 
in relation to revenue generated. This measurement 
sought to ensure that the organisation has sufficient 
human capacity, particularly the requisite Executive 
management capacity to support the banking license 
application, and management capacity to ensure the 
execution of the bank’s strategy. 

Efficiency and effectiveness was also prioritised from 
the bank’s operational performance perspective, 
where containment of costs was targeted in terms of 
the ratio of costs in relation to revenue. This strategic 
objective comprised of 2 KPIs, which considered to 
(i). Fill all approved vacant Executive positions; and 
(ii). Achieve a target cost-to-income ratio. Postbank 
did not deliver fully on this priority area as it only 
managed to achieve the targeted cost to income 
ratio, and the target to fill the vacant Executive 
positions was not achieved.

In line with various system compliance requirements, 
with this metric Postbank sought to modernise 
its IT infrastructure to be fit-for-purpose in order 
to be compliant and to meet the demands of an 
evolving market. The bank also intended to digitise 
its processes and financial service delivery by way 
of providing diversified channels that would ensure 
that customers have convenient access to affordable 
financial products and services. Digital channels 
offerings would ensure the reduction in the cost-to-
serve, thereby aiding the attainment of the bank’s 
mandate of promoting financial inclusion.

This strategic objective comprised of 4 KPIs, which 
considered not only to implement various digital 
channels including Internet Banking, Merchant POS 

1. Corporatise the bank and 
acquire a banking license 

2. Grow revenue

3. Capacitate the organisation to 
be efficient and cost effective

4. Digitalisation of the bank
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Parallel to the objective to see the Postbank business 
transferred from the Post Office to the newly 
established Postbank SOC Ltd, the bank focused 
on building all the requisite capabilities to enable it 
to become the kind of financial institution it seeks 
to become. Postbank intends to grow its retail 
business and market share and sought to implement 
all requisite systems and develop related products 
to better service its target market. Postbank 
planned to deliver on its mandated priorities linked 
to the promotion of financial inclusion. This relates 
to growing savings and deposits, commencing 
lending and bancassurance businesses, and further 
expanding the number and quality of its broader 
products and services offering, thereby enhancing 
the bank’s Customer Value Proposition. 

This strategic objective comprised of 4 KPIs, which 
considered to (i). Develop and grow the Lending 
book; (ii). Grow depositor balances from prior year 
(3%); (iii). Increase number of new accounts opened 
(300,000); (iv). Conduct a targeted number of 
financial literacy events, and (v). Postbank did 
not deliver fully on this strategic priority as it only 
managed to achieve one KPI, which related to 
conducting the targeted number of financial literacy 
events, and faltered on the other KPIs, due to various 
operational and strategic reasons. 

This strategic objective places emphasis on ensuring 
that Postbank strengthens its working relationship 
with the various key stakeholders, particularly with 
Government, in order to enable the bank to acquire 
and grow the business it conducts with this key 
stakeholder.  This is pivotal in ensuring that state 
resources are well managed, and that Postbank, 
as a state-owned entity, ensures that Government 
extracts optimum value for money in line with the 
responsibility to manage with care the taxpayers’ 
monies. 

As such, Postbank’s strategic objective in this regard 
entailed a KPI focused on ensuring an increase in 
revenue derived from the provision of Government-
to-citizen services through increasing the number 
of business deals/contracts it has with various 
Government entities (3 deals). Unfortunately this 
objective was not achieved as the bank was unable to 
clinch the number of deals targeted for the 2019/20 
financial year. Engagements are however in progress 
with various Government entities on a number of 
identified business opportunities.

5. Become a full service 
retail bank

6. Be Government’s preferred 
payment channel

devices and Postbank proprietary ATMs, but also 
included a metric that tracks the uptime of these 
digital channels within the National Payments 
System (NPS). None of these critical initiatives were 
achieved, and the bank’s performance in terms of 
ensuring systems’ availability was below the industry 
SLA of 98%. As such, the bank did not deliver on this 
critical priority area, which is a key enabler of delivery 
on the mandate of promoting financial inclusion. 
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1.1 Successful transfer of banking division assets and 
liabilities into Postbank SOC Ltd

4.1 Implement Internet and Mobile Banking 
digital offering for customers 

3.1 Fill all approved vacant Executive positions

3.2 Achieve a targeted Cost to Income ratio

2.1 Increase Net Interest Income (NII) R’m

2.2 Increase Non Interest revenue (NIR) R’m

1.2 Reduce and eliminate  material 
audit findings  

4.2 Implement Merchant POS Acquiring business

1.3 Combined assurance letter to be signed by all EXCO 
members, confirming that the internal controls within their 
Business Units are sufficient and operating as intended

4.3 Implement ATM digital offering for customers

4.4 ATM and POS uptime

5.1 Develop and grow the lending book

5.2 Total growth in depositor 
balances from prior year

5.3 Number of new accounts opened

5.4 Number of financial literacy events conducted

6.1 Increase Government to Citizen revenue via the 
acquisition of new business - New Contracts

Operational Postbank SOC 
by 01 April 2019

Items still pending 
resolution

Internet and mobile banking 
implemented by Q4, 

FY2019/2020
Solutions not implemented

100% capacitation of 
Executive positions.

Only interim appointments (3) 
were made to fill some of the 

critical Executive vacancies

Cost to income ratio of 60% 40,8%

R599m R555m 

R1006m R756m

50% reduction in repeat findings 
and 100% reduction in meterial 

findings
61% and 58.3%

Roll out 250 POS devices by 
FY2019/2020 POS devices not rolled out

Combined assurance letter 
signed by all Postbank 

EXCO members
Incomplete

Implementation of 350 ATMs 
in FY 2019/2020 ATMs not implemented

98% daily uptime on all NPS 
(ATM and POS) transactions

97,77%

Develop the leading book 
and start lending by Q4 

FY2019/2020 

Lending not yet 
commenced

3% year-on-year growth -0,45%

Open 300,000 new accounts 223,556

Conduct 5 financial 
literacy events

60

Sign 3 Government deals 0

Annual Performance Summary 
ANNUAL PERFORMANCE PLAN (FY2019/20) - SCORECARD SUMMARY

STRATEGIC PRIORITIES

1. CORPORATISE THE BANK AND 
ACQUIRE A BANKING LICENSE

2. GROW REVENUES

3. CAPACITATE THE ORGANISATION TO 
BE EFFICIENT AND COST-EFFECTIVE

4. DIGITALISATION OF THE BANK

5. BECOME A FULL SERVICE RETAIL BANK

6. BE GOVERNMENT’S PREFERRED
PAYMENTS CHANNEL

3

2

2

4

4

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

0

0

1

0

1

0

0%

0%

50%

0%

25%

0%

Not Achieved

Not Achieved

Not Achieved

Achieved

Not Achieved

Not Achieved

Not Achieved

Not Achieved

Not Achieved

Not Achieved

Not Achieved

Not Achieved

Not Achieved

Not Achieved

Achieved

Not Achieved

ANNUAL TARGET
ACTUAL 

PERFORMANCE
TOTAL
 KPIs ACHIEVED % SCORE
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KPI #1.1

TARGET DEVIATION PERFORMANCEACTUAL % ACHIEVED
REASONS FOR DEVIATION AND MITIGATING FACTORS

Operational 
Postbank 
SOC by 01 
April 2019

While all HR administrative activities related to the process of the transfer of 
the Postbank business were addressed and concluded, there are a number of 
accounting related matters or activities pending, due to internal capacity challenges. 
Management will build the requisite capacity to ensure that all pending matters are 
addressed in the next financial year.

Not AchievedItems still 
pending 

resolution

Items still 
pending 

resolution

n/a

PERIOD

2019/20

PERFORMANCE SUMMARY

Postbank Overall Performance Rating (%)

Total KPIs
Achieved
Not Achieved

Achieved

Not Achieved

16
2
14

12,5%
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KPI #1.2

KPI #1.3

TARGET

TARGET

PERIOD

PERIOD

DEVIATION

DEVIATION

PERFORMANCE

PERFORMANCE

ACTUAL

ACTUAL

% ACHIEVED

% ACHIEVED

50% 
reduction 
in repeat 
findings 

and 100% 
reduction 

in material  
findings

Combined 
assurance 

letter 
signed by all 

Postbank 
EXCO 

members

2019/20

2019/20

The deviation on the resolution of the list of material findings stems mainly from the 
capacity challenges experienced. Postbank Management will capacitate the relevant 
areas in order to ensure that sufficient resources are available to address all repeat 
and material audit findings in the new financial year. 

This target was not met as the combined assurance letter was not prepared and signed 
off as planned, due to lack of internal capacity. Postbank aims to build the requisite 
Internal Audit (IA) capacity, in order to ensure that this requirement is addressed going 
forward.

Not Achieved

Not Achieved

61% and 
58,3%

Incomplete

Target to 
reduce material 

findings by 
100% was not 

met

The combined 
assurance 

letter was not 
prepared and 
signed off as 

planned. 

61% and 
58,3%

n/a

REASONS FOR DEVIATION AND MITIGATING FACTORS

REASONS FOR DEVIATION AND MITIGATING FACTORS
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KPI #2.1

KPI #2.2

TARGET R’M

TARGET R’M

PERIOD

PERIOD

DEVIATION

DEVIATION

PERFORMANCE

PERFORMANCE

ACTUAL R’M

ACTUAL R’M

% ACHIEVED

% ACHIEVED
REASONS FOR DEVIATION AND MITIGATING FACTORS

R599

R1006

This target was not met primarily owing to declines in market returns due to a 
downward shift in interest rates, particularly in the first half of the financial year. 
Postbank will review its investment strategy in order to ensure that the bank is able to 
generate enough interest revenue even in the low interest rate environment.

Various internal and external factors impacted the bank’s performance on this metric. 
Postbank will be implementing new products and various alternative digital channels 
that will help drive account usage and transaction linked revenue

Not Achieved

Not Achieved

R555

R756

-R44 m

-R250 m

92.7%

75%

2019/20

2019/20

REASONS FOR DEVIATION AND MITIGATING FACTORS
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KPI #3.1

TARGETPERIOD DEVIATION PERFORMANCEACTUAL % ACHIEVED

100% 
capacitation 
of Executive 

positions.

Various internal and external factors have contributed to the bank not managing to 
permanently capacitate the Executive structure as planned. All recruitment related 
processes including the requisite ‘fit and proper’ assessments will be expedited to 
ensure that the Executive structure is capacitated fully in the next financial year.

Not AchievedOnly interim
appointments
(3) were made

to fill some
of the critical

Executive
vacancies

None of the 
vacancies 

were 
filled with 

permanent 
Executive 
resources
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KPI #3.2

TARGETPERIOD DEVIATION PERFORMANCEACTUAL % ACHIEVED

Cost to 
Income ratio 

of 60%

Postbank managed to achieve this target primarily owing to cost savings.Achieved40,8% 19,2% 40,8%

REASONS FOR DEVIATION AND MITIGATING FACTORS

REASONS FOR DEVIATION AND MITIGATING FACTORS
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KPI #4.1

TARGETPERIOD DEVIATION PERFORMANCEACTUAL % ACHIEVED

Internet
and mobile

banking
solution

implemented
by Q4 FY

2019/2020

This service was not implemented, due to delayed procurement processes, but work 
continues and all related procurement processes will be expedited in order to ensure 
that this service is successfully implemented in the new financial year.

Not AchievedSolutions not 
implemented

Solutions not 
implemented

n/a

n/a
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KPI #4.2

TARGETPERIOD DEVIATION PERFORMANCEACTUAL % ACHIEVED

Roll out 
250 POS 

devices by 
FY2019/2020

This channel was not implemented, due to delayed procurement processes, but work continues 
and all related procurement processes will be expedited in order to ensure that the POS 
channel is successfully implemented in the new financial year.

Not AchievedPOS devices 
not rolled out

POS devices 
not rolled out

2019/20

REASONS FOR DEVIATION AND MITIGATING FACTORS

REASONS FOR DEVIATION AND MITIGATING FACTORS
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KPI #4.3

TARGETPERIOD DEVIATION PERFORMANCEACTUAL % ACHIEVED

Implemen-
tation of 

350 ATMs in 
FY2019/20

This channel was not implemented, due to delayed procurement processes, but work 
continues and all related procurement processes will be expedited in order to ensure 
that the ATM channel is successfully implemented in the new financial year. 

Not AchievedATMs not
implemented

ATMs not 
implemented

n/a2019/20

2019/20

AT
M

 A
N

D
 P

O
S 

U
PT

IM
E

KPI #4.4

TARGETPERIOD DEVIATION PERFORMANCEACTUAL % ACHIEVED

98% daily
uptime on all

NPS (ATM
and POS)

transactions

This target was not met, primarily due to operational challenges, but this will be 
corrected through constant monitoring and maintenance of the social grant payments 
system and through the planned migration of services to a new data center. 

Not Achieved97,77% 97,77%-0,23%

REASONS FOR DEVIATION AND MITIGATING FACTORS

REASONS FOR DEVIATION AND MITIGATING FACTORS
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REASONS FOR DEVIATION AND MITIGATING FACTORS

Develop the 
lending book 

and start 
lending by Q4 
FY2019/2020

Postbank was not able to commence the lending business owing to strategic reasons and 
capacity challenges. Postbank is working on capacitating the Lending function and to put in 
place all the necessary building blocks. 

Not AchievedLending 
not yet 

commenced

Lending not yet 
commenced

n/a2019/20

2019/20

TO
TA

L 
G

RO
W

TH
 IN

 D
EP

O
SI

TO
R 

BA
LA

N
C

ES
 F

RO
M

 P
RI

O
R 

Y
EA

R

KPI #5.2

TARGETPERIOD DEVIATION PERFORMANCEACTUAL % ACHIEVED

3% year-on-
year growth

Postbank achieved a negtive year-on-year growth on deposits (-0,45%), mainly as a 
result of internal factors and the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic. Postbank will be 
implementing various initiatives that will ensure growth in customer accounts and 
deposits, thereby positively impacting growth on this metric. 

Not Achieved-0,45% -0,45%-3,45%

REASONS FOR DEVIATION AND MITIGATING FACTORS
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KPI #5.3

TARGETPERIOD DEVIATION PERFORMANCEACTUAL % ACHIEVED

Open 300,000
new accounts

This target was not met, primarily due to the adverse effects of the Covid-19 
pandemic, as well as other internal issues. Postbank will strengthen its Customer Value 
Proposition through the provision of new and innovative products and services that will 
help boost the acquisition of new and retention of existing customers.

Not Achieved223556 -76444 75%2019/20
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KPI #5.4

TARGETPERIOD DEVIATION PERFORMANCEACTUAL % ACHIEVED

Conduct 5
financial

literacy events

Postbank conducted a total of 60 financial literacy events during the 2019/20 financial 
year. This number was significantly higher than the targeted number of such events - 
hence an overachievement and no deviation.

Achieved60 1200%55

REASONS FOR DEVIATION AND MITIGATING FACTORS

REASONS FOR DEVIATION AND MITIGATING FACTORS



ANNUAL REPORT
2019/20
SOUTH AFRICAN POSTBANK SOC LTD

32
SOUTH AFRICAN POSTBANK SOC LTD | ANNUAL REPORT | 2019/20

IN
C

RE
A

SE
 G

O
V

ER
N

M
EN

T 
TO

 C
IT

IZ
EN

 R
EV

EN
U

E 
V

IA
 T

H
E 

A
C

Q
U

IS
IT

IO
N

 O
F 

N
EW

 
B

U
SI

N
ES

S 
- N

EW
 C

O
N

TR
A

C
TS

KPI #6.1

TARGETPERIOD DEVIATION PERFORMANCEACTUAL % ACHIEVED

Sign 3
Government

deals

No business deals with Government were signed. This was mainly due to the rather 
involved negotiation, bidding and approval processes related to concluding and 
operationalising business agreements. However, as a state-owned entity, Postbank 
continues to engage Government on a number of possible business opportunities.

Not 
Achieved

0 -3 0%2019/20

REASONS FOR DEVIATION AND MITIGATING FACTORS
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PERFORMANCE INFORMATION BY FUNCTION
OPERATIONAL REPORT

The 2019/2020 FY has been fairly successful in 
terms of the performance of Postbank’s operations 
management, despite information technology 
systems constraints that result in the manual 
processing of most of the bank’s back-end functions 
and stretched human resources capacity due to 
vacancies.  

During the period under review operations 
implemented initiatives in line with the strategic 
objectives of growing revenues, partnering 
government in financial services and improving the 
inclusion of the previously unbanked into the financial 
marketplace. Within the context of Government’s 
distress relief measures, Postbank’s Operations had 
commenced engagements with SASSA to try and 
facilitate support towards the Covid19 Social Relief 
of Distress initiatives. 

Postbank continued to process SASSA grants 
payments to 8,16 million monthly social grants 
beneficiaries through the national payment system 
over the reporting period. Operations play an 
important role in the SASSA social grants payments 
collections through the Post Office nationwide 
branch network, including the provision of real time 
24/7 customer call centre services. 

The digitisation project to streamline document 
management and verify customer and employee 
information against the Department of Home Affairs 
is also another important initiative under operation’s 
implementation during the period under review.

Another key initiative during the period under review 
is the automation of the processing of all Electronic 
Funds Transfers (EFT) files to enhance operational 
efficiencies. 

OPERATIONS DIVISION

Growing Revenues

SASSA grants payments 

Key Initiatives
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INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

During the reporting period IT focused on 
building the basic foundation of human capital by 
identifying critical IT skills required to capacitate 
the organisational structure to support the bank in 
attaining the banking licence. All the positions were 
documented and advertised to fill the vacancies 
in the next financial year. In the last quarter of the 
financial year an interim CIO was appointed and 
much needed critical skills on security were filled.

IT Human Resources
Looking into the future, in order for Postbank to be 
enabled to compete in the digital landscape that 
has enveloped the banking industry, Postbank will 
deploy a digital hub that makes it easy to connect 
to the underlying existing systems powered by our 
core banking platform. This will position Postbank 
as the nucleus for a capable state bank, leveraging 
off of Postbank’s deposit-taking capability, providing 
opportunities for DFIs to become part of that 
infrastructure while “white labelling”, where possible. 

Future Postbank IT outlook 
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COMMERCIAL BUSINESS UNIT
The Postbank Commercial Division is made up of five 
distinct departments namely; Savings Transactional 
Products, Lending Products, Channel Management, 
Key Account Management and Bancassurance. 
The success of these five pillars of our division 
is fundamental in ensuring success of the bank. 
Growth in revenue and assets will continue to be a 
cornerstone for Postbank’s strategy.  The business 
objective going forward is to diversify our traditional 
revenue streams in order to minimise the impact of 
financial sustainability risks.  Instead of emulating 
revenue opportunities of the broader banking 
industry, the aim is to position ourselves  as a provider 
of better banking options and niche services to the 
Government and sectors of the economy that are 
still under-served.  

A pipeline of projects has been developed and 
will look at improving our relevance within the 
informal economy.  Seeds for a more compelling 
value proposition are being sown so that the Bank’s 
offerings resonate with existing trends in the 
marketplace.  While the provision of services through 
the SAPO branch infrastructure remains the key 
model, in line with emerging trends, Postbank will 
lower the dependency that it has on the “bricks-
and-mortar” branch channel so that its offering is 
more relevant to customers who continue to adopt 
technology platforms for convenience.

In the coming financial year, the Bank will be investing 
in projects seeking to establish new infrastructure 
such as digital banking platforms. Furthermore, 
there is currently a backlog of banking infrastructure 
for financial inclusion, especially in far reaching 
rural and poor communities in which the bank is 
mandated to operate. As the bank transforms from 
a card issuer to an acquirer of transactions, it will 
become a significant participant in the National 
Payments System (NPS), and this require Postbank 
to be proactive in engaging with all industry partners 
and regulatory bodies in order to participate in new 
payment streams. 

For those customers that prefer transacting using 
the branch channel, Postbank will continue to focus 
on increasing its branding within SAPO branches 
that have a strong banking franchise (i.e. branches 

where banking forms a significant part of the 
volumes of those branches). Because of the large 
capital outlay that is required to deploy a proprietary 
branch network, Postbank will continue to leverage 
off SAPO’s branch infrastructure, but will also 
investigate the possibility of deploying its own 
branches and alternative branch models in selected 
areas in future years, depending on the emerging 
future trends.

The bank has a number of new products and services 
in development which will see it increase share-of-
wallet within its target market.  Refreshing the 
technology platform of the bank will bring new 
benefits that will support the development of many 
value added services and simplifying products and 
enhance offerings.  Through the banking license 
application, Postbank will qualify under the existing 
PFMA framework to broaden its existing average 
within Government as a bank of choice for wholesale 
deposits within national, provincial and local 
government, agencies and state-owned companies.

The Commercial Business Unit (BU) has taken steps 
to invigorate new life into its focus areas.  A number 
of appointments will see the bank attain critical and 
specialised skills required to balance the imperatives 
of operating the existing bank with that of building 
the future bank.  Management within the BU will 
align priorities in order to give effect to Postbank’s 
strategy, with a view of achieving the following 
outcomes: 

• Growth in revenue,
• Growth in customer deposits,
• Growth in number of customers.
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• The Commercial business unit is a critical 
area within Postbank as it is responsible and 
accountable for driving business by increasing 
the customer and deposit bases which are 
essential in the bank’s pursuit for growth, revenue 
generation, financial sustainability, as well as the 
bank’s overall mandate and strategic objectives. 

• The structure of the unit comprise savings 
and transactional products, lending products, 
channels management, as well as key account 
management. 

The unit’s key activities include development, analysis, 
management and marketing of various products 
(including lending), services and channels, as well 
as business development, customer relationship 
management, customer experience and financial 
inclusion and education.

• Building new capabilities in order to bring the 
bank in line with modern banking.

• Short-to-medium term, prioritise the 
establishment of a Digital Banking offering

• Medium-to-long term – Start building a 
bancassurance business model

• Strengthening the current product development 
functions  

• Expand the customer support – Focus on 
major regional growth centres with the bulk of 
government business (e.g. Limpopo, Eastern 
Cape, Mpumalanga, KwaZulu Natal and the 
Central Regions).

Consolidate & penetrate value propositions within 
target markets – government and mass market with 
greater customisation for relevance.

Given its responsibility to drive revue generation 
within Postbank, the Commercial Business unit is also 
integral in managing the bank’s key accounts. This 
forms part of the bank’s broader strategy to increase 
customer and deposit bases which are essential in 
the bank’s pursuit for growth, revenue generation, 
financial sustainability, as well as the bank’s overall 
mandate and strategic objectives. 

During the period under review, a particular focus 
has been placed on group-based accounts as well 
as government business to citizens as key accounts 
attention areas.

During the reporting period, Postbank continues 
to engage with large groups in line with the bank’s 
mandate to embolden Financial Inclusion. The groups 
provide Postbank an opportunity to tailor make 
financial services products that matches the need 
requirements of the members of these groups. 

Function Purpose 

Key Functional Strategies  

Key Accounts Management

Large Group Segments 
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PROJECTS OFFICE
Postbank Project Management Office (PMO) is 
responsible for implementing all projects that are 
aligned to strategy, support innovation, responds 
to regulatory prescripts to mitigate risks and allow 
continuous improvements for the bank.

As Postbank continues to grow, build capacity and 
becomes more relevant, there is a need  to take on 
added initiatives as a response to the corporatization 
drive, market dynamics and ultimately support to 
bottom line for which PMO is central touch point.  
The PMO’s role includes managing and monitoring 
active projects and programmes within the portfolio 
whilst reporting progress on strategic decisions 
about which projects to invest or disinvest in. 

As the implementation arm of the bank, the PMO 
ensures that Postbank governs and executes its 
capital investment projects efficiently, effectively, 
ethically and in an accountable manner achieving its 
strategic and business objectives.

The PMO implements and manage projects using 
project management best practices for the benefit 
of the Postbank in a manner that encourage 
collaboration, standardization and improves overall 
project results across the BU’s in response to the 
approved strategy.

Postbank has adopted PMBok methodology as the 
foundational standard for project, programme and 
portfolio management, furthermore fuses Agile 
principles, depending on the type of projects for quick 
to market deployments of products or systems.

The PMO is comprised of the below functions:
• Portfolio Management 
• Business Analysis
• Projects Execution
• Change Management

Collectively these functions ensure that project 
execution is conjoined and collaborative to ensure 
smooth implementation of the final product.

The function is the funnel that ensure that business 
initiatives are assessed for strategic alignment, 
potential return, funded and taken through 
governance processes for buy-in and approval. The 
portfolio project mix is assessed, prioritize, optimized 
to ensure the bank derives value and ROI verifications 
are conducted periodically post implementation.

The section provides critical advice and guidance to 
business and ensure business ideas/requirements are 
aligned to strategic objectives. BU’s are supported 
by analysing the products, services, processes and 
systems that leads to continuous improvement to 
the business and ensure that they run efficiently and 
effectively. Business case development is focused 
and ensure optimum return for the business.

The section is responsible for the execution of 
projects using project management best practices to 
manage the triple constraints (time, scope & cost), 
implementation follows governance prescripts, 
utilization of standard artefacts, collaboration and 
cooperation with key stakeholders is maintained 
throughout project lifecycle.

• Tracks projects, ensure visibility to principals, 
reflect issues, risks and project financial status.

Portfolio Management

Business Analysis

Projects Execution
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The function ensure that proper change management 
principles are adhered to throughout the project 
lifecycle, ensure that apart from emergency changes 
are planned and are predictable. The operational 
demands are also supported to ensure continuity.

Some historic highlights of the office includes 
reportable during the period under review include:

• SASSA Project – successful implementation of the 
new SASSA System and card under compressed 
timelines.

Change Management 
• Core Bank Security Hardening
• Data Center move to new site
• Cloud based ERP solution
• Regulatory reporting solution Active and future 

initiatives in the office
• Separate financials.
• Improved Financial crime solutions
• Improved Core Banking Solutions
• Improved regulatory and compliance solutions
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PART C: GOVERNANCE

The Postbank is a State Owned Company (SOC) 
and draws its mandate from the South African 
Postbank Limited Amendment Act 44 of 2013, 
which is primarily that of financial inclusion, and in 
particular the provision of accessible and affordable 
financial services, including responsible lending, to the 
unbanked and under-served communities of South 
Africa. Postbank’s mandate of financial inclusion 
requires the provision of the following services 
nationally:

• Growing savings; 
• Create a safe, stable and reliable transacting 

environment;
• Improve financial literacy;
• Provide affordable financial services through 

diverse and accessible channels; and,
• Improving Welfare.

Postbank’s mandate and strategy are aligned with 
the South African National Development Plan (NDP) 
Vision 2030. Postbank is further regulated by the 
Public Finance Management Act No 1 of 1999 (PFMA) 
and operates in terms of the King Code of Governance 
Principles for South Africa (King IV™, 2016). The 
Postbank’s vision is to be the trusted banking partner 
to Government on financial inclusion.

The Parliamentary Portfolio Committee on 
Telecommunications and Postal Services (PPCTS) 
exercises oversight over Postbank through the Executive 
Authority, the Minister of Telecommunications and 
Postal Services. The Board of Directors of Postbank, 
the Accounting Authority of Postbank, is accountable 
to the Minister.

Postbank appears before the Portfolio Committee 
on Telecommunications and Postal services on 
the following matters: (i) quarterly and annual 
performance reporting, (ii) strategic and annual 
performance plans, (iii) financial performance, and 
(iv) social grants payments. In addition, the oversight 
of Postbank may extend to any of the Parliamentary 
portfolio committees that include:

The Minister of Communications and Digital 
Technologies ful¬fils the Public Finance Management 
Act (PFMA) defined role of Executive Authority over 
the Postbank, and is also the sole shareholder on 
behalf of the South African Government over the 
Postbank. The Postbank had numerous interactions 
with the Minister in relation to performance and 
governance matters over the reporting period. The 
Inter-Ministerial Committee (IMC) on Comprehensive 
Social Grants provided strategic leadership and 
oversight over the Postbank’s participation in the 
payment of social grants project.

The Board is the Accounting Authority of Postbank and 
has strategic leadership, as well as proprietorship of 
the Postbank Strategic Plan and Annual Performance 
Plans (APP).

The Board approved the Annual Financial Statements, 
Auditor-General Report as well as the Annual Report 
for Postbank for the 2019/20 financial year.

The Annual General Meeting will be held in May 2021 
where the requisite statutory approvals in terms of 
the Public Finance Management Act and Companies 
Act will be made.

• Standing Committee on Public Accounts (SCOPA);
• Standing Committee on Appropriations (SCOA); 

and
• Select Committee on Public Enterprises and 

Communications.

The Postbank over the reporting period also provided 
replies for Parliamentary questions on varied matters 
through the Ministry.

INTRODUCTION

PORTFOLIO COMMITTEES 

EXECUTIVE AUTHORITY 

THE ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY / 
THE BOARD 
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The Board consists of four (4) non-executive members.

Ms Leonora Noluphumzo Noxaka – Non-Executive 
Board Member (from 19 April 2017 to 30 September 
2020)

Ms Leonora Noluphumzo Noxaka is a CA (SA) and 
an MBA graduate leading a business management 
and advisory services consultancy. She has business 
interests in the textile, property, agriculture and 
hospitality industries

Mr Ashley Cavel Seymour – Non-Executive Board 
Member from 19 April 2017 

Mr Ashley Cavel Seymour is a qualified CA (SA) with 
a number of years’ experience in the financial services 
sector including investment banking, corporate 
finance and private equity, amongst others. He 
developed business acumen with entrepreneurial flair 
and experience at senior management and executive 
level management with recent commercial roles as 
CEO and Executive Director. He also has experience 
as a Non-Executive Director including recent roles as 
Audit Committee and Board Chairperson.

Ms Selebaleng Primose Mothelesi – Non-Executive 
Board Member (from 19 April 2017)

Ms Selebaleng Primrose Mothelesi is consulting in 
accounting and tax related matters. She is a non-
executive director of Adrenna since 2008, chairing the 
audit committee. 

Mr Makondelele Edward Netshivhulana – Non-
Executive Board Member (from 19 April 2017 to 30 
September 2020)

Mr Makondelele Edward Netshivhulana is a business 
turnaround, development and business specialist, with 
expertise in banking, governance and compliance. He 
has worked in banking, consulting and development 
finance institutions for more than 15 years wherein 
he held various managerial and senior roles. His work 

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD 

BOARD MEMBERS

experience includes carrying out special assignment in 
funded projects in the Southern African Development 
Community (SADC) region. Mr Netshivhulana is the 
founding chairman of Paripateo group of companies, 
a mining investment company with local and 
international partners including companies listed in 
reputable stock exchanges.

Mr Darwin Zinzile Nkonki – Non-Executive Board 
Member (from 1 October 2020)

Mr Darwin Zinzile Nkonki has experience in retail 
and commercial banking from 1980 through to 
2011 in various levels, including serving as Executive 
Director and CEO.  From 2009 to 2011 he took a 2 
year contract as a Senior General Manager for Post 
Bank. He held numerous directorships in banking, 
private entities and academia. He holds an MBA in 
Finance (Manchester Business School, UK 1997), FCIS 
(SA) (Fellow Chartered Institute of Secretaries) and 
FIBSA (Fellow Institute of Bankers in SA).

Dr. Adv Leigh Hefer – Non-Executive Board Member

Dr Adv Hefer is an authority on the new Companies 
Act, Protection of Personal Information Act and the 
Consumer Protection Act, Corporate Governance 
Best Practices and Directors’ Duties, including the 
New Companies Act and King IV™ applications.  She 
led the team that developed the OnlineMOI web-
based tool. She is the author of Notes on South 
African Companies Act and Questions & Answers 
for Company Directors and Prescribed Officers, 
Questions & Answers on SA Companies Act, 
Questions & Answers on Business Rescue, Questions 
and Answers on POPI and PAIA, Questions & Answers 
for Auditors & Accountants, Vrae & Antwoorde oor 
die Suid-Afrikaanse Maatskappywet, Questions & 
Answers on Close Corporations (Genesis), and a joint 
co-author of the Corporate Governance Handbook 
(Juta & Co). She holds a B.Sc (Hons.), LL.B., LL.M., 
and a Ph.D
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Mr Gcobani Mancotywa – Non-Executive Board 
Member

Mr Gcobani Mancotywa has extensive executive 
experience in financial services and aviation transport 
industries over a combined period of 23 years as well 
as international experience based in Sydney and Hong 
Kong managing cross border travel business. He has 
been in various executive management roles within 
the banking industry, management consultancy and 
the aviation industry. He holds a Master’s degree 
in Management (Macro Economics) completed 
through the University of the Witwatersrand (Wits), 
a Bachelor of Commerce (B Com) (Economics & 
Commercial Law) completed at the Walter Sisulu 
University (WSU), a Post Graduate Diploma in 
Management completed at the Wits Business School, 
a Certificate in Financial Management completed 
at the University of Johannesburg and is a Certified 
Director (Corporate Governance) of the Institute of 
Directors of Southern Africa (IODSA).

Mr Thabile Wonci – Board Member 

Mr Thabile Wonci has experience in financial 
services and has been responsible for strategy 
development and implementation in the Sub-
Saharan Africa region, across various business lines, 
such as investment banking, corporate finance, cash 
management, debt and equity capital markets as 
well as leveraged finance. Currently, he is CEO of 
Kogae Rainbow Investment Holdings, an investment 
management company with a portfolio of assets 
within manufacturing, financial services, energy and 
business consulting sectors. He is the past Managing 
Director of the Black Management Forum (BMF) 
and also served as a Non-Executive Director of Black 
Management Forum Investments, and Cable Tapes 
Africa (Pty) Ltd. Mr Wonci is an avid writer and has 
published articles in business developments. He holds 
an MBA, PDG (Management), PDG (Management 
Accounting), PDG (Business) and BCom (Acc).

Mr Hannes van der Merwe – Executive Board Member, 
Acting CEO (from 6 August 2019 to 31 March 2021)  

Mr Hannes van der Merwe is an executive with over
30 years corporate business experience. He has 

extensive business, operations, systems, processes, 
savings bank management and project management
knowledge. He has been in service for 44 years and 
spent the past 15 years in executive level roles. Mr van
der Merwe has completed a Postgraduate Diploma in
Management and a Senior Management Programme
with University of Pretoria.

Mr Molatlhegi Kgauwe – Executive Board Member, 
Interim CEO (from 9 April 2021)

Mr Molatlhegi Kgauwe is a Chartered Accountant 
and holds a Diploma in Accounting (CTA equivalent) 
and a B.Com (Financial Accounting), both from the 
University of Cape Town, and he has experience 
serving in managerial as well as senior leadership roles 
with PriceWaterCoopers, Matlosana Municipality, 
South African Health Product Regulatory Authority 
and the Competition Commission of South Africa. He 
also serves as Chief Financial Officer for the State 
Information Technology Agency.

Adv Ditebogo Khumalo - Company Secretary

Adv Ditebogo Khumalo was appointed as the 
Company Secretary with effect from 1 May 2020. She 
was previously the Company Secretary of Sedibeng 
Water and Senior Advisor, Secretariat at Eskom, 
amongst her other roles. Adv Khumalo operated 
in both managerial, executive and specialist roles. 
She has a wide range of experiences which includes 
the administration of deceased estates, trusts, 
companies in liquidation and insolvent estates. Her 
experience also includes dealing with legal matters, 
risk management, compliance and governance. 
She holds the following qualifications: Executive 
Development Programme, Master’s Degree in 
Business Management, Postgraduate Diploma 
Compliance Management, BA Honours Information 
Science, Diploma in Insolvency Law & Practice, LLB 
and B Proc. 
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Attendance of Postbank Board and Committee Meetings

Board 
Members Risk & 

Capital 
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Committees

Audit 
Committee Remuneration 

Committee
Board Directors 

Affairs

Social &
 Ethics 

Committee
Human 

Resources & 
Transformation 

Committee

Information 
Technology 

Steering 
Committee

1 April 2019 – 31 March 2020

Number of 
scheduled 
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Ms LN Noxaka
Chairperson
Non-Executive 
Director

Appointed: 1 
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Mr AC 
Seymour
Non-Executive 
Director

Appointed: 1 
April 2017

Ms SP 
Mothelesi
Non-Executive 
Director
Appointed: 1 
April 2017

Mr ME 
Netshivhulana
Non-Executive 
Director
Appointed: 1 
April 2017
 Netshivhulana
Non-Executive 
Director

Appointed: 1 
April 2017

* Chairperson
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The statutory committees of the Board are: 
Audit Committee, Social and Ethics Committee 
(SEC), Risk & Capital Management Committee 
(RCMC), Directors Affairs Committee (DAC) and 
Remuneration Committee (RemCo). The Board may 
establish committees to assist with its work and the 
following Committees have been established: Human 
Resources & Transformation Committee (HRTC) and 
Information Technology Steering Committee (ITSC).

Risk management is fundamental to Postbank’s 
strategy and the business of banking. The 
pervasiveness of risk in financial services means that 
the board considers risk management as an integral 
part of our strategy. The Board has delegated the 
accountability for the setting of the risk appetite and 
the management of the risks and compliance to the 
Risk and Capital Management Committee (section 
64 of the Banks Act). 

The Board, through the Risk and Capital Management 
Committee, governs risks across the bank’s 
Enterprise Risk Management Framework (ERMF), 
which includes the risk appetite, policies, procedures, 
limits and exposures, among others. This committee 
reviews the Postbank risk appetite and monitors, 
evaluates and advises the Board on the adequacy 
of risk management processes and strategies within 
the Postbank, and then make recommendations to 
the Board, including the approval of policies. The Risk 
and Capital Management Committee reviews and 
assesses significant risks facing the bank. The risk 
universe that the Postbank shall be exposed to include 
all the risks as defined by the Banks Act, Financial 
Sector Regulations Act and other related prescripts. 
The Postbank’s Capital Adequacy and Liquidity 
metrics are also evaluated by this committee.

In terms of Section 64B of the Banks Act, as well as 
Article 5.9.8.5 of the Memorandum of Incorporation 
(MOI), the Postbank Board established the Directors 
Affairs Committee in order to assist the Board 
of Directors in discharging its duty to ensure that 
an adequate and effective process of corporate 
governance, which is consistent with the nature, 
complexity and risk inherent to Postbank is established 
and maintained. Consistent with the role of the 
other Board sub-committees, the Directors Affairs 
Committee has no power to make decisions, unless 
specifically delegated by the Board, and only makes 
recommendations for approval to the Board. 

As a public company in terms of Schedule 2 of the Public 
Finance Management Act (PFMA), together with the 
Companies Act and Banks Act, Postbank is required 
to establish an Audit Committee. The Postbank Audit 
Committee was established in terms of section 51(1) 
(a)(ii) of the Public Finance Management Act No 1 of 
1999 (PFMA), section 64 of the Banks Act, section 94 
of the Companies Act, Treasury Regulations as well as 
the Postbank Memorandum of Incorporation (MOI). 
The Audit Committee is responsible for evaluating 
and advising on a number of elements including 
Postbank’s financial statements which will be provided 
to Parliament and other stakeholders, the systems of 
internal control which management has established 
and approved by the Board, the audit processes, the 
risk management framework, as well as assessing the 
Bank’s  performance against its Corporate Plan. 

The Postbank Social and Ethics Committee was 
established in terms of section 72 of the Companies 
Act to assume an advisory function to address all 
governance matters. The Social and Ethics Committee 
is meant to assist the Board to ensure that Postbank 
is, and is seen to be, a responsible corporate citizen. 
The role of the Social and Ethics Committee is to 
support the Board in governing the ethics of Postbank 
to establish an ethical culture.  

COMMITTEES RISK AND CAPITAL 
MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
(RCMC) 

DIRECTORS AFFAIRS 
COMMITTEE (DAC)

AUDIT COMMITTEE  

SOCIAL AND ETHICS 
COMMITTEE (SEC)
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The Remuneration Committee that is set up in terms of 
section 64C of the Banks Act has been delegated with 
the accountability for the setting of the remuneration 
and performance of staff. This committee reviews all 
aspects relating to remuneration and performance 
within the Postbank. 

The Board delegated the accountability for compliance 
with relevant labour and employment legislative 
matters to the Human Resources and Transformation 
Committee. The Committee recommends to the 
Board the approval of human resources related 
policies. This committee’s primary mandate is to drive 
transformation within the Bank. 

The Board has delegated the accountability for 
overseeing the execution of all IT related decisions 
within Postbank to the ITSC. The responsibilities of 
the committee would include IT governance, which 
includes the monitoring and reviewing of IT policies 
and practices to ensure that the required IT support 
is provided, and that IT is positioned as a key enabler 
for the business. 

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE 
(REMCO) 

HUMAN RESOURCES 
& TRANSFORMATION 
COMMITTEE (HRTC)  

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 
STEERING COMMITTEE (ITSC)
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PART D: HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT

Postbank’s Human Resources division was constituted 
as separate business unit outside of SAPO on 1 April 
2019, and this part of the Annual Report presents the 
division’s activities during the financial year period 
under review.

In the 2019/2020 period under review, the Human 
Resources division played an instrumental role in the 
development of the Postbank’s human capacity as well 
as addressing all human resources’ matters relating to 
building a capable organisation. The division was the 
primary facilitator of a swift transition of the people 
component of Postbank’s transfer from its erstwhile 
existence as a division within the SAPO group into the 
Postbank SOC limited.
 
The following initiatives were implemented during 
the period under review in line with the key strategic 
thrust of establishing and capacitating a capable 
organisation:

As part of the workforce transition, Postbank  
obtained approval to continue with participation in 
the Insured Benefits under SAPO’s policy.  
 

During the period under review, as part of the 
strategic intent to capacitate a capable organisation, 
Postbank’s Human Resources division successfully 
transferred all its employees from the former 
Postbank Division of the South African Post Office to 
the South African Postbank Company SOC Limited 
on the 1st April 2019 after consultations with both 
employees and organised labour.  

The DCDT Minister determined the date of transfer 
to be 1st April 2019, which was gazetted on the 22nd 
March 2019.  The transfer was concluded in line with 
Section 197 of the Labour Relational Act. 

Furthermore, Postbank received approval from the 
Trustees of the Post Office Retirement Fund for 
Postbank to become a participating employer of 
the Fund for as long there is an association between 
Postbank and SAPO with effect from 1 April 2019.  
Postbank employee’s therefore retained their 
membership to the SAPO Retirement Fund without 
any modification of benefits.  

In line with the framework for establishing a separate 
entity following the separation from SAPO during the 
period under review, and forming part of the assets 
and liability transfer process from SAPO, Postbank 
registered Public Officers with legislative bodies.  In 
this regard, Postbank SOC Limited has registered 
separately with the South African Revenue Services 
(SARS) for Pay As You Earn (PAYE), Skills Development 
Levy (SDL) and Unemployment Insurance Fund (UIF).  

The registration process with the department of 
Labour in terms of Employment Equity (EE) has 
also been finalised, together with the registration 
for compensation in case of injuries at work (COID).  
To build a skilled workforce, Postbank has also 
registered with BankSeta to allow for access to skills 
development programmes in line with the standing 
practice across the banking industry.

Human Resources played an instrumental role in 
the development of the Postbank SOC Limited 
organisational structure which ensured alignment 
with the business strategy, banking regulations and 
legislative requirements.

The drive to capacitate Postbank and build a separate
brand entity that is distinct, and independent from 
SAPO’s brand, was also part of the considerations 
in the creation of the Postbank business operations 
structure. However, where necessary, in order to ensure 
not to over-capacitate the newly established entity 
with human capital, some functions were still drawn 
from SAPO from a shared services arrangement 
accompanying the decoupling of the bank in order to
derive mutual efficiencies and save on costs.

INTRODUCTION

Workforce Transfer to Postbank 
SOC Limited, additional Transition 
Issues

Registration with Legislative 
bodies

Postbank Organisational 
Structure
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During the period under review, a skills and 
qualification audit for all employees within Postbank 
was conducted.  The outcomes of the audit forms the 
basis of learning and development initiatives based 
on skills gaps identified.

Performance management contracting for managers 
were concluded for the Financial Year 2019/20.  
Unfortunately the unanticipated interruptions of 
normal business operations due to the Covid-19 
pandemic affected the year-end assessments 
schedule, pushing it out into the first quarter of the 
2020/21 financial year period. 

To ensure that Postbank remains competitive in 
attracting and retaining necessary banking talent 
to meet its mandate, in particular in terms of its 
remuneration strategy, a salary benchmark process 
was initiated during the period under review. This 
process is earmarked to be concluded in the 2020/2021 
financial year.  Annual salary increases of 6% across 
the board for all employees were implemented.

Postbank’s employees have formed part of the 
beneficiaries of the SAPO in-house medical scheme 
(Medipos medical aid scheme) while Postbank 
was a division of the SAPO group. As part of the 
transitional arrangements over the reporting period, 
the participation in the SAPO in-house Medipos 
medical aid scheme has been retained for interested 
employees, and this is treated as part of the shared 
services arrangement between the two entities. 

Employee Skills and 
Qualifications Audit 

Performance Contracting

Salary Benchmark

Medical Aid Benefits

During the reporting period Postbank experienced 
a staff attrition rate of 7.7%. However, it is worth 
noting that this attrition levels are significantly lower 
than the previous two years figures of 13% per annum, 
signalling a possible positive trend that current 
employees’ attitude towards the entity’s Employee 
Value Proposition (EVP) prospects has improved and 
the decoupling from SAPO is possible amongst the 
primary drivers.  

Postbank’s Human Resources has identified the 
opportunity to build onto this trend and processes 
have been put in place during the reporting period to 
enhance the entity’s EVP to attain talent attraction 
and retention, especially for employees possessing 
scarce and critical skills.

EMPLOYEE VALUE PROPOSITION 
DEVELOPMENT

In addition, Postbank employees have the option to 
elect their own medical aid scheme or participate 
in the medical scheme options from the panel of 
medical aid providers agreed to between SAPO and 
the unions.   



ANNUAL REPORT
2019/20
SOUTH AFRICAN POSTBANK SOC LTD

49
SOUTH AFRICAN POSTBANK SOC LTD | ANNUAL REPORT | 2019/20

HUMAN RESOURCES 
OVERVIEW
Personnel Cost

Staff Establishment

Attrition rate

Total Operating 
Expenditure for the 

entity (R’000)

Salary Band

Top Management

Senior Management

Management/
Specialist

Skilled

Semi-Skilled

Elementary

Total

R 1 521 580

Personnel 
Expenditure 

(R’000)

Employment at 
the beginning of 

the period

4

16

24

136

44

1

225

R 98 756

% of Personnel 
expenditure 
to total cost

Appointments

3

1

8

20

2

0

34

6,5%

No. of employees

Terminations

1

2

1

11

3

0

18

241

Average 
personnel cost per 
employee (R’000)

Employment at 
the end of the period

6

15

31

145

43

1

241

R 410

Staff expenses contribute to 6,5% of total cost.

The staff establishment of the South African Postbank SOC Ltd was 225 on 1st April 2019, and 241 as at 
31 March 2020.  The 7.1% increase in staff during this period was due to the organisation’s capacitation 
programme.

Postbank’s attrition rate percentage during the 2019/2020 financial year period was 7.7%. This figure is 
lower than the attrition rate average of 13% experienced in the previous two financial years.  
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The capacitation of the bank with human resources 
continued during the period under review after the 
moratorium issued by the DCDT prohibiting the filling 
of certain categories of positions was lifted was lifted 
in July 2019. A total of 36 critical appointments were 
made following the lifting of the moratorium.

The timeous filling of the executive structure poses a 
risk to the organisation.  Identified vacancies on these 
levels have not been filled due to various challenges 
and difficulties experienced, of which most were 
outside the control of Postbank.

To capacitate the newly formed Postbank SOC Limited 
it is of importance in ensuring that the strategic 
objectives and set targets in the Annual Performance 
Plan are achieved.  The aim is to capacitate the 
organisation with skills and knowledge relevant to 
what is required within a banking environment.  

Postbank directed its recruitment drive towards 
the filling of executive and other critical positions. 
Positions within the IT, Finance, Risk Management 
and the Commercial environments were targeted.

At the end of the period under review, executive  
positions have not been filled mainly due to one, or 
a combination of the following factors; candidates’ 
fit-failure to the positions, the unaffordability of the 
candidate’s salary demands and, importantly, the 
cumbersome fit and proper processes. 

The bank is obliged to ensure that all executives 
undergo a fit and proper process as required by the 
Banks Act. 

This process is cumbersome by its design and usually 
takes long to conclude. In many cases, by the time 
the fit and proper process is concluded most of the 
identified candidates have lost interest in the role 
or they have become unavailable in the job hunting 
market.

The bulk of the positions filled during 2019/20 were in 
the IT, Finance, Compliance and Commercial divisions 
to assist the organisation in ensuring effective banking 
systems, meeting banking regulatory and compliance 
requirements, development of own finance capability 
and development of current and new revenue streams.

Postbank embarked in a process of collating the skills 
and qualifications profile of its management and non-
managerial employees during the period under review 
in order to identify the current skills available within 
the entity, and the need for further development and 
types of training required to support the business’ 
strategic direction.   

The ultimate intention is to establish a learning 
culture that will enable organisational performance, 
as well as implement development programmes and 
strategies in line with the organisation’s Corporate 
Plan to grow a capable workforce that will lead the 
bank’s competitiveness as it evolves into a retail bank. 
Postbank will utilized the information in preparation 
for its first workforce skills plan that was submitted 
to the BankSeta in April 2020.

CAPACITATING 
POSTBANK WITH HUMAN 
RESOURCES

SKILLS AND 
QUALIFICATIONS AUDIT

Recruitment and Appointments
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The management group is largely made up of 
Generation X and Y employees (30 – 53).  Males are 
prenominal within the age categories of 38 to 49, and 
54 to 65.  Although there is a more representation 
of females in the younger age categories, future 
appointments will be focused on females to sustain 
the movement of females on all management levels 
over the next years.  

Unfortunately a high attrition rate over the last 
two years contributed to the current gender profile 
of Postbank. The analysis further revealed that ten 
employees are already within early retirement age.  
Although technology has been with us for some time, 
a considerate effort will have to be made in terms of 
development of employees taking into consideration 
the demands and opportunities of the Fourth 
Industrial Revolution (4IR).

The findings of the survey conducted as part of 
the skills audit demonstrated that Postbank has a 
generally experienced workforce. The majority of the 
respondents (73%) indicated that they have between 
0-9 years relevant work experience, followed by 27% 
of participants indicating they have more than 10 
years’ experience.

The highest attrition rate however lies amongst those 
with less than 9 years of service.  This could have a 
serious impact on building institutional knowledge as 
aging participants with many years of service will be 
retiring within the next 10 - 15 years. 

As part of the broader strategy to capacitate the 
organisation, Postbank is putting plans in place to 
ensure that critical development gaps are addressed. 
These include, but are not limited to, the following:-

Summary Findings of 
the Workforce Skills and 
Qualifications Audit

Talent management is a significant component of 
building sustainability in the skills make up of growing 
organisations. In this area, a talent management 
framework has been approved for Postbank. Talent 
Forums will be established to ensure operational 
continuity and sustainability by providing an 
integrated process of identifying, selecting, developing 
and retaining top talent within the organisation 
that is required for long term planning.  The talent 
management process will address the development 
needs/ gaps identified and employees will be engaged 
in different accelerated development initiatives to 
prepare them for the future bank.

During the period under review, Postbank has been 
utilising SAPO’s Learning and Development unit’s 
services as part of a shared services model between 
the two entities during the transition, and our 
development needs have been integrated into the 
SAPO’s Workforce Skills Plan (WSP) for 2019/20.  
The immediate term plan is that as of the 2020/21 
financial year Postbank will submit its own WSP to 
BankSeta, utilising the skills and qualification audit 
results.

Postbank  employees  received training and 
development in the areas of management 
development, mentoring and coaching, regulatory and 
compliance as well as IT and project management.

TALENT MANAGEMENT

LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT

• Implementation  of Talent Management
• Skills Development Programmes: 
1. Management and Leadership Programmes.
2. Programs to address key skills required in terms 

of technology, digitalisation and analytics; risk 
management and compliance; core banking 
products and services, and customer relationship 
management.

• Bursaries for critical positions and scare skills. 
• Learnerships, internships and graduate 

programmes for new entrants.
• Mentoring and coaching programmes.
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During the reporting period, SAPO provided customer 
services and product knowledge training to Post 
Office front line staff (Tellers and Branch Managers) 
which supports Postbank in servicing our customers.

The emerging trends in the global banking environment 
has revealed that Postbank‘s current skills and 
competencies need to be restructured to meet the 
new and developing opportunities, such as those 
related to the 4IR. To be competitive in the market, 
the bank will focus on digitisation as an enabler in 
servicing its customers.

During the reporting period, an employee bursary 
framework has been approved and its full 
implementation is earmarked to commence in the 
2020/2021 financial year.  The aim of this programme 
will be to provide internal employees with an 
opportunity to enhance their career, knowledge and 
skills through part-time studies and it is expected 
that the employees’ new knowledge areas will be 
beneficial to Postbank.  Furthermore, the bursary 
programme will be integrated into the organisation’s 
talent and succession planning processes.

Bursary Programme 
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As part of youth development, Postbank implemented 
an Information Technology Graduate programme and 
10 IT graduates were appointed during the period 
under review.  These Youth Development Programme 
candidates have successfully been integrated into 
the business.  Regular meetings with mentors and 
graduates are taking place, and graduates are on a 
rotation roster within the various IT section to ensure 
that they are exposed to all areas of Postbank’s IT.  
This programme is envisaged to be extended to other 
parts of the business in the 2020/2021 financial year 
because we are optimistic that it will become amongst 
the catalysts of youth unemployment in our country.

Top Management

Senior Management

Professionally qualified, mid 
management and specialists

Skilled Technical and Academically 
Qualified workers; Junior management, 
Supervisors

Semi-Skilled and discretionary decision 
making

Elementary & defined decision making

Total Permanent

Non-Perm Total

Grand TOTAL Perm and Non-Perm

White and Indian males are over represented.  
Opportunities exist for the appointment of African 
and Coloured males and females and Indian 
Females

There are opportunities to appoint/ develop 
African, Coloured and Indian  females

African males and females and White males and 
females are over represented.  Opportunities 
should be used to appoint/ develop coloured and 
Indian females

In this category White males and females as 
well as African Females are over represented.  
Opportunities are available for African, Coloured 
and Indian males

Opportunities exist for the appointment of African 
males, Coloured males and while males.

Appointment opportunities exist for all groups 
except for African Males.

3

14

28

128

41

1

215

26

241

1

4

5

34

8

0

52

2

54

1

10

23

89

29

1

153

23

176

0

0

0

4

4

0

8

1

9

1

0

0

1

0

0

2

0

2

3

10

15

41

12

1

82

9

91

0

4

13

87

29

0

133

17

150

Youth Development Programme
Employment equity targets are based on the 
economical active population as set out by Statistics 
SA.  Postbank’s recruitment initiatives are geared 
towards achieving the set standards.  There are 
however challenges in attracting candidates with 
sought after skills from the banking/financial 
services industry, because being an SOE Postbank is 
often constrained by the affordability of the salary 
requirements of these candidate as they are able to 
bargain on the market demand for their skills.  The 
bank has since engaged in initiatives to develop an 
attractive employee value proposition as means to 
compete for these skills since it cannot necessarily 
compete on price. 

EMPLOYMENT EQUITY
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During the reporting period, Postbank has been 
relying on SAPO for employee wellness services.  
The employee health and wellness programmes are 
focusing on the employee assistance programme 
(EAP), disability management and the promotion 
of occupational health.  The EAP Practitioners are 
well equipped to provide professional assistance 
to employees on a wide range of both personal and 
interpersonal work related concerns and challenges 
as well as trauma counselling.

A number of health promotion activities were 
done quarterly based on common health problems 
identified through medical surveillance assessments.  

For the period under review, Postbank utilised the 
service of employee relations of SAPO through a 
shared service model.  Since the formation of the 
organisation as a legal entity effectively 1st April 2019, 
Postbank is bounded by the recognition agreement 
between the Post Office and Organised Labour as 
per the conditions as stipulated under Section 197 of 
the Labour Relations Act for the first 12 months after 
separation. 

Postbank will therefore only after a period of one year 
enter into a new recognition agreement between 
the organisation and organised labour, and this is 
earmarked to be concluded in the first quarter of the 
2020/2021 financial year.

Management of labour related cases has been 
relatively stable and was consistently applied. During 
the period under review, three executives were pre-
cautionary suspended. These cases were closed after 
the dismissal of two of these employees, and the 
resignation of one.

In 2019, the stakeholders signed a two-year wage 
agreement for 2019/20 and 2020/2021. It is envisaged 
that Postbank will negotiate on their own behalf after 
signing a recognition agreement in 2020/21 to enable 
the implementation of salary increases for 2021/22.   
This agreement will furthermore guide future 
engagements in terms of bargaining and consultation 
matters. 

The Human Resources Department has embarked 
on a process to become more self-sufficient over 
the reporting period and therefore envisages less 
dependency on SAPO for the remainder of the Human 
Resources services it receives, such as Employee 
Wellness.  In this regard, a Postbank Human Resources 
structure  and strategy has been approved and the 
structure is progressively being filled with human 
capital. 

Going forward, as part of its strategy, the Human 
Resources division plans to become a dedicated 
business partner to the organisation by ensuring that 
Postbank is capacitated to deliver on its strategic 
initiatives and priorities, develop programmes to 
enhance leadership and management skills as well as 
the up-skilling of employees. 

In addition, the Human Resources division plans to 
develop and implement an EVP which will incorporate 
a reward and recognition system, performance 
management, talent management and further 
support the organisation in its journey towards culture 
transformation in becoming a high performance 
organisation and a profitable and attractive banking 
institution.

Simultaneously, a process will be embarked upon 
to determine the union’s rights in terms of their 
representation.  The establishment of a Bargaining 
and Consultative forums will enable Postbank going 
forward to negotiate on matters pertaining to 
substantive matters and consult on changes within 
the organisation.

EMPLOYEE WELLNESS

EMPLOYEE RELATIONS

CONCLUSION
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1. I conducted my audit in accordance with the 
International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). My 
responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the auditor-general’s responsibilities 
for the audit of the financial statements section 
of this auditor’s report. 

any adjustment was necessary to Other deposits 
(grants) included in Transferred assets and 
liabilities, in the Related parties as transferred 
in from 2019, stated at R579 518 000 in note 28 
to the annual financial statements, as it was 
impracticable to do so.

REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO PARLIAMENT 
ON THE SOUTH AFRICAN POSTBANK (SOC) LTD

Report on the audit of the 
financial statements

Qualified Opinion

Basis for Qualified Opinion
Context for the opinionOther reserves

Other deposits (grants)

1. I have audited the financial statements of the 
South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd (Postbank) 
set out on pages 74 to 131, which comprise the 
statement of financial position as at 31 March 
2020, statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in 
equity and statement of cash flows for the year 
then ended, as well as the notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies. 

2. In my opinion, except for the effects of the matters 
described in the basis for qualified opinion section 
of this auditor’s report, the financial statements 
present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Postbank as at 31 March 
2020, and its financial performance and cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
the International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS), the requirements of the Public Finance 
Management Act 1 of 1999 (PFMA) and the 
Companies Act 71 of 2008 (Companies Act).

1. I was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate 
audit evidence that Other reserves of R3 474 899 
000 in note 13, had been properly transferred 
and accounted for on 1 April 2019, due to the 
poor status of the accounting records. The Other 
reserves were determined after deducting the 
liability of the Other deposits (grants) liability 
transferred to the public entity. I was unable to 
confirm the Other reserves by alternative means. 
Consequently, I was unable to determine whether 
any adjustment was necessary to the Other 
reserves amount of R3 474 899 000, as disclosed 
in note 13 to the annual financial statements. In 
addition, I was also unable to determine whether 

1. I was unable to obtain sufficient and appropriate 
audit evidence that Other deposits (grants) were 
properly accounted for, due to the limitations 
imposed by the information system used by the 
entity to manage the related transactions. I was 
unable to confirm the Other deposits (grants) 
by alternative means. In addition, the Financial 
instrument and risk management disclosure 
also included this amount. Consequently, I was 
unable to determine whether any adjustment was 
necessary to the Other deposits (grants), stated 
at R5 131 068 000 in note 16 and the quantitative 
analysis of market risk and liquidity risk, included 
under Financial instruments and risk management 
in note 32, as it was impracticable to do so.

3.

4.

5.
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Emphasis of Matters 

Impairments – financial assets

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Material losses 

1. I draw attention to the matters below. My opinion 
is not modified in respect of these matters.

1. As disclosed in note 26 to the financial statements, 
material losses of R485 965 000 were recognised 
as a result of a loss allowance for expected credit 
losses. 

1. As disclosed in note 30 to the financial statements, 
the public entity incurred fruitless and wasteful 
expenditure of R123 612 000, due to payments 
made for unused software incurred in prior years.

1. As disclosed in note 34 to the financial statements, 
material losses of R49 439 000 were incurred 
because of fraudulent transactions relating to 
banking and social grant distributions-related 
transactions. 

1. The board of directors, which constitutes the 
accounting authority, is responsible for the 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with the IFRS and the 
requirements of the PFMA and the Companies 
Act, and for such internal control as the accounting 
authority determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

1. In preparing the financial statements, the 
accounting authority is responsible for assessing 
the public entity’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating 
to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless the appropriate governance 
structure either intends to liquidate the public 
entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

1. I am independent of the public entity in 
accordance with sections 290 and 291 of the Code 
of ethics for professional accountants and parts 
1 and 3 of the International Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (including International 
Independence Standards) of the International 
Ethics Standard Board for Accountants (IESBA 
codes), as well as the other ethical requirements 
that are relevant to my audit in South Africa. 
I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with these requirements and the 
IESBA code.

1. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
my qualified opinion.

1. My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is 
a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with the 
ISAs will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements. 

1. A further description of my responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements is included in the 
annexure to this auditor’s report.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE 
ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY FOR 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Auditor-general’s responsibilities 
for the audit of the financial 
statements

Context for the opinion
(Continued)
6.

7.

8.

9.

10.

12.

13.

14.

15.

11.
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1. I evaluated the usefulness and reliability of the 
reported performance information in accordance 
with the criteria developed from the performance 
management and reporting framework, as 
defined in the general notice, for the following 
selected objective presented in the annual 
performance report of the public entity for the 
year ended 31 March 2020:

Priority 1 – corporatise the bank 
and acquire a banking licence

20

Objective
Pages in the annual 
performance report

1. I performed procedures to determine whether 
the reported performance information was 
consistent with the approved performance 
planning documents. I performed further 
procedures to determine whether the indicators 
and related targets were measurable and 
relevant, and assessed the reliability of the 
reported performance information to determine 
whether it was valid, accurate and complete.

1. I did not identify any material findings on 
the usefulness and reliability of the reported 
performance information for this objective: 
Priority 1 – corporatise the bank and acquire a 
banking licence

1. Refer to the annual performance report on pages  
23 to 32  for information on the achievement of 
planned targets for the year.

1. I identified material misstatements in the annual 
performance report submitted for auditing. 
These material misstatements were in the 
reported performance information of priority 
1: corporatise the bank and acquire a banking 
licence. As management subsequently corrected 
the misstatements, I did not raise any material 
findings on the usefulness and reliability of the 
reported performance information.

1. I draw attention to the matters below. 

Other matters

Achievement of planned targets

Adjustment of material misstatements

Introduction and scope

1. In accordance with the Public Audit Act of 
South Africa 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA) 
and the general notice issued in terms thereof, I 
have a responsibility to report on the usefulness 
and reliability of the reported performance 
information against predetermined objectives 
for selected objectives presented in the annual 
performance report. I performed procedures 
to identify material findings but not to gather 
evidence to express assurance.

1. My  procedures  address the usefulness  and 
reliability of the reported performance 
information, which must be based on the approved 
performance planning documents of the public 
entity. I have not evaluated the completeness and 
appropriateness of the performance indicators 
included in the planning documents. My procedures 
do not examine whether the actions taken by 
the public entity enabled service delivery. My 
procedures also do not extend to any disclosures 

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF 
THE ANNUAL PERFORMANCE 
REPORT

16.

17.

20.

21.

22.

23.

19.

18.

or assertions relating to planned performance 
strategies and information in respect of future 
periods that may be included as part of the 
reported performance information. Accordingly, 
my findings do not extend to these matters.
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1. The accounting authority is responsible for 
the other information. The other information 
comprises the information included in the 
annual report, which includes the directors’ 
report, the audit committee’s report and the 
company secretary’s certificate, as required by 
the Companies Act. The other information does 
not include the financial statements, the auditor’s 
report and the selected objective presented in 
the annual performance report that have been 
specifically reported in this auditor’s report. 

1. My opinion on the financial statements and 
findings on the reported performance information 
and compliance with legislation do not cover the 
other information and I do not express an audit 
opinion or any form of assurance conclusion on it.

1. In connection with my audit, my responsibility 
is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information 
is materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements and the selected objectives presented 
in the annual performance report, or my knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated.

1. I have nothing to report in this regard.

1. Approved audited financial statements were not 
filed with the annual return, as required by section 
33(1)(a) of the Companies Act and Companies’ 
Regulation 30(2). 

1. Some of the bid documentation for procurement 
of commodities designated for local content 
and production, did not stipulate the minimum 
threshold for local production and content as 
required by the 2017 preferential procurement 
regulation 8(2).

OTHER INFORMATION

1. In accordance with the PAA and the general notice 
issued in terms thereof, I have a responsibility to 
report material findings on the public entity’s 
compliance with specific matters in key legislation. 
I performed procedures to identify findings but 
not to gather evidence to express assurance. 

1. The material findings on compliance with specific 
matters in key legislation are as follows:

1. An annual shareholder’s compact was not 
concluded in consultation with the executive 
authority as required by treasury regulation 29.2.1. 
This was mainly due to non-adherence of the 
submission requirements.

1. The financial statements submitted for auditing 
were not prepared in accordance with the 
prescribed financial reporting framework and 
supported by full and proper records, as required 
by section 55(1) (a) and (b) of the PFMA

1. Material misstatements of non-current assets, 
current assets, liabilities, revenue, and disclosure 
items identified by the auditors in the submitted 
financial statements were corrected and the 
supporting records were provided subsequently, 
but the supporting records that could not be 
provided resulted in the financial statements 
receiving a qualified opinion.

1. Goods, works or service were not procured through 
a procurement process that is fair, equitable, 
transparent and competitive, as required by 
section 51(1)(a)(iii) of the PFMA. This was mainly 
due the entity engaging in improper deviations.

1. Tenders that achieved the minimum qualifying 
score for functionality criteria were not evaluated 
further as required by the 2017 preferential 
procurement regulation 5(7).

Introduction and scope

Strategic planning and performance 
management

Annual financial statements, performance 
and annual report

SOEs oversight and governance

Procurement and contract management

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF COMPLIANCE WITH LEGISLATION

24. 31.

32.

33.

34.

35.

36.

25.

26.

27.

29.

28.

30.
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1. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of 
the financial statements, reported performance 
information and compliance with applicable 
legislation; however, my objective was not to 
express any form of assurance on it. The matters 
reported below are limited to the significant 
internal control deficiencies that resulted in the 
basis for the qualified opinion, the findings on the 
annual performance report and the findings on 
compliance with legislation included in this report.

2. The public entity’s leadership did not ensure that 
effective processes and internal controls were 
in place to manage the contract of the service 
provider responsible for the information system 
used for social grant distributions. Leadership 
was unable to resolve contract disputes promptly. 
Further to that, the institution’s systems were 
inadequate and incapable to extract the complete 
information required. This resulted in non-
submission of significant supporting information, 
which resulted in material limitations on the 
Integrated Grant Payments System (IGPS) data.

3. The public entity’s leadership did not adequately 
plan for the transfer of business from the 
division of its shareholding company to the entity 
itself, so as, to effectively enable and support 
understanding and the execution of internal control 
objectives, processes and responsibilities. This 
therefore resulted in management not ensuring 
that effective processes and internal controls 
were implemented to ensure that all assets and 
liabilities affected by the corporatisation of the 
public entity were effectively transferred. This 
resulted in significant differences in the financial 
information disclosed in the financial statements 
as well as delays in submitting related supporting 
information.

4. The public entity’s leadership did not ensure 
effective monitoring of services provided by a 
related party (shareholding entity) on its behalf 
and was over reliant on management of processes 
and controls of the related party, which were 
deficient, for significant components of financial 
information and compliance requirements such 
as supply chain management. This resulted in 
significant limitations and delays in the submission 

INTERNAL CONTROL 
DEFICIENCIES
37.

38.

39.

of information, material errors and material 
non-compliance, which resulted in irregular 
expenditure and unfavourable audit outcomes.

5. Management did not implement proper record 
keeping in a timely manner over information it 
was responsible for to ensure that complete, 
relevant and accurate information was 
accessible and available to support credible 
financial and performance reporting. This also 
resulted in significant delays in the submission 
of information.

6. Management made significant use of suspense 
accounts, however these were not regularly 
reviewed and reconciled. Where supporting 
listings and schedules were submitted, 
management had not always acted to ensure 
that long-outstanding items were reconciled 
and cleared.

40.

41.

42.

1. The overreliance on the related party also 
resulted in the entity not adequately designing 
and implementing formal controls over 
information technology systems to ensure the 
reliability of the systems in terms of availability, 
accuracy and protection of information. Some 
of the infrastructure utilised was also outdated.

43.
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1. I draw attention to the following engagement conducted by other organ of state which had, or could have, 
an impact on the matters reported in the public entity’s financial statements, reported performance 
information, compliance with applicable legislation and other related matters. These investigations did 
not form part of my opinion on the financial statements or my findings on the reported performance 
information or compliance with legislation. The South African Police Service is investigating fraud relating 
to social assistance grants for the period 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2020. The investigations were still 
ongoing at the date of this auditor’s report.

Pretoria
05 July 2021

OTHER REPORTS
44.
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Annexure – Auditor-general’s responsibility for the audit
1. As part of an audit in accordance with the ISAs, 

I exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout my audit 
of the financial statements and the procedures 
performed on reported performance information 
for selected objectives and on the public entity’s 
compliance with respect to the selected subject 
matters.

1. I communicate with the accounting authority 
regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 
findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that I identify during my audit.

2. I also confirm to the accounting authority that I 
have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and communicate 
all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to have a bearing on my 
independence and, where applicable, the actions 
taken to eliminate threats or the safeguards 
applied.

1. In addition to my responsibility for the audit of the 
financial statements as described in this auditor’s 
report, I also: 

• identify and assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error; design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks; and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of 
internal control

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the public entity’s internal control

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by the board of directors, which constitutes 
the accounting authority

• conclude on the appropriateness of the accounting 
authority’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in the preparation of the financial 
statements. I also conclude, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists relating to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the ability of the Postbank to 
continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a 

Financial statements

Communication with those 
charged with governance

material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw 
attention in my auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the financial statements about 
the material uncertainty or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify my opinion on the 
financial statements. My conclusions are based 
on the information available to me at the date 
of this auditor’s report. However, future events 
or conditions may cause a public entity to cease 
operating as a going concern

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and determine whether the financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

2.

3.

4.
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Directors’ Responsibilities and Approval

The directors are required in terms of the Companies 
Act 71 of 2008 to maintain adequate accounting 
records and are responsible for the content and 
integrity of the annual financial statements and 
related financial information included in this report. 
It is their responsibility to ensure that the annual 
financial statements fairly present the state of affairs 
of the company as at the end of the financial year and 
the results of its operations and cash flows for the 
period then ended, in conformity with International 
Financial Reporting Standards.

The annual financial statements are prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and are based upon appropriate accounting 
policies consistently applied and supported by 
reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately 
responsible for the system of internal financial 
control established by the company and place 
considerable importance on maintaining a strong 
control environment. To enable the directors to meet
these responsibilities,the directors set standards for 
internal controls aimed at reducing the risk of error or 
loss in a cost effective manner. The standards includes 
proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly 
defined framework, effective accounting procedures 
and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an 
acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored
throughout the company and all employees are 
required to maintain the highest ethical standards 
in ensuring the company’s business is conducted 
in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is 
above reproach. The focus of risk management in the 
company is on identifying, assessing, managing and 
monitoring all known forms of risk across the company. 
While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the 
company endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that 
appropriate infrastructure,

controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied 
and managed within predetermined procedures and 
constraints.

The directors are of the opinion, based on the 
information and explanations given by management, 
that the system of internal control provides 
reasonable assurance that the financial records may 
be relied on for the preparation of the annual financial 
statements. However, any system of internal financial 
control can provide only reasonable and not absolute 
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The directors have reviewed the company’s cash flow 
forecast for the year to 31 March 2021 and, in light of 
this review and the current financial position, they are 
satisfied that the company has access to adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future.

The annual financial statements set out on page 7 to 
71, which have been prepared on the going concern 
basis, were approved by the directors on 28 April 2021 
and were signed on their behalf by:

Approval of financial statements

South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
(Registration number 2017/177755/30) Trading as South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020

Mr Gcobani Mancotywa
Director
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE – POSTBANK 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT 31 
MARCH 2020

This report is provided by Postbank SOC Limited audit 
committee, in respect of the 2020 financial year of 
Postbank SOC Limited. The committee is constituted 
as a statutory committee of the Postbank, in terms 
of section 64 of the Banks Act, section 94 of the 
Companies Act and Section 77 of the PFMA.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in ensuring 
the integrity of integrated reporting, internal 
financial controls, identification and management 
of financial risks, safeguarding of Postbank’s assets 
and the preparation of accurate financial statements 
in compliance with all the relevant regulatory 
requirements and accounting standards.

The Board of Postbank is required to appoint at 
least three of its non-executive directors. The Audit 
Committee should consider meeting the King IV 
definition of independence when appointing non-

executives directors. In terms of section 64 (3)(a) 
of the Banks Act, all of the members of the Audit 
Committee must not be employees of Postbank, nor 
any of its subsidiaries, its controlling company nor of 
any of the subsidiaries of the controlling company. 
Provided that the Chairperson of the Board or the 
controlling company shall not be appointed as a 
member of the Audit Committee.

Audit Committee members should be suitably skilled 
and experienced. In terms of regulation 42 of the 
Companies Act, at least one-third of the members 
of the Audit Committee at any particular time 
must have academic qualifications or experience 
in economics, law, corporate governance, finance, 
accounting, commerce, industry, public affairs or 
human resource management.

Name Qualification Appointment 
Date Experience Resignation 

Date

Has a number of years’ experience in 
the financial services sector including 
investment banking, corporate finance and 
private equity, amongst others. 

He developed business acumen with 
entrepreneurial flair and experienace at 
senior management and executive level 
management with recent commercial roles 
as CEO and Executive Director. 

He also has experience as a Non- Executive 
Director including recent roles as Audit 
Committee and Board Chairperson.

CA (SA); B.Comm
(Accounting); B 
Compt Hons

AC Seymour 2017/04/19 2020/09/30

Audit Committee Report

1. Members of the Audit Committee
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Consultant in accounting and tax related 
matters. 

She is a non-executive director of Adrenna 
since 2008, chairing the audit committee.

Postgraduate Diploma in Management Senior; 
Management Programme

Mr van der Merwe is an executive director with 
over 30 years corporate business experience. 
He has extensive business, operations, systems, 
processes, savings bank management and 
project management knowledge. He has been 
in service for 44 years and spent the past 15 
years in executive level roles. 

Gcobani is a seasoned executive with international
business and restructuring experience of more than 
23 years in the financial services and airline industry 
currently serving as Chairperson of Risk & Capital 
Management Committee of the Board for Postbank. 
The committee is responsible for overseeing the 
implementation and operation of an independent risk 
management function and risk management 
framework, policies, procedures, practices and 
controls throughout Postbank, making 
recommendations to the Board regarding the current 
and future risk appetite, risk tolerance limits, risk 
management strategy and practices as well as 
overseeing management’s promotion of a risk aware 
based culture in Postbank.

In addition, he is currently the Founder & 
Executive Chairman of Somlolo Group Investment 
Holdings, a privately owned company with 
diversified business interests in industrial & 
financial services. Previously, he was the 
Executive Head of Strategy, Analytics & Marketing 
for Nedbank, Corporate Banking. Prior, Gcobani was 
employed at First National Bank (FNB), Public 
Sector as Chief Executive Officer (CEO). His 
previous role was that of General Manager for 
Global business Operations at South African 
Airways (SAA) based in Hong Kong & Australia 
for several years.

Gcobani holds a Master’s degree in Management 
(Macro Economics) completed through the University 
of the Witwatersrand (Wits), a Bachelor of Commerce 
(B Com) (Economics & Commercial Law) completed at 
the Walter Sisulu University (WSU), a Post 
Graduate Diploma in Management completed at 
the Wits Business School, a Certificate in Financial 
Management completed at the University of 
Johannesburg and is a Certified Director (Corporate 
Governance) of the Institute of Directors of Southern 
Africa (IODSA).

B.Comm (Accounting 
& Auditing); B Comm
Hons (Investment) ;
Certificate in
Accountancy;
MBL

M.M. B Com
Post Graduate
Diploma in Finance
Graduate
Diploma in
Management

M.M. B Com
Post Graduate
Diploma in Finance
Graduate
Diploma in
Management

SP Mothelesi

IDJ van der 
Merwe 

G Mancotywa

2017/04/19

2019/08/06

2020/10/01

2020/09/30

2021/03/31

Current
Member AC

Name Qualification Appointment 
Date Experience Resignation 

Date

Audit Committee Report
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Dr Adv Hefer is an authority on the new
Companies Act, Protection of Personal 
Information Act and the Consumer Protection 
Act, Corporate Governance Best Practices 
and Directors’ Duties, including the New 
Companies Act and King IV™ applications. 

She led the team that developed the 
OnlineMOI webbased tool. She is the author 
of Notes on South African Companies Act and 
Questions & Answers for Company Directors 
and Prescribed Officers, Questions & Answers 
on SA Companies Act, Questions & Answers 
on Business Rescue, Questions and Answers 
on POPI and PAIA, Questions & Answers for 
Auditors & Accountants, Vrae & Antwoorde 
oor die Suid-Afrikaanse Maatskappywet, 
Questions & Answers on Close Corporations
(Genesis), and a joint co-author of the 
Corporate Governance Handbook (Juta & Co).

B.Sc (Hons); LL.B;
LL.M; Ph.D

Dr Adv L Hefer 2020/10/01 Current 
Member AC

Mr Thabile Wonci has experience in financial
services and has been responsible for strategy 
development and implementation in the 
Sub- Saharan Africa region, across various 
business lines, such as investment banking, 
corporate finance, cash management, 
debt and equity capital markets as well as 
leveraged finance. 

Currently, he is CEO of Kogae Rainbow 
Investment Holdings, an investment 
management company with a portfolio 
of assets within manufacturing, financial 
services, energy and business consulting 
sectors. He is the past Managing Director 
of the Black Management Forum (BMF) and 
also served as a Non- Executive Director of 
Black Management Forum Investments, and 
Cable Tapes.

MBA; PDG 
(Management); 
PDG (Management 
Accounting); PDG  
(Business); 
BCom (Acc)

T Wonci 2020/10/01 Current 
Member AC

Name Experience Resignation DateName Qualification Appointment 
Date Experience Resignation 

Date

The Committee is satisfied that the members have 
the necessary knowledge and experience as set out in 
Section 94(5) of the Companies Act and Regulation 
42 of the Companies Regulation, 2011. The committee 
did not meet the independent non-executive director 
requirements as outlined in Section 94 of the 
Companies Act, Section 77 of the PFMA and Sections 
4.1 and 4.2 of Postbank’s Audit Committee Terms of 
Reference for the period under review.

The Audit Committee of Postbank was reconstituted 
on 26 April 2021 in line with the requirements set 

out in Section 64 of the Banks Act, Section 94 of 
the Companies Act, Section 77 of the PFMA and 
Section 4 of Postbank’s Audit Committee Terms of 
Reference. As such, Adv L. Hefer was appointed into 
the committee. 

The committee now has three Independent 
Non-Executive Directors. The newly constituted 
Audit Committee reviewed the audited Financial 
Statements and the Audit Report for the period under 
review and recommended both for Board’s approval.

Audit Committee Report
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The audit committee performs the duties laid upon it by Section 94(7) of the Companies Act 71 of 2008 by 
holding meetings with the key role players on a regular basis and by the unrestricted access granted to the 
external auditors.

The committee held 5 scheduled meetings during 2020 and all the members of the committee attended all 
the meetings.

Name 17 May 2019
(Ordinary)

21 January
2020 (Ordinary)

30 July
2019 (Special)

16 March
2020 (Ordinary)

24 October
2019 (Ordinary)

A Seymour

B Mothelesi

In respect of the financial statements:

The committee’s operation is guided by a detailed 
mandate that is informed by the Companies Act, 
the Banks Act, Postbank’s Terms of Reference (ToR) 
and its Memorandum of Incorporation (MOI). The 
functions of the Audit Committee are carried out in 
line with the prescripts of the committee’s ToR as 
set out below:

• The Audit Committee shall review the 
annual financial statements, any interim and 
preliminary announcements, the accompanying 
reports to the shareholder and any other 
announcements regarding Postbank’s results or 
other financial information to be made public, 
prior to submission and approval by the Board;

• Evaluate on an ongoing basis the 
appropriateness, adequacy and efficiency of the 
accounting policies and procedures, compliance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards 
and any changes thereto;

• Review the annual financial statements, and 
consider whether they are accurate, complete 
and consistent with information known to 
committee members;

• Review significant accounting and reporting issues, 
including complex or unusual transactions and 
highly judgmental areas, and recent professional 
and regulatory pronouncements, and understand 
their impact on the financial statements;

• Review other sections of the annual report and 
related regulatory filings before release and 
consider the accuracy and completeness of the 
information;

• Review interim financial reports with management 
and the external auditors before filing with 
regulators, and consider whether they are complete 
and consistent with the information known to 
committee; and

• Oversee integrated reporting which includes 
financial information, sustainability, interim results 
and summarised information.

Audit Committee Report
2. Meetings held by the Audit Committee

3. Functions of the Audit Committee

The Committee is satisfied that the members have the necessary knowledge and experience as set out in 
Section 94(5) of the Companies Act and Regulation 42 of the Companies Regulation, 2011.
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In respect of the Internal Audit:

In respect of the External Audit:

In respect of Risk Management:

• Ensure that internal audit is independent of 
management in terms of International Internal 
Audit Standards and that it has the necessary 
resources, budget, standing and authority within 
Postbank to enable it to discharge its functions;

• Be responsible for the appointment and 
termination of the services of the Chief Audit 
Executive, as well as oversee the budget, 
resource plan and organisational structure and 
objectives of the internal audit function;

• Approve the internal audit charter, internal 
audit plan, internal audit strategic plan and 
operational plan;

• Encourage co-operation between external and 
internal audit;

• Review the effectiveness of the internal 
audit function and evaluate performance in 
terms of the agreed goals and objectives and 
conformance with International Standards for 
Professional Practice of Internal Auditing; and

• Ensure that the function is subjected to 
independent quality review.

• Nominate for appointment an independent 
registered auditor who, in the opinion of the 
Audit Committee, is independent of Postbank in 
terms of section 64(2)(a) of the Banks Act and 
Section 90 of the Companies Act;

• Determine the fees to be paid to the auditor and 
the auditor’s terms of engagement;

• Ensure that the appointment of the auditor 
complies with the provisions of the Companies 
Act and any other legislation relating to the 
appointment of auditors;

• Determine, subject to the provisions of the 
Companies Act, the nature and extent of any 
non-audit services that the auditor may provide 
to Postbank, or that the auditor must not 

provide to Postbank, or a related company of 
Postbank;

• Pre-approve any proposed agreement with the 
auditor for the provision of non-audit services 
to Postbank;

• Review and approve the annual audit plan and 
ensure that it is consistent with the scope of the 
audit engagement;

• Address any potential restrictions or limitations 
of scope with management;

• Resolve any disagreements between 
management and external auditor if they arise;

• Review the management letter and 
management’s response to the auditors’ 
findings and recommendations; and

• Review the effectiveness of the audit process 
annually.

• Oversee the financial reporting risks;

• Oversee the internal financial controls;

• Oversee the fraud risks as it relates to financial 
reporting and internal controls;

• Oversee IT risks as it relates to financial 
reporting and internal controls;

• Review the results of and response to reporting 
via the Postbank ethics line or equivalent; and

• Review the monitoring process to ensure the 
ethical behaviour of Postbank, its management 
and officials as determined by the Social and 
Ethics Committee Terms of Reference.
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In respect of combined assurance:

In respect of Compliance:

• In terms of King IV principle 8, Recommended 
Practice 59, assist the Board to ensure that a 
Combined Assurance model is applied to provide a 
coordinated approach to all assurance activities, 
to ensure that assurance services and functions 
enable an effective control environment, and 
that these support the integrity of information 
for internal decision making and of Postbank’s 
external reports;

• The following should be disclosed in statement by 
the Audit Committee setting out the views of the 
Audit Committee relating to:

1. Satisfaction that the external auditor is 
independent of Postbank;

2. Significant matters that the Audit Committee 
has considered in relation to the annual financial 
statement, and how these were addressed by the 
committee;

3. Quality of the external audit, with reference to 
audit quality indicators such as those that may be 
included in inspection reports issued by external 
audit regulators;

4. Effectiveness of the Chief Audit Executive and 
the arrangements for internal audit.

5. Effectiveness of the design and implementation 
of internal financial controls, and on the nature 
and extent of any significant weaknesses in the 
design, implementation or execution of internal 
financial controls that resulted in material 
financial loss, fraud, corruption or error;

6. Effectiveness of the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) 
and the finance function; and

7. Arrangements in place for combined assurance 
and the Committee’s views on its effectiveness.

• The Audit Committee must consider the legal and 
regulatory requirements to the extent that it may 
have an impact on the financial statements;

• Review the findings of any examinations by 
regulatory agencies, and any auditor observations;

• Obtain reports from management, the internal 
auditor and the external auditor regarding 
compliance with all applicable financial legal 

and regulatory requirements, including tax 
compliance, litigation, disputes and claims;

• Review the adequacy of the regulatory report 
processes, including quality of reporting and 
adequacy of systems and human resources to 
complete these functions satisfactorily;

• Meet as required with the regulators;

• Meet at least annually with the external auditors 
and Chief Audit Executive to discuss any matters 
that the Committee or that the auditors believe 
should be discussed privately; and

• Interact periodically with other Committees 
to be informed of matters that may affect the 
functioning of the Audit Committee.

• There is a need to perform a detailed financial 
review of Postbank’s operations and financials 
to determine the impact of Covid-19 to the 
overall business of Postbank. Part of this exercise 
will need to include the review of its recently 
approved corporate plan and recommend that 
the necessary adjustments be made where 
necessary;

• Postbank’s control environment has been found 
to be very weak by the external auditors. The 
bank will need to strengthen its internal control 
environment as maintaining      the weak internal 
control environment will further weakens the 
business;

• Postbank must ensure that it establishes 
an  internal audit function as part of its risk 
management framework to serve primarily 
as the first line of defense as far as internal 
controls, adherence to processes and procedures 
is concerned. The weaknesses in its control 
environment are exacerbated by the absence of                    
an internal audit function within Postbank. This 
function will also help in clearing any outstanding 
audit issues raised by the external auditors and 
thus put controls in place to avoid repeat findings;

4. Focus areas for the Audit Committee
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• Postbank also needs to prioritise the filling of 
the executive positions and most importantly 
the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial 
Officer and Chief Audit Executive roles. The 
prolonged absence of a permanent CEO, CFO 
and CAE have the potential of incapacitating the 
bank in executing its corporate  and the annual 
performance plans including addressing the audit 
issues that have been raised during the 2020 
audit;

• There also appears to be lack of controls around 
Postbank’s procurement policies and on contract 
management. This has further weakened the 
operating environment and unfortunately the 
bank has reported significant fruitless and 
wasteful expenditure during the period under 
review. The supply chain management business 
unit needs to be strengthened and supported by 
all given the role it ought to play within the bank;

• Postbank need to review its over reliance on 
SAPO given the challenges that SAPO is currently 
faced with. An urgent review of all the Service 
Level Agreements (SLAs) with SAPO need to be 
performed and these be brought inhouse as part 
of the corporatization process; and

• It will be prudent for Postbank to review all 
contracts that have been inherited from SAPO in 
order to determine if these are fit for purpose for 
Postbank. A contract review process is a standard 
business review process that can and will be 
carried in the normal cause of business.

The Audit Committee has satisfied itself that the 
external auditors are independent of the company in 
accordance with section 94(8) of the Companies Act.

The audit committee in consultation with executive 
management, agreed to the terms of the engagement. 
The audit fee for the external audit has been 
considered and approved taking into consideration 
such factors as the timing of the audit, the extent of 
the work required and the scope.

On behalf of the Audit Committee

Mr Thabile Wonci
Chairperson of the Audit Committee

5. I ndependence of the External Auditors
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Directors’ Report
The directors have pleasure in submitting their report 
on the annual financial statements of South African 
Postbank (SOC) Ltd for the year ended 31 March 
2020.

1. Incorporation

The company was incorporated on 01 April 2017 and 
obtained its certificate to commence business on the 
same day.

2. Nature of business

South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd was incorporated 
in South Africa with interest in the Banking industry. 
The company conducts the business of banking to 
encourage and attract savings amongst the people 
of the Republic of South Africa, in accordance with 
the Postbank Limited Amendment Act No.44 of 2013 
and the relevant sections of the Postal Services Act 
No.124 of 1998. The Company operates principally in 
South Africa. Postbank ceased to be division of the 
South African Post Office and became a separate 
legal entity on 01 April 2019. On this date, assets and 
liabilities which were previously owned by Postbank 
as a division of SAPO were transferred to the South 
African Postbank SOC Ltd as required by section 6 of 

the South African Postbank Limited Act No. 9 of 2010. 
As a result there are no comparative figures. Please 
refer to note 28 of the Annual Financial Statements 
for details of these assets and liabilities.

3. Review of financial results and activities

The annual financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards, Public Finance Management Act and the 
requirements of the Companies Act 71 of 2008. The 
accounting policies have been applied consistently in 
preparation of the financial statements. The company 
reported net assets of R3,7 billion and a net profit of 
R210 million for the 2020 financial year.

4. Share capital

There have been no changes to the authorised or 
issued share capital during the year under review.

5. Directorate

The directors in office at the date of this report are 
as follows:

Directors NationalityOffice Changes

Chairperson of the
board

Non-executive
Independent

Non-executive
Independent

Non-executive
Independent

Non-executive

Acting Managing
Director

South Africa

South Africa

South Africa

South Africa

South Africa

South Africa

Resigned Wednesday, 30
September 2020

Resigned Wednesday, 30
September 2020

Resigned Wednesday, 30
September 2020

Resigned Thursday, 01 
August 2019

Dismissed Friday, 14 
August 2020

Ms N Noxaka

Mr A Seymour

Ms B Mothelesi

Mr E Netshivhulana

Mr M Barnes

Mr S Adam

South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
(Registration number 2017/177755/30) Trading as South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020
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Directors NationalityOffice Changes

Acting Managing
Director

Chairperson of the
board

Non-executive
Independent

Non-executive
Independent

Non-executive
Independent

Interim Chief Executive
Officer

South Africa

South Africa

South Africa

South Africa

South Africa

South Africa

Resigned Wednesday, 31 
March 2021

Appointed Thurday, 01 
October 2020

Appointed Thurday, 01 
October 2020

Appointed Thurday, 01 
October 2020

Appointed Thurday, 01 
October 2020

Appointed Friday, 09 April 
2021

Mr I Van der Merwe

Mr DZ Nkonki

Mr Thabile Wonci

Mr Gcobani Mancotywa

Adv Leigh Hefer

Molatlhegi Kgauwe

South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
(Registration number 2017/177755/30) Trading as South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020
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6. Special resolutions

No special resolutions, the nature of which might be 
significant to the shareholder in their appreciation of 
the state of affairs of the company,were made by the 
company during the period covered by this report.

7. Events after the reporting period 

The directors are not aware of any material event 
which occurred after the reporting date and up to the 
date of this report.

8. Going concern

The annual financial statements of the company were 
prepared on a going concern basis. The Board has 
performed a formal review of the company’s results 
and its ability to continue trading as a going concern 
in the foreseeable future. The directors of Postbank 
confirm that they are satisfied that the company has 
adequate resources to continue in business for the
foreseeable future.

9. Litigation statement

From time to time the company becomes involved in 
various claims and lawsuits incidental to the ordinary 
course of business.

10. Auditors

The Shareholders have reappointed the Auditor 
General of South Africa as the auditor of the company 
for 2019/20.

11. Secretary

The company has appointed a permanent Company 
Secretary, Adv Ditebogo Khumalo, effective from 
1 May 2020.The company’s secretariat functions 
were previously performed on an interim basis by a 
third party secretariat company (First Corporate 
Secretaries) from 1 April 2019 to 28 February 2020.

12. Date of authorisation for issue of financial 
statements

The annual financial statements have been authorised 
for issue by the directors on Wednesday, 28 April 
2021. No authority was given to anyone to amend the 
annual financial statements after the date of issue.

13. Acknowledgements

Thanks and appreciation are extended to all of our 
shareholders, staff, suppliers and consumers for 
their continued support of the company. The annual 
financial statements were approved by the directors 
on 28 April 2021, and were signed on its behalf by:

Approval of annual financial statements

Mr G Mancotywa
Wednesday, 28 April 2021

South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
(Registration number 2017/177755/30) Trading as South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020
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Statement of Financial Position as at 
31 March 2020

Note(s)
2020

R ‘000

Assets

Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Deferred tax

Equity and Liabilities

Equity
Reserve for Valuation of Investments
Other reserves
Retained income

Liabilities

Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions

Total Liabilities
Total Equity and Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables
Provisions
Deposits due to customers
Other Deposits (grants)

Current Assets

Trade and other receivables
Investments
Current tax receivable
SAPO Intercompany receivable
Cash and cash equivalents

Total Assets

3 
4 
7 

 
13 

14 

10
6

24
8
11

17
14
15
16

99 932
2 292

5 290 411
5 131 068

10 523 703

10 525 689
14 226 022

37 286  
39 224
84 684

161 194

14 664 
3 474 899
210 770

3 700 333

1 986

462 506 
7 065 021

58 126
1  962 512
4 516 663

14 064 828

14 226 022

South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
(Registration number 2017/177755/30) Trading as South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020
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Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income

Statement of Changes in Equity

Note(s)

Reserve for
Valuation of
Investments

R ‘000

Other 
reserves

R ‘000

Total 
reserves

R ‘000

Retained
income

R ‘000

Total
equity

R ‘000

2020
R ‘000

Interest and similar income
Interest expense and similar charges

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income

Net Interest income
Transactional and service fee income
Employee costs
Other operating costs
Expected credit loss
Transactional expenses
Operating profit/(loss)

Profit before taxation
Taxation

Total comprehensive income for the year
Transfer between reserves
Transfer of net assets from
Postbank division
Movement in the current year
Deferred tax

Balance at 31 March 2020
Note(s)

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income for the year

210 770
-

-
-

-
1 126

-

17 771
(4 233)

14 664 3 474 899 3 489 563 210 770 3 700 333

-
-

3 474 899

-
-

-
1 126

3 474 899

17 771
(4 233)

-
-

210 770
1 126

3 474 899

17 771
(4 233)

18
19

-
-

20
22

26

21

24

653 697
(99 092)

210 770
-

554 605
1 645 676 
(98 756)
(434 210)
(485 965)
(889 522)

291 828

210 770
-
-

-
-

210 770
17 771

291 828
(81 058)

228 540

South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
(Registration number 2017/177755/30) Trading as South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020
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Statement of Cash Flows

Note(s)
2020

R ‘000

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before taxation

Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation
Inventory write-off expense
Expected credit loss
Gains on foreign exchange
Impairment and fraud losses
Movements in provisions
Non cash interest
Other non-cash items

Changes in funds for operating activities:
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables
Movement in depositors funds

Net cash from operating activities before taxation
Tax paid 25

291 828

33 872
13 579

485 965
(10)

62 826
1 338

(49 301)
4 417

(6 390)
156 135

4 574 133

5 568 391
(228 101)

5 340 290

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of other intangible assests  
Movement in finacial assets 

Net cash from investing activities

Net cash from operating activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Cash transferred from SAPO

Total cash movement for the year

Total cash at end of the year

3
4

11

(4 059)
(2 086)

(2 013 411)

(2 019 556)

1 195 928

4 516 663

4 516 663

South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
(Registration number 2017/177755/30) Trading as South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020
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Accounting Policies
Corporate information

South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd is a public 
company incorporated and domiciled in South Africa. 
Its parent and ultimate holding entity is the South 
African government represented by the South African 
Post Office. The principal activities of the company 
is the provision of banking services as envisaged in 
the Banking Act No.94 of 1990 , after the company is 
registered in terms of Section 17 of the Bank Act.

The operating results and the state of affairs of the 
Company are set out in the attached statement 
of financial position, statement of comprehensive 
income, statement of changes in equity, statement of 
cash flows and the notes thereto.

1. Significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the 
preparation of these annual financial statements are 
set out below.

1.1 Basis of preparation

The annual financial statements have been prepared 
on the going concern basis in accordance with, and 
in compliance with, International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) and International Financial 
Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) 
interpretations issued and effective at the time of 
preparing these annual financial statements and 
the Companies Act 71 of 2008 of South Africa, as 
amended. 

These annual financial statements comply with the 
requirements of the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides 
as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee and 
the Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued by 
the Financial Reporting Standards Council.

The annual financial statements have been prepared 
on the historic cost convention, unless otherwise 
stated in the accounting policies which follow and 
incorporate the principal accounting policies set out 
below. They are presented in South African Rand 
(ZAR), which is the company’s functional currency.

These accounting policies are consistent with the 
previous period.

1.2 Significant judgements and sources of estimation 
uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in conformity 
with IFRS requires management, from time to time, 
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the application of policies and reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. 
These estimates and associated assumptions are 
based on experience and various other factors that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates. The 
estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed 
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the 
estimates are revised and in any future periods
affected.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
The critical judgements made by management 
in applying accounting policies, apart from those 
involving estimations, that have the most significant 
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements, are outlined as follows:

Lease classification

The company entered into a six (6) months lease of 
a building with annual rentals of average amount of 
R600 000 per month. Significant judgement was 
applied by management in concluding the correct 
lease term and the discount rate. Only extension 
and termination options held by the lessee were 
considered when determining the lease term. The 
discount rate to use is the rate implicit in the lease, 
which cannot be readily be determined, in which case 
the lessee’s incremental rate of borrowing is used.

South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
(Registration number 2017/177755/30) Trading as South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020
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1.2 Significant judgements and sources of estimation 
uncertainty (continued)

Trade receivables, investments and receivables

Management assesses its trade receivables, held to 
maturity investments and loans and receivables for
impairment at the end of each reporting period. 
In determining whether an impairment loss should 
be recorded in profit or loss, management makes 
judgments as to whether there is observable data 
indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated 
future cash flows from a financial asset. The 
impairment for trade receivables, investments and 
loans and receivables is calculated on a portfolio 
basis, based on historical loss ratios, adjusted for 
national and industry-specific economic conditions 
and other indicators present at the reporting date 
that correlate with defaults on the portfolio. These 
annual loss ratios are applied to loan balances in the 
portfolio and scaled to the estimate loss emergence 
period.

Financial assets through other comprehensive income 
(OCI)

The company follows the guidance of IFRS 9 to 
determine when a financial asset is impaired. This 
determinationrequires significant judgment. In 
making this judgment, management evaluates, 
among other factors, the duration and extent to 
which the fair value of an investment is less than 
its cost; and the financial health of, and near-term 
business outlook for the investee, including factors 
such as industry and sector performance, changes in
technology and operational and financing cash flow.

Allowance for slow moving, damaged and obsolete 
stock

The allowance for stock write-off at the lower of cost 
or net realisable value requires the use of estimates to
determine the selling price and direct cost to sell.

Impairment of financial assets

The impairment provisions for financial assets are 
based on assumptions about risk of default and 

expected loss rates. The company uses judgement 
in making these assumptions and selecting the 
inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the 
company’s past history, existing market conditions as 
well as forward looking estimates at the end of each 
reporting period. For details of the key assumptions 
and inputs used, refer to the individual notes 
addressing financial assets.

Fair value estimation

The fair value of financial instruments traded in 
active markets is based on quoted market prices at 
the end of the reporting period. The quoted market 
price used for financial assets held by the company 
is the current bid price. The fair value of financial 
instruments that are not traded in active market (for 
example, over the counter derivatives) is determined 
by using valuation techniques. The company uses 
a variety of methods and makes assumptions that 
are based on market conditions existing at the end 
of each reporting period. Quoted market prices or 
dealer quotes for similar instruments are used for 
long-term debt. Other techniques, such as estimated
discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair value 
for the remaining financial instruments. The carrying 
value less impairment provision of trade receivables 
and payables are assumed to approximate their 
fair values. The fair value of financial liabilities for 
disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the 
future contractual cash flows at the current market 
interest rate that is available to the company for 
similar financial instruments.

Impairment testing of non-financial assets

The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units 
and individual assets have been determined based 
on the higher of value-in-use calculations and fair 
value less costs to sell. These calculations require 
the use estimates and assumptions. It is reasonably 
possible that assumptions may change which may 
then impact estimations and may then require a 
material adjustment to the carrying value of non-
financial assets. The company reviews and tests the 
carrying value of assets when events or changes in 
circumstances suggest that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable.

South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
(Registration number 2017/177755/30) Trading as South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020
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1.2 Significant judgements and sources of estimation 
uncertainty (continued)

Useful lives, residual values and impairment of assets

Management assess the appropriateness of the 
useful lives of property, plant and equipment at the 
end of each reporting period. The useful lives of motor 
vehicles, furniture and computer equipment are 
determined based on company replacement policies 
for the various assets. Individual assets within these 
classes, which have a significant carrying amount are 
assessed separately to consider whether replacement 
will be necessary outside of normal replacement 
parameters. When the estimated useful life of an 
asset differs from previous estimates, the change is 
applied prospectively in the determination of the
depreciation charge.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated over 
their useful lives taking into account the residual values, 
where appropriate. The actual lives of the assets and 
residual values are assessed annually and may vary 
depending on a number of factors. In re-assessing 
asset lives, factors such as technological innovation, 
product life cycles and maintenance programmes 
are taken into account. Residual value assessment 
consider issues such as future market conditions, 
the remaining lives of the assets and the projected 
disposal values. Intangible assets are amortised on 
a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives. 
The amortisation methods and remaining useful lives 
are reviewed at least annually. The estimation of the 
useful lives of intangible assets is based on historic 
performance as well as expectations about future use
and therefore requires a significant degree of 
judgement.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are inherently based on assumptions 
and estimates using the best information available. 
Additional disclosure of these estimates of provisions 
are included in note 16. Management’s judgement is 
required when recognising and measuring provisions 
and when measuring contingent liabilities. The 
probability that an outflow of

economic resources will be required to settle the 
obligation must be assessed and a reliable estimate 
must be made of the amount of the obligation. 
Provisions are measured at management’s best 
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the 
obligation and discounted where the effect of 
discounting is material.

The discount rate used is the rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and, 
where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability, 
all of which require management’s judgement. 
The Company is required to recognise provisions 
for legal contingencies when the occurrence of the 
contingency is probable and the amount of the loss 
can be reasonably estimated. Liabilities provided for 
legal matters require judgements regarding projected 
outcomes and ranges of losses based on historical 
experience and recommendations of legal counsel. 
Litigation is however unpredictable and actual costs 
incurred could differ materially from those estimated
at the reporting date.

Taxation

Judgment is required when determining the provision 
for income taxes due to the complexity of legislation. 
There are many transactions and calculations for 
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain 
during the ordinary course of business. The company 
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues 
based on estimates of whether additional taxes will 
be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters 
is different from the amounts that were initially 
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax 
and deferred tax provisions in the period in
which such determination is made.

South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
(Registration number 2017/177755/30) Trading as South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020
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1.2 Significant judgements and sources of estimation 
uncertainty (continued)

Allowance for expected credit losses (ECL) on financial 
assets

The company assesses on a forward-looking basis 
the ECL associated for all debt instruments not 
held at fair value through profit or loss and the bank 
recognises an allowance for ECL for these financial 
assets. The measurement of the ECL allowance 
is an area that requires the use of complex models 
and significant assumptions about future economic 
conditions and credit behaviour. The ECL allowances 
for financial assets are based on assumptions about 
risk of default and expected loss rates. The company 
uses judgement in making these assumptions and 
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculations, 

1.3 Property, plant and equipment

based on the company’s past history, existing market 
conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at 
the end of each reporting period.

Employee benefit accruals and provisions

In determining the value to be placed on these post-
employment benefits, various assumptions in respect 
of various economic and demographic factors have 
been made. In order to have consistency between 
the benefits, the same assumptions for all benefits 
have been applied where relevant. In assessing 
the appropriateness of the assumptions used it is 
important to consider the assumptions as a whole 
rather than in isolation. In particular, the relationship 
between the assumptions for the discount rate and 
the rate of increase in benefits is important.

Depreciation 
methodItem

Average 
useful life

Leasehold property
Plant and machinery
Furniture and fixtures
Office equipment
IT equipment
Computer software
Leasehold improvements

Straight line
Straight line
Straight line
Straight line
Straight line
Straight line
Straight line

Term of the lease
3-20 Years
3-12 Years
3-12 Years
3-8 Years
1-3 Years

Term of the lease

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets 
which the company holds for its own use which are 
expected to be used for more than one year.

An item of property, plant and equipment is recognised 
as an asset when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the 
company, and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured 
at cost. Cost includes all of the expenditure which is 
directly attributable to the acquisition or construction 

South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
(Registration number 2017/177755/30) Trading as South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020
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of the asset, including the capitalisation of borrowing 
costs on qualifying assets and adjustments in respect 
of hedge accounting, where appropriate.

Expenditure incurred subsequently for major services, 
additions to or replacements of parts of property, 
plant and equipment are capitalised if it is probable 
that future economic benefits associated with the 
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included in profit or loss in the year in which they are 
incurred.
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1.3 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation of an asset commences when the asset 
is available for use as intended by management. 
Depreciation is charged to write off the asset’s 
carrying amount over its estimated useful life to its 
estimated residual value, using a method that best 
reflects the pattern in which the asset’s economic 
benefits are consumed by the company. Leased 
assets are depreciated in a consistent manner over 
the shorter of their expected useful lives and the 
lease term. Depreciation is not charged to an asset 
if its estimated residual value exceeds or is equal to 
its carrying amount. Depreciation of an asset ceases 
at the earlier of the date that the asset is classified 
as held for sale or derecognised. The residual value, 
useful life and depreciation method of each asset 
are reviewed at the end of each reporting year. If 
the expectations differ from previous estimates, the 
change is accounted for prospectively as a change in 
accounting estimate.

Subsequent to initial measurement, property, plant 
and equipment is measured at cost less accumulated

depreciation.The depreciation charge for each year is 
recognised in profit or loss unless it is included in the
carrying amount of another asset.

Impairment tests are performed on property, plant 
and equipment when there is an indicator that they 
may be impaired. When the carrying amount of an 
item of property, plant and equipment is assessed to 
be higher than the estimated recoverable amount, an 
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit 
or loss to bring the carrying amount in line with the 
recoverable amount.

An item of property, plant and equipment is 
derecognised upon disposal or when no future 
economic benefits are expected from its continued 
use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising from the 
derecognition of an item of property, plant and 
equipment, determined as the difference between 
the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying
amount of the item, is included in profit or loss when 
the item is derecognised.
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1.4 Intangible assets

An intangible asset is recognised when it is probable 
that the expected future economic benefits that are
attributable to the asset will flow to the entity, and 
the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.

Expenditure on research (or on the research phase 
of an internal project) is recognised as an expense 
when it is incurred. An intangible asset arising from 
development (or from the development phase of an 
internal project) is recognised when:

- It is technically feasible to complete the asset so 
that it will be available for use or sale.

- There is an intention to complete and use or sell it.

- There is an ability to use or sell it.

- It will generate probable future economic benefits, 
there are available technical, financial and other 
resources to complete the development and to use 
or sell the asset and the expenditure attributable to 
the asset during its development can be measured 
reliably.

Intangible assets are carried at cost less any 
accumulated amortisation and any impairment 
losses.

An intangible asset is regarded as having an indefinite 
useful life when, based on all relevant factors, there is 
no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset 
is expected to generate net cash inflows. Amortisation 
is not provided for these intangible assets, but they are 
tested for impairment annually and whenever there is 
an indication that the asset may be impaired. For all 
other intangible assets amortisation is provided on a 
straight line basis over their useful life.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method 
for intangible assets are reviewed every period-end.

Reassessing the useful life of an intangible asset with 
a finite useful life after it was classified as indefinite 
is an indicator that the asset may be impaired. As 
a result the asset is tested for impairment and the 
remaining carrying amount is amortised over its 
useful life.

Internally generated brands, mastheads, publishing 
titles, customer lists and items similar in substance 
are not recognised as intangible assets. Amortisation 
is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a 
straight line basis, to their residual values as follows:

Depreciation 
methodItem

Average 
useful life

Licenses and franchises

nternally generated softwares
Computer softwares
Intangible assets under development

Straight line

Straight line
Straight line
Straight line

Over the term of 
the contract

1-3 Years
2-8 Years

Not amortised 
until is

complete and in 
use
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1.5 Financial instruments

Financial instruments held by the company are 
classified in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 9 
Financial Instruments.

Broadly, the classification possibilities, which are 
adopted by the company ,as applicable, are as follows:

Financial assets which are equity instruments:

• Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss; or
• Designated as at fair value through other 

comprehensive income. (This designation is not 
available to equity instruments which are held for 
trading or which are contingent consideration in a 
business combination).

Financial assets which are debt instruments:

• Amortised cost. (This category applies only when 
the contractual terms of the instrument give rise, 
on specified dates, to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on principal, 
and where the instrument is held under a business 
model whose objective is met by holding the 
instrument to collect contractual cash flows); or

• Fair value through other comprehensive income. 
(This category applies only when the contractual 
terms of the instrument give rise, on specified 
dates, to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principaland interest on principal, and where the 
instrument is held under a business model whose 
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual 
cash flows and selling the instruments); or

• Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss. 
(This classification automatically applies to all 
debt instruments which do not qualify as at 
amortised cost or at fair value through other 
comprehensive income); or 

• Designated at fair value through profit or loss. 
(This classification option can only be applied 
when it eliminates or significantly reduces an 
accounting mismatch).

• Derivatives which are not part of a hedging 
relationship: Mandatorily at fair value through 
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities: 

• Amortised cost; or
• Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss. 

(This applies to contingent consideration in a 
business combination or to liabilities which are 
held for trading); or Designated at fair value 
through profit or loss. (This classification option 
can be applied when it eliminates or significantly 
reduces an accounting mismatch; the liability 
forms part of a group of financial instruments 
managed on a fair value basis; or it forms part 
of a contract containing an embedded derivative 
and the entire contract is designated as at fair 
value through profit or loss).

Note 32 Financial instruments and risk management 
presents the financial instruments held by the 
company based on their specific classifications.

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets 
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date 
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or 
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets 
within the time frame established by regulation or 
convention in the marketplace.

The specific accounting policies for the classification, 
recognition and measurement of each type of financial
instrument held by the company are presented below:

South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
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1.5 Financial instruments (continued)

Trade and other receivables

Classification

Trade and other receivables, excluding, when 
applicable, VAT and prepayments, are classified as 
financial assets subsequently measured at amortised 
cost (note 10).

They have been classified in this manner because their 
contractual terms give rise, on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest 
on the principal outstanding, and the company’s 
business model is to collect the contractual cash flows 
on trade and other receivables.

Recognition and measurement

Trade and other receivables are recognised when 
the company becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the receivables. They are measured, at 
initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs, 
if any.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

The amortised cost is the amount recognised on the 
receivable initially, minus principal repayments, plus
cumulative amortisation (interest) using the effective 
interest method of any difference between the initial 
amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any 
loss allowance.

Impairment

The bank recognises a loss allowance for expected 
credit losses on trade and other receivables, excluding
VAT,accrued interest and prepayments. The amount 
of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting 
date.

The bank measures the loss allowance for trade and 
other receivables at an amount equal to lifetime 
expected credit losses

(lifetime ECL), which represents the expected credit 
losses that will result from all possible default 
events over the expected life of the receivable. Loss 
allowance for trade receivables is determined as 
lifetime expected credit losss using the simplified
approach.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

The company makes use of a provision matrix as a 
practical expedient to the determination of expected 
credit losses on trade and other receivables. The 
provision matrix is based on historic credit loss 
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to 
the debtors, general economic conditions and an 
assessment of both the current and forecast direction 
of conditions at the reporting date, including the time 
value of money, where appropriate.

Details of the provision matrix is presented in note 10.

An impairment gain or loss is recognised in profit or 
loss with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying 
amount of trade and other receivables, through use 
of a loss allowance account. The impairment loss is 
included in transactional expenses in profit or loss as 
a movement in credit loss allowance (note 21).

Credit risk

Details of credit risk are included in the trade and 
other receivables note (note 10) and the financial 
instruments and risk management note (note 32).
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1.5 Financial instruments (continued)

Trade and other payables

Classification

Trade and other payables (note 17), excluding VAT and 
amounts received in advance, are classified as financial 
liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Recognition and measurement

They are recognised when the company becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions, and are measured, 
at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction 
costs, if any. 

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of 
calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability 
and of allocating interest expense over the relevant 
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 
(including all fees and points paid or received that 
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, 
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) 
through the expected life of the financial liability, 
or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the 
amortised cost of a financial liability.

If trade and other payables contain a significant 
financing component, and the effective interest 
method results in the recognition of interest expense, 
then it is included in profit or loss in finance costs (note 
17 ). Trade and other payables expose the company to 
liquidity risk and possibly to interest rate risk. Refer to 
note 32 for details of risk exposure and management 
thereof.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

are recognised when the company becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the instrument. They are 
measured, at initial recognition and subsequently, at 
fair value. Transaction costs are recognised in profit 
or loss.

Fair value gains or losses recognised on investments 
at fair value through profit or loss are included in other
operating gains (losses).

For financial liabilities designated at fair value through 
profit or loss, the portion of fair value adjustments 
which are attributable to changes in the company’s 
own credit risk, are recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in equity in the reserve for 
valuation of liabilities, rather than in profit or loss. 
However, if this treatment would create or enlarge 
an accounting mismatch in profit or loss, then that 
portion is also recognised in profit or loss.

Interest paid on financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss is included in finance costs.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are stated at carrying 
amount which is deemed to be fair value.

Derecognition

Financial assets

The company derecognises a financial asset only when 
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
of the asset to another party. If the company neither 
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership and continues to control the 
transferred asset, the company recognises its retained 
interest in the asset and an associated liability for 
amounts it may have to pay. If the company retains 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 
a transferred financial asset, the company continues 
to recognise the financial asset and also recognises 
a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.
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1.5 Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities

The company derecognises financial liabilities 
when, and only when, the company obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or they expire. The difference 
between the carrying amount of the financial liability 
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable, 
including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities 
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

1.6 Financial instruments: IAS 39 comparatives
Impairment of financial assets

At each reporting date the company assesses all 
financial assets, other than those at fair value through 
profit or loss, to determine whether there is objective 
evidence that a financial asset or group of financial 
assets has been impaired.

For amounts due to the company, significant financial 
difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor 
will enter bankruptcy and default of payments are all 
considered indicators of impairment.

In the case of equity securities classified as available-
for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair 
value of the security below its cost is considered an 
indicator of impairment. If any such evidence exists for 
available-forsale financial assets, the cumulative loss 
- measured as the difference between the acquisition 
cost and current fair value, less any impairment loss 
on that financial asset previously recognised in profit 
or loss - is removed from equity as a reclassification 
adjustment to other comprehensive income and 
recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses are reversed when an increase 
in the financial asset’s recoverable amount can be 
related objectively to an event occurring after the 

impairment was recognised, subject to the restriction 
that the carrying amount of the financial asset at the 
date that the impairment is reversed shall not exceed 
what the carrying amount would have been had the 
impairment not been recognised.

Reversals of impairment losses are recognised in profit 
or loss except for equity investments classified as
available-for-sale.

Impairment losses are also not subsequently reversed 
for available-for-sale equity investments which are 
held at cost because fair value was not determinable.

Where financial assets are impaired through use 
of an allowance account, the amount of the loss is 
recognised in profit or loss within operating expenses. 

Loans to (from) group companies

These include loans to and from holding companies, 
fellow subsidiaries, subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates and are recognised initially at fair value plus 
direct transaction costs. Loans to group companies 
are classified as loans and receivables. Loans from 
group companies are classified as financial liabilities 
measured at amortised cost.
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1.6 Financial instruments: IAS 39 comparatives 
(continued)

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition 
at fair value, and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method. Appropriate allowances for estimated 
irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit 
or loss when there is objective evidence that the 
asset is impaired. Significant financial difficulties 
of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter 
bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or
delinquency in payments (more than 30 days overdue) 
are considered indicators that the trade receivable is
impaired. The allowance recognised is measured as 
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the present value of estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the effective interest rate computed at 
initial recognition.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through 
the use of an allowance account, and the amount of 
the loss is recognised in profit or loss within operating 
expenses. When a trade receivable is uncollectable, 
it is written off against the allowance account for 
trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off are credited against operating 
expenses in profit or loss.

Trade and other receivables are classified as loans 
and receivables.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, 
and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, 
using the effective interest rate method.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and 
demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to a known 
amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant 

risk of changes in value. These are initially and 
subsequently recorded at fair value.

1.7 Taxation

Current tax assets and liabilities

Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the 
extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount 
already paid in respect of current and prior periods 
exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess 
is recognised as an asset.

Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior 
periods are measured at the amount expected to be 
paid to (recovered from) the tax authorities, using 
the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting 
period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences, except to the extent that the 
deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition 
of an asset or liability in a transaction which at the 
time of the transaction, affects neither accounting 
profit nor taxable profit (tax loss)

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible 
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profit will be available against which the 
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. A 
deferred tax asset is not recognised when it arises 
from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in 
a transaction at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).

A deferred tax asset is recognised for the carry 
forward of unused tax losses to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profit will be available 
against which the unused tax losses can be utilised.
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1.7 Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at 
the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period 
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, 
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 
reporting period.

Tax expenses

Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income 
or an expense and included in profit or loss for the 
period, except to the extent that the tax arises from:
• a transaction or event which is recognised, in the 

same or a different period, to other comprehensive 
income, or

• a business combination.
• 
Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited 
to other comprehensive income if the tax relates to 
items that are credited or charged, in the same or a 
different period, to other comprehensive income.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited 
directly to equity if the tax relates to items that are 
credited or charged, in the same or a different period, 
directly in equity.

1.8 Leases

Identifying a lease At inception of a contract, the 
company assess whether the contract is, or contains, 
a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the 
contract conveys the right to control the use of an 
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration.

The company applies the practical expedient in 
paragraph 15 of IFRS 16 and has elected, not to separate 
nonlease components from lease components, and 
instead account for each lease component and any 
associated non-lease components as a single lease 
component.
Recognition exemptions

The company has elected not to apply IFRS 16’s 
recognition and requirements to:
- short-term leases; and
- leases for which the underlying asset is of low value 
(‘low value leases’).

The company’s short term leases are made up of 
rentals for vehicles (travel for work purposes) or other 
IT equipment for 12 months or less.These short term 
leases are expensed in the income statement.

The short term leases include the effect of options to 
extend or terminate a lease. An underlying asset in a 
lease can be of low value only if:

- The company can benefit from use of the underlying 
asset on its own or together with other resources that 
are readily available to the lessee; and
- The underlying asset is not highly dependent on, or 
highly interrelated with, other assets. The company’s 
low value leases consists of rentals for the use of 
printing machines. 

The Company’s low cost values leases are for items 
that costs R50 000 as their purchase price. 

The company recognise the lease payments 
associated with short term and low cost leases as 
an expense on either a straight-line basis over the 
lease term or another systematic basis.  The company 
applies another systematic basis if that basis is more 
representative of the pattern of the lessee’s benefit. 

At the commencement date, the company recognise a 
right-of-use asset and a lease liability. This recognition 
is for leases other than the short term and low cost 
leases.

The company currently has one leased building which 
is on a month to month basis, therefore the company
decided to treat the lease as a short term. The 
company is in the process of looking for a new lease in
Bloemfontein.
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1.9 Leases (Comparatives under IAS 17)

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership. A lease is classified as an operating lease 
if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership.

1.10 Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net 
realisable 

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs 
of completion and the estimated costs necessary to 
make the sale. 

The cost of inventories comprises of all costs of 
purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred 
in bringing the inventories to their present location 
and condition.

When inventory is issued, the carrying amount is 
recognised as an expense in the period in which the 
cards are issued.

Inventories consists of cards. Write downs to net 
realisable value are recognised as an expense in the 
period the loss occurs. Reversals arising from an 
increase in NRV are recognised as a reduction of the 
inventory expense in the period in which they occur.

1.11 Impairment of non-financial assets

The company assesses at each end of the reporting 
period whether there is any indication that an asset 
may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the 
company estimates the recoverable amount of the 
asset.

Irrespective of whether there is any indication of 
impairment, the company also:

- tests intangible assets with an indefinite useful 
life or intangible assets not yet available for use 
for impairment annually by comparing its carrying 
amount with its recoverable amount. This impairment 

test is performed during the annual period and at the 
same time every period.
- tests goodwill acquired in a business combination 
for impairment annually.

If there is any indication that an asset may be 
impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for 
the individual asset. If it is not possible to estimate 
the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to 
which the asset belongs is determined.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-
generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs 
to sell and its value in use.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its 
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is 
reduced to its recoverable amount. That reduction is 
an impairment loss.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less 
any accumulated depreciation or amortisation 
is recognised immediately in profit or loss. Any 
impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a 
revaluation decrease.

An entity assesses at each reporting date whether 
there is any indication that an impairment loss 
recognised in prior periods for assets other than 
goodwill may no longer exist or may have decreased. 
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts 
of those assets are estimated.

The increased carrying amount of an asset other than 
goodwill attributable to a reversal of an impairment 
loss does not exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at 
cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation 
other than goodwill is recognised immediately in 
profit or loss. Any reversal of an impairment loss of 
a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation increase.
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1.12 Other reserves

Measurement

The SA Post Office was required by Postbank Act to 
transfer assets and liabilities to Postbank on 1st April 
2019. Postbank measured the assets and liabilities 
received using the book-value method. The book value 
method means that SAPO transferred asset and 
liabilities at their carrying value as reported in their 
2019 financial statements.

Consideration paid

No consideration was paid by Postbank for the transfer 
of assets and liabilities. The difference between 
the transferred asset and liabilities is presented as 
reserves in Postbank’s annual financial statement. 
Refer to the statement of financial position.

1.13 Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

The cost of short-term employee benefits, (those 
payable within 12 months after the service is rendered, 
such as paid vacation leave and sick leave, bonuses, 
and non-monetary benefits such as medical care), 
are recognised in the period in which the service is 
rendered and are not discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is 
recognised as an expense as the employees render 
services that increase their entitlement or, in the case 
of non-accumulating absences, when the absence 
occurs.

The expected cost of (13th cheque) service bonus 
payments is recognised as an expense when there 
is a legal or constructive obligation to make such 
payments as a result of past events (employees 
restructuring their salaries to receive 13th cheque).

Defined contribution plans

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit 
plans are charged as an expense as they fall due.

Payments made to industry-managed (or state plans) 
retirement benefit schemes are dealt with as defined
contribution plans where the company’s obligation 
under the schemes is equivalent to those arising in a 
defined contribution retirement benefit plan.

Defined benefit plans

For defined benefit plans the cost of providing the 
benefits is determined using the projected unit credit 
method.

Actuarial valuations are conducted on an annual basis 
by independent actuaries separately for each plan.

Consideration is given to any event that could impact 
the funds up to the end of the reporting period where 
the interim valuation is performed at an earlier date.

Past service costs are recognised immediately to the 
extent that the benefits are already vested, and are 
otherwise amortised on a straight line basis over the 
average period until the amended benefits become 
vested.

To the extent that, at the beginning of the financial 
year, any cumulative unrecognised actuarial gain or 
loss exceeds ten percent of the greater of the present 
value of the projected benefit obligation and the fair 
value of the plan assets (the corridor), that portion is 
recognised in profit or loss over the expected average 
remaining service lives of participating employees. 
Actuarial gains or losses within the corridor are not 
recognised.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in the year 
in which they arise, in other comprehensive income.

Gains or losses on the curtailment or settlement 
of a defined benefit plan is recognised when the 
company is demonstrably committed to curtailment 
or settlement.
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1.13 Employee benefits (continued)

When it is virtually certain that another party will 
reimburse some or all of the expenditure required 
to settle a defined benefit obligation, the right to 
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset. The 
asset is measured at fair value. In all other respects, 
the asset is treated in the same way as plan assets. In 
profit or loss, the expense relating to a defined benefit 
plan is presented as the net of the amount recognised 
for a reimbursement. 

The amount recognised in the statement of financial 
position represents the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation as adjusted for unrecognised 
actuarial gains and losses and unrecognised past 
service costs, and reduces by the fair value of plan 
assets.

Any asset is limited to unrecognised actuarial losses 
and past service costs, plus the present value of 
available refunds and reduction in future contributions 
to the plan.

1.14 Provisions and contingencies

Provisions are recognised when:

• the company has a present obligation as a result 
of a past event;

• it is probable that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation; and

• a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.

The amount of a provision is the present value of the 
expenditure expected to be required to settle the 
obligation. The amount recognised as a provision 
is the best estimate of the consideration required 
to settle the present obligation at the end of the 
reporting period, taking into account the risks and 
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a 
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated 
to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount 
is the present value of those cash flows (where the 
effect of the time value of money is material).

Where some or all of the expenditure required to 
settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by 
another party, the reimbursement shall be recognised 
when, and only when, it is virtually certain that 
reimbursement will be received if the entity settles 
the obligation. The reimbursement shall be treated 
as a separate asset. The amount recognised for the 
reimbursement shall not exceed the amount of the 
provision.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating 
losses. If an entity has a contract that is onerous, 
the present obligation under the contract shall be 
recognised and measured as a provision. A provision 
for onerous contracts is recognised when the expected 
benefits to be derived by the Company from a contract 
are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its 
obligations under the contract.

Management applies its judgment to the fact of 
patterns and advice it receives from its attorneys, 
advocates and other advisors in assessing if an 
obligation is probable, more likely than not, or remote. 
This judgment application is used to determine if the 
obligation is recognised as a liability or disclosed as a 
contingent liability. Contingent assets and contingent 
liabilities are not recognised. Contingencies are 
disclosed in note 33.

1.15 Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is applied 
using a single model which is a five step-Model. The 
five-step model consist of the following steps:

- Identify the contract(s) with a customer
- Identify the separate performance obligations (PO) 
in the contract
- Determine the transaction price
- Allocate the transaction price to the separate 
performance obligations (PO)
- Recognise revenue when the entity satisfies a 
performance obligations (PO)
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1.15 Revenue from contracts with customers  
(continued)

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the entity satisfies 
a performance obligation by transferring a promised
good or services (i.e an asset) to a customer. An asset 
is transferred when (or as) the customer obtains 
control of that asset.

An entity transfers control of a good or service 
over time and, therefore, satisfies a performance 
obligation and recognizes revenue over time, if one of 
the following criteria is met:

a) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes 
the benefits provided by the entity’s performance as 
the entity performs;

b) the entity’s performance creates or enhances 
an asset (for example, work in progress) that the 
customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; 
or

c) the entity’s performance does not create an asset 
with an alternative use to the entity and the entity 
has an enforceable right to payment for performance 
completed to date. If a performance obligation is not 
satisfied over time in accordance with the above, an 
entity satisfies the performance obligation at a point 
in time.

Measurement

When (or as) a performance obligation is 
satisfied,Company recognises as revenue the amount 
of the transaction price (which excludes estimates of 
variable consideration) that is all allocated to that 
performance obligation. 

Commission revenue

Commission revenue is commission due to Postbank 
for making salary payments on behalf of third parties.
Revenue from rendering of agency services is 
recognised at a point in time when funds collected are 
transferred to the customers.

Transactional /Service charges revenue

Transactional income and expenses are recognised on 
an accrual basis in the period in which the services are
rendered.

Service charges revenue consist of deposit fee, cash 
withdrawal fees, enquiry fees, administration fees; 
fund transfer fees and qualifying criteria fees. These 
charges often relates to charges in respect of personal 
current account and include monthly charges for 
the provision of an account. Therefore revenue from 
these service charges is recognized at a point in time 
(transactional fees) when the customer makes use 
of the account and over time (normal provision of an 
account) when the bank account is kept active.

Other fees

Other fees include fees charged on rejected 
transactions such as declined ATM withdrawals, 
declined purchases and dishonored cheques. This 
revenue is recognized at a point in time when 
transactions are declined.

Interest income and expenses

Interest income and expense are recognised in the 
income statement for all instruments measured at 
amortised cost and fair value through profit and loss 
using the effective interest rate method.

The effective method of calculating the amortised 
cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and of 
allocating the interest income or interest expense over 
the relevant period. The original effective interest rate 
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash payments or receipts (before any consideration 
of future credit losses) through the expected life of the 
financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter 
period to the net carrying amount of the financial 
asset or financial liability.
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1.16 Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions

A foreign currency transaction is recorded, on initial 
recognition in Rands, by applying to the foreign 
currency amount the spot exchange rate between the 
functional currency and the foreign currency at the 
date of the transaction.

At the end of the reporting period:

• foreign currency monetary items are translated 
using the closing rate;

• non-monetary items that are measured in 
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rate at the date of 
the transaction; and

• non-monetary items that are measured at fair 
value in a foreign currency are translated using 
the exchange rates at the date when the fair 
value was determined.

In circumstances where the company receives or 
pays an amount in foreign currency in advance of 
a transaction, the transaction date for purposes 
of determining the exchange rate to use on initial 
recognition of the related asset, income or expense 
is the date on which the company initially recognised 
the non-monetary item arising on payment or receipt 
of the advance consideration.

If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, 
company determines a date of transaction for each 
payment or receipt of advance consideration.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of 
monetary items or on translating monetary items 
at rates different from those at which they were 
translated on initial recognition during the period or in 
previous annual financial statements are recognised 
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is 
recognised to other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in equity, any exchange component of 

that gain or loss is recognised to other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in equity. When a gain or 
loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or 
loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is 
recognised in profit or loss.

Cash flows arising from transactions in a foreign 
currency are recorded in Rands by applying to the 
foreign currency amount the exchange rate between 
the Rand and the foreign currency at the date of the 
cash flow.

1.17 New Accounting Standards

New Standards and Interpretations

Standards, interpretations and amendments to 
published standards that are not yet effective

The following new standards, interpretations and 
amendments to existing standards have been 
published that are applicable for future accounting 
periods that have not been adopted early by the 
company. These standards and interpretations will be 
applied in the first year that they are applicable to SA 
Postbank.

South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
(Registration number 2017/177755/30) Trading as South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020

Accounting Policies



ANNUAL REPORT
2019/20
SOUTH AFRICAN POSTBANK SOC LTD

94
SOUTH AFRICAN POSTBANK SOC LTD | ANNUAL REPORT | 2019/20

1.17 New Accounting Standards (continued)

Topic Summary of requirements Impact

Amendments to references to
Conceptual Framework in IFRS
standards effective (1 January
2020)

Definition of material –
amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 
(1 January 2020)

The main changes to the 
principles in the framework 
have implications for how and 
when assets and liabilities are 
recognised and derecognised in 
the financial statements. It is 
expected that inconsistencies 
between accounting policies and 
the new guidance will be rare.

The definition of ‘material’ 
has been refined and practical 
guidance on applying the concept 
of materiality has been issued.
The revised definition of material 
is: ‘Information is material if 
omitting, misstating or obscuring 
it could reasonably be expected 
to influence decisions that the 
primary users of general purpose 
financial statements make on 
the basis of those financial 
statements, which provide 
financial information about a 
specific reporting entity’

The company is currently in the
process of evaluating the detailed
requirements of the improvements
to assess the impact on 
thefinancial statements.

The company is currently in the
process of evaluating the detailed
requirements of the improvements
to assess the impact on 
thefinancial
statements
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1.18 Other accounting policies

1.18.1 Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to 
the entity that is preparing its financial statements. 
A person or a close member of that person’s family is 
related to a reporting entity if that person has control 
or joint control of the reporting entity, has significant 
influence over the reporting entity or is a member 
of the key management personnel of the reporting 
entity or of a parent of the reporting entity. Postbank 
operates in an economic environment currently 
dominated by entities directly or indirectly owned 
by the South African government. As a result of the 
constitutional independence of all three spheres of
government (national, provincial and local) in South 
Africa, only state owned entities and Constitutional 
Constitutions will be disclosed as related parties.

Close family members of key management personnel 
are considered to be those family members who 
may be expected to influence or be influenced by 
key management individuals in their dealings with 
Postbank. Other related party transactions are also 
disclosed in terms of the requirements of IAS 24. The 
objective of the standard and the financial statements 
is to provide relevant and reliable information and, 
therefore, materiality is considered in the disclosure 
of these transactions.

Relationships between a shareholder, Key 
Management personnel and other state entities are 
disclosed irrespective of whether there have been 
transactions between them. Postbank discloses the 
name of the shareholder and the ultimate controlling 
party.

1.18.2 Irregular expenditure

Irregular expenditure as defined in section 1 of 
the PFMA is expenditure other than unauthorized 
expenditure, incurred in contravention of or that is not 
in accordance with a requirement of any applicable 
legislation.

Irregular expenditure that was incurred and 
identified during the current financial and which was 
condoned before year end and/or before finalization 
of the financial statements must also be recorded 
appropriately in the irregular expenditure register.
In such an instance, no further action is also required 
with the exception of updating the note to the 
financial statements.

Where irregular expenditure was incurred in the 
previous financial year and is only condoned in the 
following financial year, the register and the disclosure 
note to the financial statements must be updated 
with the amount condoned.

Treasury Regulation 11.2 requires an accounting 
officer of a department or constitutional institution 
to take effective and appropriate steps to timeously 
collect all money due to their relevant institutions. The 
accounting authority of a public entity must do the 
same in terms of the debt management policy of the 
public entity.

1.18.3 Fruitless and Wasteful expenditure

Fruitless expenditure means expenditure which was 
made in vain and would have been avoided had 
reasonable care been exercised.

All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful 
expenditure is recognised as an expense in the 
statement of financial performance in the year that 
the expenditure was incurred.

The expenditure is classified in accordance with 
the nature of the expense, and where recovered, 
it is subsequently accounted for as revenue in the 
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive 
Income.
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1.18 Other accounting policies (continued)

Treasury Regulations 11.2 requires an accounting 
officer of a department or constitution institution 
to take effective and appropriate steps to timeously 
collect all money due to the department or 
constitutional institution. The accounting authority 
of a public entity is required to do the same in terms 
of the debt management policy of the public entity.

1.18.4 Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period are those events, 
favourable and unfavourable, that occur between the 
end of the reporting period and the date when the 
financial statements are authorised for issue.

Two types of events can be identified:

Adjusting event: An event after the reporting period 
that provides further evidence of conditions that 
existed at the end of the reporting period, including 

2. Changes in accounting policy

The annual financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards on a basis consistent with the prior year 
except for the adoption of the following new or revised 
standards.

Application of IFRS 16 Leases

In the current year, the company has adopted IFRS 
16 Leases (as issued by the IASB in January 2016) 
with the date of initial application being 01 April 2019. 
IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining 
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15 
Operating Leases - Incentives and SIC 27 - Evaluating 
the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal 
Form of a Lease.

an event that indicates that the going-concern 
assumption in relation to the whole or part of the
enterprise is not appropriate.

Non-adjusting event: An event after the reporting 
period that is indicative of a condition that arose after 
the end of the reporting period. The entity will adjust 
the amount recognised in the financial statements to 
reflect adjusting events after the reporting date once 
the event occurred.

The entity will disclose the nature of the event and 
an estimate of its financial effect or a statement 
that such estimate cannot be made in respect of all 
material non-adjusting events, where non-disclosure 
could influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of the financial statements.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

IFRS 16 introduces new or amended requirements with 
respect to lease accounting. It introduces significant
changes to the lessee accounting by removing the 
distinction between operating and finance leases 
and requiring the recognition of a right-of-use asset 
and a lease liability at the lease commencement for 
all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of 
low value assets. In contrast to lessee accounting, the 
requirements for lessor accounting have remained 
largely unchanged. Details of these new requirements 
are described in the accounting policy for leases. The 
impact of the adoption of IFRS 16 on the company’s 
financial statement is immaterial as outlined in notes 
1.2 and 1.8;and resulting in lease payment of R7,8 
million for the year .
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

Figures in Rand thousand 2020

2020

2019

2019

3. Property, plant and equipment

Plant and machinery
Furniture and fixtures
IT equipment
Leasehold improvements

Total

Plant and machinery
Furniture and fittings
IT equipment
Leasehold improvements

Property, plant and equipment encumbered as security

None of the property, plant and equipment items has been pledged as security for liabilities.

Net carrying amounts of leased assets

Leasehold improvements

Reconciliation of property, plant and 
equipment - 2020

2 211
1 346

73 477
7

77 041

-
-
-
-

-

(2 168)
(983)

(36 600)
(4)

(39 755)

66
258

46 577
7

46 908

43
363

36 877
3

37 286

17
155

3 887
-

4 059

-
-
-
-

-

-
(10)
(89)

-

(99)

-
-
-
-

-

(40)
(40)

(13 498)
(4)

(13 582)

(38) -

-
-
-
-

-

43
363

36 877
3

37 286

Cost

Opening
balance

Cost

Disposals

Accumulated
depreciation

Transfers from
SAPO

Accumulated
depreciation

Depreciation

Carrying 
value

Additions

Carrying 
value

Total
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

2020
R ‘000

2019
R ‘000

4. Intangible assets

2020

2019

Cost

Cost

Accumulated
depreciation

Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying 
value

Carrying 
value

Computer softwares
Intangible assets under development

Total

Computer softwares
Intangible assets under development

Total

96 137
5 504

101 641

-
-

-

-
-

-

-
-

-

(62 417)
-

(62 417)

33 720
5 504

39 224

Computer software, other
Intangible assets under
development

Pledged as security

None of the intangible assets are pledged as security.

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2020

-
-

-

51 923
5 504

57 427

2 086
-

2 086

(20 289)
-

(20 289)

33 720
5 504

39 224

Opening
balance

AmortisationTransfers from
SAPO TotalAdditions
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5. Loans to Shareholders

Postbank (a division of SAPO at the time) had from 
3rd of September 2003 made individual loans to 
SAPO totaling R 1 494 794 731.78. These loans were 
for 3 months (91 days) priced at the 3 months NCD 
rate. These loans were then consolidated into a single 
loan of R965 794 731.78 from 1st February 2004. The 
consolidated loan was still priced at 3 months NCD 
rate for a 3 months duration. On the 29th September 
2006, the R965 794 731.78 consolidated loan was 
reduced by R828 010 902.58, of which R750 million 
of the amount was paid to CPD by National Treasury 
and remainder of R 78 010 902.58 paid to Postbank 
the division at the time. This resulted in the loan 
balance of R 137 783 829.20, still priced at 3 months 
NCD rate. The loan does not have a repayment date.
Included in the loan amount is the interest.

Exposure to credit risk

Loans receivable inherently expose the bank to credit 
risk, being the risk that the bank will incur financial 
loss if counterparties fail to make payments as they 
fall due.

Loans receivable are subject to the impairment 
provisions of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, which 

requires a loss allowance to be recognised for all 
exposures to credit risk. The loss allowance for loans 
receivable is calculated based on lifetime expected 
losses.

In determining the amount of expected credit losses, 
the bank has taken into account any historic default
experience, the financial positions of the counterparties 
as well as the future prospects in the industries in 
which the counterparties operate.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is the gross 
carrying amount of the loans as presented below. 
The bank does not hold collateral or other credit 
enhancements against SAPO loan receivable.

Due to the fact that the loan has been outstanding for 
years it is then assumed that after 360 days past, the 
bank will not recover any of the outstanding exposure. 
The following had been assumed;

The loan will have a Probability of Default (PD) of 
100%
A loss given default (LGD) of 100%.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

Figures in Rand thousand 2020 2019
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5. Loans to Shareholders (continued)

Reconciliation of loan receivable

The table below shows the reconciliation of the opening balance to the closing balance and the provision for 
expected credit losses.

6. Investments

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

Figures in Rand thousand 2020 2019

Carrying amount of loan receivable 
SAPO Loan receivable
Less Provision for Expected Credit loss

Transfer from SAPO 
Accrued interest for 2020
Provision for Expected credit loss

At fair value through other comprehensive income (OCI)
Negotiable Certificate of Deposits (NCD) 
Promissory Note

At amortised cost 
Corporation for public deposits
Fixed Deposits

Total other financial assets

Current assets
At fair value through OCI
At Amortised cost

2020

Staging

-
-
-

-

-
-
-

-

197 322
(197 322)

-

187 807
9 515

(197 322)

-

2 253 549
988 622

3 242 171

2 144 240
1 678 610

3 822 850

7 065 021

3 242 171
3 822 850

7 065 021

-
-

-

187 807
9 515

(197 322)

-

-
-

-

-
-

-

-

-
-

-

Stage 3Stage 1 TotalStage 2
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

2020
R ‘000

6. Investments (continued)

Financial Assets held at fair value through other comprehensive income (OCI)

Exposure to credit risk

Negotiable Certificate of Deposits and promissory notes inherently exposes the bank to credit risk, being the 
risk that the bank may incur financial loss if counterparties fail to make payments as they fall due.

Credit Loss allowance

The following table shows the Carrying amounts, loss allowance and measurement basis for of expected 
credit losses by credit rating grade

Reconciliation of provision for ECLs

The table below shows the movement in the loss allowance for fixed deposit.

The increase in ECL for the year is due to Postbank’s first adoption of IFRS 9 impairement requirements.

The table below shows the movement in the loss allowance for Promisory Notes.

Negotiable Certificate of Deposits
Promissory Notes

Negotiable certificate of deposit :Loss allowance measured at 12 Month ECL
Increase/(decrease) in provision for ECLs

Promisory Notes :Loss allowance measured at 12 Month ECL
Increase/(decrease) in provision for ECLs

Ba1
Ba3

12m ECL
12m ECL

2 257 474
993 833

3 251 307

(3 925)
(5 211)

(9 136)

3 925

5 211

2 253 549
988 622

3 242 171

-

-

External credit
rating(Moody’s)

Basis of loss
allowance

Gross carrying
amount

Loss
allowance

Net 
Amount

Instrument at fair value through other
comprehensive income (OCI)

2019
R ‘000
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

2020
R ‘000

6. Investments (continued)

Financial Assets held at amortised cost

Exposure to credit risk

Fixed deposits and CPD inherently exposes the Bank to credit risk, being the risk that the bank may incur 
financial loss if counterparties fail to make payments as they fall due.

Credit Loss allowance

The following table shows the Carrying amounts, loss allowance and measurement basis for of expected credi 
losses by credit rating grade

Reconciliation of provision for ECLs

The table below shows the movement in the loss allowance for fixed deposit

The increase in ECL for the year is due to Postbank’s first implementation of IFRS 9 impairment 
requirements

The company has not reclassified any financial assets from cost or amortised cost to fair value, or from 
fair value to cost or amortised cost during the current or prior year.

The table below shows the movement in the loss allowance for Corporation for public deposit(CPD)

Fixed Deposit
Corporation for public
deposits(CPD)

Fixed Deposit:Loss allowance measured at 12 Month ECL
Increase/(decrease) in provision for ECLs

CPD :Loss allowance measured at 12 Month ECL
Increase/(decrease) in provision for ECLs

Ba1
Ba3

12m ECL
12m ECL

1 680 398
1 678 610

3 359 008

(1 788)
(1 160)

(2 948)

1 788

1 160

1 678 610
2 144 240

3 822 850

-

-

External credit
rating(Moody’s)

Basis of loss
allowance

Gross carrying
amount

Loss
allowance

Amortised
cost

Instrument at amortised cost

2019
R ‘000
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

2020
R ‘000

7. Deferred tax

2019
R ‘000

Originating and reversal of temporary differences 84 684 -

At beginning of year - due to the transfer of assets and liabilities from SAPO
Originating and reversal of temporary differences

Account balance
Provisions
Trade and other receivables
Fixed assets
Intangible assets
Available for sale financial assets adjustments
Employee benefits

Total

688
83 996

84 684

1 765
90 869
(1 521)
(3 394)
(4 233)
1 198

84 684

-
-

-

-
-
-
-
-
-

-

Deferred tax Asset

Reconciliation of deferred tax asset

The balance comprises:

An entity shall disclose the amount of deferred tax 
asset and the nature of the evidence supporting its 
recognition, when:

- The utilisation of the deferred tax asset is dependent 
on future taxable profits in excess of the profits arising 
from the reversal of existing taxable differences; and

- the entity has suffered a loss in either the current or 
preceding period in the tax jurisdiction to which the 
deferred tax asset relates.

A deferred tax asset was recognised as there is 
currently indication that the company will have future 
taxable profit to utilise the deferred tax asset against.

Use and sales rate

The deferred tax rate applied to the fair value 
adjustments of financial assets is determined by the 
expected manner of recovery. Where the expected 
recovery of the financial ssets is through sale the 
capital gains tax rate of 22.4% (2019: 22.4%) is used. If 
the expected manner of recovery is through indefinite 
use the normal tax rate of 28% (2019: 28%) is applied.

If the manner of recovery is partly through use and 
partly through sale, a combination of capital gains 
rate and normal tax rate is used.

South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
(Registration number 2017/177755/30) Trading as South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
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2020
R ‘000

2019
R ‘000

8. SAPO Intercompany receivable

9. Inventories

Intercompany receivable
SAPO receivable
Provision for expected credit loss

1 972 800
(10 288)

1 962 512

-
-

-

Included in the intercompany receivable is prefunding by Postbank to SAPO for the purpose of paying SASSA 
beneficiaries.

The loss rate was determined based on historical information and was adjusted for micro economic factors 
by 7% and the probability of Postbank recovering the outstanding debt.

The table below shows the staging of intercompany debtor.

Inventory pledged as security
No inventory has been pledged as security for liabilities

Intercompany debtor 
Provision for expected credit loss

SASSA Cards - Transfer from SAPO
Provision for inventory write-down - Transfer from SAPO

Inventories (write-downs)

1 972 800
(10 288)

1 962 512

-
-

-

-
-

-

- -

82 339
(68 760)

13 579
(13 579)

1 972 800
(10 288)

1 962 512

-
-

-
-

Stage 3Stage 1 TotalStage 2

South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
(Registration number 2017/177755/30) Trading as South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
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2020
R ‘000

2019
R ‘000

10. Trade and other receivables

Financial instruments:
Trade receivables
Less provision for ECL on trade receivables

Trade receivables at amortised cost
Miscellaneous - Parthold fees
Accrued interest
Other receivable

Total trade and other receivables

Split between non-current and current portions

Current assets

566 955
(266 269)

300 686
157 517
2 988
1 315

462 506

462 506

-
-

-
-
-
-

-

-

-
-

-

Financial instrument and non-financial instrument components of trade and other receivables

Exposure to currency risk

The net carrying amounts, in Rand, of trade and other receivables, excluding non-financial instruments, are 
denominated in the following currencies. The amounts have been presented in Rand by converting the foreign 
currency amount at the closing rate at the reporting date.

Forward exchange contracts

Accrued interest and trade receivables are held at amortised cost.

Expected credit losses is provided on trade receivables based on the simplified approach. The Bank used
historically observed default rates (actual write off) over the expected life of the trade receivables adjusted 
as necessary to reflect current conditions to calculate the expected credit losses for trade receivables.

The loss rate was determined based on historical information and was adjusted for micro economic factors 
and the probability of Postbank recovering the outstanding debt.

At amortised cost
Non-financial instruments

Rand Amount
Rand

462 505
1

462 506

462 505

South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
(Registration number 2017/177755/30) Trading as South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
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2020
R ‘000

2019
R ‘000

10. Trade and other receivables (continued)

The table below provides information about the credit quality of trade receivables, where the expected credit 
loss is measured at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses (simplified approach).

Balances outstanding at
reporting date
Provision for Expected credit loss

65 571

(26 459)

39 112

42 2244

(17 104)

25 120

42 002

(17 243)

24 759

41 731

(17 748)

23 983

375 427

(187 714)

187 713

566 955

(266 269)

300 686

Current 30 Days + 60 Days + 90 Days + 120 Days + Total

-
-

-

-
-
-

-

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and overnight short term money market instruments. The
effective interest rate of money market instruments is 4.27%:

The amount reported in as a result of fair value on Investments.

Other reserves represents the difference between assets and liabilities transferred from 
SAPO to Postbank on 01 April 2019 as required by Postbank Act.

Exposure to currency risk

Bank balances
Other cash and cash equivalents

Transfer from SAPO
Fair value movement in the current year
Deferred tax charge

Other reserves

4 047 000
469 663

1 126
17 771

(4 233)

3 474 899

4 516 663

14 664 -

11. Cash and cash equivalents

12. Fair value adjustment

-
Rand Amount
Rand 4 516 663

13. Other reserves

South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
(Registration number 2017/177755/30) Trading as South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
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Provision for leave pay
Provision for bonus
Provision for long service cash
Provision for long service leave

-
-
-
-

-

1 768
387
534
251

2 940

1 440
17
-

45

1 502

(1)
-

(120)
(56

(177)

2
-
-
11

13

3 209
404
251
251

4 278

Opening
balance

Utilised 
during
the year

Transfers from
SAPO (Gain)/

Losses
Additions

(Movement for
the year,

interest and 
service cost)

Total

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

2020
R ‘000

2019
R ‘000

14. Provisions
Reconciliation of provisions - 2020

-
-

-

Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities

1 986
2 292

4 278

Leave obligation

Employees are entitled to 22 days leave per annum. 
As at 31 March the remaining annual leave may be 
carried forward for a period of six (6) months after 
year end, otherwise the leave will be forfeited. Any 
leave balance remaining when an employee leaves 
the service of Postbank for whatever reason (e.g. 
resignation, death, retirement) is encashed at that 
time.The balance that remains when an employee 
leaves the service of the company will be encashed at 
the applicable salary rate.

Capped leave

In addition to their “normal” current accrued leave 
some staff members also have an amount of “capped” 
leave.

During 2001 and 2002 the South African Post Office 
(SOC) Limited negotiated with staff in different 
categories that leave accrued up till that date would 
in future only be encashed at the salary as at that 
time. This leave can be taken as leave or encashed, 
but only after all other accrued leave has been taken. 
Any balance that remains when an employee leaves 

the service of the company will be encashed at the 
applicable salary rate for 2001 or 2002
respectively.

Long service leave awards

The company has a policy of increasing leave days 
when employees reach ten years in service within 
Postbank’s employment. The increase in leave days is 
from 22 to 24 days in the employee’s tenth period only.

Long service cash awards

The company has a once off cash award policies in 
respect of long service. The company has valued this 
benefit in the current period, and shall be valuing the 
benefit annually.A cash lump sum award is payable on 
reaching a certain milestone.

Provision for bonus

Provision for bonus consist of 13th cheque. 13th cheque 
is made up monthly savings withheld by Postbank 
from employees’ salaries.

South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
(Registration number 2017/177755/30) Trading as South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
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The assumptions used are based on statistics and 
market data as at 31 March 2020. The bank have 
set the discount rate by using the best fit discount 
rate at 31 March 2020 based on the yields from the 
zero coupon government bond curve. The best fit 
has been determined taking into account the cash-

flow weighted duration of the liabilities. The general 
inflation assumption is used to estimate the base rate 
for determining the rate at which the future salaries 
will increase. The bank have estimated the market’s 
pricing of inflation by comparing the yields on index 
linked government bonds and long-term government 
bonds.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

2020
R ‘000

2019
R ‘000

14. Provisions (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The tables below illustrate the likely impact on Postbank that certain changes to the underlying assumptions
would have on the results. (Figures in R’000)

Long Service Cash Awards

Long Service Cash Awards

Postbank
Cost / (Saving)

Postbank
Cost / (Saving)

Postbank
Cost / (Saving)

Discount rate
Salary inflation
A Long term price inflation

Postbank
Cost / (Saving)

414
-

414
-

251
-

251
-

433
19

317
(97)

195
(56

266
15

396
(18)

445
31

275
24

11,35 %
7,11 %
6,11 %

238
(13)

Current
Assumption

11,35%

Current
Assumption

Age 59

Current
Assumption

Age 59

Current
Assumption

11,35%

1% decrease
10,35%

All members
age 57

All members
age 57

1% decrease
10,35%

1% increase
12,35%

All 
members

age 61

All 
members

age 61

Current
Valuation 31
March 2020

1% increase
12,35%

Discount Rate

Retirement Age

Retirement Age

Actuarial assumptions

Discount Rate

South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
(Registration number 2017/177755/30) Trading as South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
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2020
R ‘000

2019
R ‘000

15. Deposits due to customers

-

-

Deposits due to customers
Transactional, term deposits and savings accounts

Other deposits
SASSA grants

5 290 411

5 131 068

Deposit products include current accounts, savings 
accounts and term deposits. Current accounts and 
savings accounts are all overnight deposits which are 
all payable on demand. Term deposits vary from one 
month to two years. All amounts owed to depositors 
are classified as financial liabilities at cost. Interest 
payable on both current accounts and term deposits 
is capitalised monthly. All account holders are 
individuals within the Republic of South Africa.

Other depositors represent the grants payment that 
has been deposited to the SASSA grant beneficiaries’ 
bank accounts (transactional and savings accounts) 
and the amount was not withdrawn by the 
beneficiary as at 31 March 2020.Transactional and 
savings accounts are all overnight deposit which are 
all payable on demand. All

Interest paid on overnight deposit accounts is fixed 
and varies from 0.0% to 3.95% per annum depending 
on the account balance. Term deposits attract 
interest which varies from 4.95% to 5.41% per annum 
depending on the term and all rates are linked to 
prime rate.

amounts owed to the beneficiaries are classified as 
financial liabilities at cost. Interest payable on both
transactional and savings accounts are capitalised 
monthly. All account holders are individuals within the 
Republic of South Africa.

16. Other Deposits (Grants)

South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
(Registration number 2017/177755/30) Trading as South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
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2020
R ‘000

2019
R ‘000

17. Trade and other payables

18. Interest and similar income

19. Interest expense and similar charges

20. Transactional and service fee income

Trade payables
Acrued expenses
VAT
Other payables

Commissions received
Fee and Transactional Income
Other Income

2 207
51 366
26 060
20 299

99 932

5 726
1 639 965

15

1 645 676

-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-

-

Financial instruments:

-

Financial instrument and non-financial instrument components of 
trade and other payables
At amortised cost 99 932

Exposure to currency risk

The net carrying amounts, in Rand, of trade and other 
payables, excluding non-financial instruments, are
denominated in the following currencies. The amounts 

have been presented in Rand by converting the foreign
currency amount at the closing rate at the reporting 
date.

Rand Amount
Rand

Revenue from contracts customers
interest and service income

Interest expense

-

-

-

99 932

653 697

99 092

South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
(Registration number 2017/177755/30) Trading as South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
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2020
R ‘000

2019
R ‘000

21. Operating profit (loss)

Operating profit/(loss) for the year is R291 million stated after charging 
(crediting) the following, amongst others:

Auditor’s remuneration - external
Audit fees

Remuneration, other than to employees
Consulting and professional services

Salaries, wages, bonuses and other 
benefits

Depreciation and amortisation
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets

Total depreciation and amortisation

Impairment losses
Inventory write-off
Impairment and fraud losses

-

-

-

-
-

-

-
-

-

1 331

8 173

98 756

13 583
20 289

33 872

13 579
62 826

76 405

Employee costs

Trade and other receivables
Loans to shareholders
Advances
Investments

266 269
197 323
10 288
12 085

485 965

-
-
-
-

-

Movement in credit loss allowances

Other

Transactional expenses
Support costs
Software expenses

889 522
195 242 
60 655

-
-
-

South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
(Registration number 2017/177755/30) Trading as South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
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2020
R ‘000

2019
R ‘000

22. Employee costs

Employee costs
Basic
13th Cheque
Medical aid - company
UIF contributions
SDL
Leave pay provision charge
Home Owners allowances
Motor Scheme
Other short term costs
Pension contribution

81 115
1 464
 4 788
4 788
389
851

1 822
86
123

1 449
6 669

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-98 756

23. Depreciation and amortisation

24. Taxation

Depreciation
Property, plant and equipment

Amortisation
Intangible assets

-

-

13 583

20 289

Total depreciation and amortisation
Depreciation
Amortisation

Applicable tax rate

Net deferred tax raised

-
-

-

28,00 %

-%

28,00 %

13 583
20 289

33 872

28,00 %

1,63 %

29,63 %

Major components of the tax expense

Reconciliation of the tax expense

Reconciliation between applicable tax rate and average effective tax rate.

Current
Local income tax - current period

Deferred
Deferred tax

-

-

-

169 975

(88 917)

81 058
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24. Taxation (continued)

25. Tax paid

26. Expected Credit loss

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

2020
R ‘000

2019
R ‘000

Reconciliation between accounting profit and tax expense
Accounting profit

Tax at applicable tax rate 28%

-

-

292 553

81 915

Tax effect on adjustments on taxable income
Non deductible expenses/(Exempt income)
Reversing temporary difference

Income tax receivable
Current tax for the year recognised in profit or loss
Tax Paid

Current tax for the year recognised in profit or loss
Balance at end of the year

-
-

-

-
-

-

-
-

-

83
(940)

81 058

169 975
(228 101)

(58 126)

(169 975)
(58 126)

(228 101)

Trade and other receivables
Investments
Intercompany loan
Advances

266 269
12 085
197 323
10 288

485 965

-
-
-
-

-

Expected credit loss

South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
(Registration number 2017/177755/30) Trading as South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
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2020
R ‘000

2019
R ‘000

27. Commitments

28. Related parties

Already contracted for but not provided for
•  Property, plant and equipment
•  Intangible assets

-
-

2 654
15 065

Authorised capital expenditure

Capital commitments are disclosed in respect of 
contracted amounts for which delivery is outstanding 
at the accounting date. Capital Commitments 
represent goods or services that have been ordered, 
but no delivery has taken place at the reporting date. 
These amounts are not recognised in the statement 

of financial position as a liability or as expenditure 
in the statement of comprehensive income, but are 
however disclosed as part of the disclosure notes. 
Management expects these capital commitments to 
be financed from internally generated cash and other 
borrowings:

Relationships
Ultimate holding company
Holding company
Members of key management
Related parties with significant influence

Post employment benefit plan for employees
Other relationships

South African Government
South African Post Office SOC Ltd (Post Office)
Refer to note 29
National Treasury and Department of
Communications and Digital Technologies (DCDT)
Post Office Retirement Fund
SA Government Entities

Related party balances

Balances with related parties
South African Revenue Services - Income tax receivable

Expenditure from related parties
Other public entities
South African Post Office SOC Limited - Support costs
South African Revenue Services - income tax expense

Fees and other income from related parties
South African Post Office -Sassa related revenue
Land and Agricultural Bank - Interest

Transactions with authorities and regulators
Other public entities

Funds collected on behalf of the related parties
Post Office Retirement Fund

Other balances with related parties

-

-
-
-

-
-

-

-

58 126

7 109
195 491
169 975

519 795
49 301

1 629

6 669

South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
(Registration number 2017/177755/30) Trading as South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
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2020
R ‘000

2019
R ‘000

28. Related parties (continued)

Land & Agricultural Bank
Investment
Provision for expected credit loss

South African Post Office
Advances receivable
Provision for expected credit loss

South African Post Office
SASSA revenue receivable
Provision for expected credit loss

South African Post Office
Loan
Provision for expected credit loss

Compensation to directors and other key management
Short-term employee benefits

Transferred assets and liabilities (From South African Post Office as 
required by Postbank Act as at 1st April 2019)
Property,plant and equipments
Intangible Assets
Intercompany loan (SAPO)
Investments
Intercompany debtor
Inventory
Trade receivables
Other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Provisions
Deposits from the public
Other deposits (Grants)
Trade payables
Accruals and other payables
Other Comprehensive Income (Reserves)

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-

-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-

993 833
(5 211)

988 622

1 972 800
(10 288)

1 962 512

566 955
(266 269)

300 686

197 323
(197 323)

-

3 109

46 906
57 427

187 808
6 101 875
944 134
13 579

652 354
70 031

1 195 928
(2 880)

(5 267 828)
(579 518)

(1 126)
70 127
(1 126)

3 474 894

South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
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2020
R ‘000

2019
R ‘000

29. Directors’ and prescribed officer’s emoluments

 Executive 2020

Mr S Adam
Mr I Van der Merwe
Ms IM Pule
Mr A Kandeh
Mr. T Lengane
Mr. N Moja
Mr. Y Naidoo
Mr B April
Mr. P Jacobs
Mr. R Mashau
Ms. Z Chonco

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10
11

2 827
1 146
1 550
926
339
755
331

1 810
759
447
535

45
53
16
16
2
4
5
16
4
5
2

-
-
-
-
-
-

185
-
-
-

108

2 869
1 199
1 566
942
341
759
521

1 826
763
452
645

Emoluments Other benefits* Compensation
for loss of

office

Total

* Other benefits include mainly telephone and acting 
allowance.

1. Acting MD: Postbank. Suspended on 6 August 
2019, dismissed on 14 August 2020.

2. Appointed as Acting Managing Director: Postbank 
on 7 August 2019.

3. Appointed as Interim CFO: Postbank on 1 August 
2019 and resigned on 31st July 2020

4. Appointed as CIO on 1 June 2015. Suspended on 
14 August 2019

5. Appointed as SM: Postbank Business/Product 
Development on 1 December 2016. Acting as CCO 
from 15 November 2019.

6. Appointed as SM: Project Management on 15 
January 2015 . Acting as Head: PMO from 14 
August 2019.

7. Appointed as CCO on 19 January 2015. Retired on 
22 October 2019.

8. Appointed as Interim CRO on 1 August 2019. 
Retired on 31 May 2020.

9. Appointed as HR Head on 1 November 2014. Acting 
as CHRO from 6 August 2019 .

10. Appointed as Interim CIO: Postbank on 13 January 
2020

11. Appointed as SM: Finance on 1 September 2015. 
Acting as CFO from 1 April 2019 – 22 August 2019.

South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
(Registration number 2017/177755/30) Trading as South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020
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2020
R ‘000

2019
R ‘000

29. Directors’ and prescribed officer’s emoluments (continued)

Non-executive 2020

2019

Prescribed officers 
2020

Ms N Noxaka
Mr A Seymour
Ms B Mothelesi
Mr E Netshivhulana
Mr M Barnes

Ms N Noxaka
Mr A Seymour
Ms B Mothelesi
Mr E Netshivhulana

First Corporate Secretaries

12
13
14
15
16

12
13
14
15

1 088 072
463 644
495 178
572 401

-

47 953
179 372
22 633
54 219

-

725 257
441 795
330 897
318 581

1 816 530

417 411

1 136 025
643 016
517 811
626 620

-

725 257
441 795
330 897
318 581

1 816 530

417 411

Directors’ 
fees

Travel
expenses and
other benefits

Directors’ fees

Emoluments

Total

Total

Total

12. Appointed as Chairperson of the board from 2017
13. Appointed as Non-executive independent member of the board from 2017
14. Appointed as Non-executive independent member of the board from 2017
15. Appointed as Non-executive independent member of the board from 2017
16. Appointed as Non-executive member of the board from 2017 and resigned 1st of August 2019

* Emoluments include both director’s fees for meetings and annual /quarterly retainer 
fees as well as travel and accomodation expenses for members.

South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
(Registration number 2017/177755/30) Trading as South African Postbank (SOC) Ltd
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2020
R ‘000

2019
R ‘000

30. Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

31. Irregular expenditure

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure
Opening balance
Add : Fruitless and wasteful expenditure - Incurred in prior years but disclosed in current year
Add : Fruitless and wasteful expenditure - Incurred in current year
Less: Expenditure written off

-
-
-
-

-

-
123 612

36
(36)

123 612

Analysis of fruitless and wasteful expenditure under investigation per age
classification

Prior year

Irregular expenditure
Opening balance
Current period irregular expenditure

-

-
-

-

123 612

-
23 065

23 065

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure to the amount of R123 million relates to interest, license procured but not 
being utilised and advance payment for unused software.

Analysis of awaiting condonation per age classification
Current period -23 065

All irregular expenditure incurred in the 2019/20 
financial year was legitimate business expenditure 
required in terms of commodities or services procured. 
Irregular expenditure relates to approval of statement 

of work and agreement without proper evidence that 
SCM processes were followed and services being 
rendered without a valid contract.
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

2020 2019

32. Financial Instruments and Risk Management

30.1 Market Risk

30.1.1 Interest rate risk

Postbank in its natural pursuit of its business 
activities exposes itself to a number of financial risks. 
The objective of risk management is to find balance 
between risk and reward by implementing a sound 
system of financial risk control to mitigate such risk.

South African Postbank SOC Ltd.’s (“Postbank”) 
Risk and Capital Management Committee (“RCMC”) 
is constituted as a Committee of the Board and is 
answerable to the Board and reports directly to the 
Board. The primary objective and mandate of the 
RCMC is to assist the Postbank Board in discharging 
responsibilities in terms of the management of risk 
and capital across the Postbank.

The RCMC is responsible for assisting the Board in its 
oversight of Postbank’s risk by reviewing Postbank’s 
risk appetite in relation to capital, market risk 
(comprising foreign exchange risk and interest rate 
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk and reviewing the 
effectiveness of the risk management framework.

ALCO is responsible for the overall oversight of the 
financial risk assessment and capital management 
of the Postbank. The primary function of the ALCO is 
to monitor and provide guidance to the Treasury unit 
on the management of the financial risks through the 
implementation of a sound system of financial risk 
control that complies with the PFMA, Postbank Act, 
and the Bank’s Act as well as the Postbank Enterprise 
Risk Management framework. The ALCO also has a 
further strategic function to recommend to RCMC for 
approval of the Board the risk appetite, tolerance and 
limits related to the financial risk, these expressed 
through the Treasury Policy, ALCO policy, Liquidity 
risk policy, interest rate risk policy, Counterparty 
credit risk policy, Capital adequacy statement, and 
Investment policy.

Treasury unit of Postbank assess, analyse and 
manages financials risks relating to the balance 

sheet of Postbank and reports on monthly basis the 
degree and magnitude of risks to the ALCO, RCMC 
and ultimately the Board. These risks include market 
risk (comprising of interest rate risk and foreign 
currency risk), credit risk, and liquidity risk. Given the 
level of volatility in the markets, Postbank’s Treasury 
continuously seeks to minimise the effects of the 
negative impact of these risks by implementing risk 
mitigating strategies in line with the approved ALCO 
policies.markets, Postbank’s Treasury continuously 
seeks to minimise the effects of the negative impact of 
these risks by implementing risk mitigating strategies 
in line with the approved ALCO policies.

Market risk is the risk that changes in the market 
prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange 
rates will affect the fair value and future cash flows of 
a financial instruments. Market risk arises from open 
positions in interest rates and foreign currencies, both 
which are exposed to general and specific market 
movements and changes in the level of volatility. The
Treasury unit, with oversight of ALCO, is responsible 
for the management of the market risk and to control 
market risk exposures within acceptable parameters 
and in line with the policies.

Interest rate risk is the risk that Postbank’s earnings 
or economic value of financial assets will decline as a 
result of changes in interest rates.

Postbank has interest rate risk arising from certain of 
its financial assets and liabilities. Assets giving rise to 
interest rate risk include cash and cash equivalents, 
negotiable certificates of deposits, and loans to parent 
company which earn interest at a variable rates. 
Liabilities giving rise to interest rate risk include some 
of our products that earn variable rate. Postbank’s
exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily from the 
following:
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- Re-pricing risk in the Postbank’s portfolio as a 
result of the financial assets and financial liabilities 
(mismatch risk), being the timing difference in the 
maturity (for fixed) and re- pricing (for floating rate) 
of the Postbank’s assets and liabilities.

- Yield curve risk, which includes the changes in the 
shape and slope of the yield curve. The risk of falling 
interest rates at the
time of the investment or re-investment of the 
Postbank’s surplus cash or the risk of the cash 
reserves maturing being reinvested at lower rates 
than expected.

The Treasury unit, with oversight of ALCO and 
within the prescripts of the interest rate risk policy, 
is mandated to monitor and manage the Postbank’s 

interest rate risk. The interest rate risk policy 
prescribes the technique to be used to measure and 
control interest rate risk. Postbank uses the re-pricing 
mismatch which measure the timing mismatches in 
the maturities and re-pricing frequency of assets and 
liabilities.

Postbank also calculates the sensitivity of the financial 
assets and financial liabilities to the interest rate risk. 
The sensitivity is calculated by interpolating along the 
JIBAR and FRA quoted rates curve. The interpolation 
is performed to coincide with the maturities and re-
investments of the principal cash flows. The interest 
rates curve is shocked by a standard 100bp parallel
increase or decrease in the JIBAR and FRA quoted 
rates curve.

32. Financial Instruments and Risk Management  (Continued)

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

2020
R ‘000

2019
R ‘000

Table 1: Cash flow interest rate risk

The table below reflect net interest income sensitivity for a given 1% up and downward shift in interest rates 
at year-end.

Increase (Decrease)

1% increase in interest rates
1% decrease in interest rates

-
-

-

36 080 604
(34 508 017)

1 572 587

Cash at bank
Call Deposit
Fixed Deposit
Negotiable Certificate of D eposit
Promissory Notes
Postbank CPD
Loans to Group Companies
Trade and other receivables

4 047 000
465 000
285 000
100 000

-
2 145 000
197 000
463 000

7 702 000

-
-

439 000
400 000
310 000

-
-
-

1 149 000

-
-

531 000
830 000
100 000

-
-
-

1 461 000

-
-

340 000
845 000
620 000

-
-
-

1 805 000

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-

Demand 
and

u p to 1
month

Greater than
3 months

up to 6
months

Greater than 1
m onth up

to 3
m onths

Greater than
1 2 months

Additions
(Movement for

the year,
interest and 
service cost)

Assets
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32. Financial Instruments and Risk Management (Continued)

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

2020
R ‘000

2019
R ‘000

Cash at bank
Call Deposit
Fixed Deposit
Negotiable Certificate of Deposit
Promissory Notes
Postbank CPD
Loans to Group Companies
Trade and other receivables
SAPO Intercompany receivables
Deferred tax
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

1 972 000
84 000
39 000
37 000

2 132 000

4 047 000
465 000

1 595 000
2 175 000
1 030 000
2 145 000
197 000
463 000

1 972 000
84 000
39 000
37 000

14 249 000

Non-financial
instruments Total

Non-interest
s ensitive

itemsAssets

Savings deposit
Term deposits

(3 914 000)
(9 000)

(3 923 000)

-
(31 000)

(31 000)

-
(41 000)

(41 000)

-
(26 000)

(26 000)

-
(9 000)

(9 000)

Demand and
up to 1
month

Greater than 6
month up

to 1 2
months

Greater than 1
month up

to 3
m onths

Greater than
1 2 months

Greater than 3
month up

to 6
m onths

Liabilities and Equity

Savings deposit
Transactional accounts
Term deposits
Grant accounts
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Equity

-
(1 202 000)

-
(5 131 000)

-
-
-

(6 333 000)

-
-
-
-

(153 000)
(4 000)

(3 700 000)

(3 857 000)

(3 914 000)
(1 202 000)

(116 000)
(5 131 000)
(153 000)
(4 000)

(3 700 000)

(14 220 000)

Non-financial
instruments

TotalNon-interest
sensitive

itemsLiabilities and Equity
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32. Financial Instruments and Risk 
Management (continued)

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

2020
R ‘000

2019
R ‘000

The table above summarises the re- pricing exposure 
to interest rate risk through grouping assets and 
liabilities into re-pricing categories, determined to be 
the earlier of the contractual re- pricing or maturity 
date.

The gap measure a bank’s net interest sensitivity 
through the last day of the time bucket by comparing 
how many assets and liabilities re price through that 
last day. Thus, the gap of R3.5 billion indicates that 
the bank is expected to re price R3.5 billion more of 
RSAs than RSLs during the next 30 days.

30.1.2 Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk of financial loss 
resulting from adverse movements in foreign currency 
exchange rates. Foreign exchange risk in the Postbank 
arises as a mainly from license obligations procured 
from foreign supplies.

Postbank primary risk objective is to protect the net 
earnings against the impact of adverse exchange 
rate movements. ALCO is mandated to manage this 
risk by application of appropriate foreign currency 
derivatives or other appropriate strategy to ensure 
adherence to the Postbank’s risk appetite. As at 
the 31st March 2020, Postbank had no open foreign 
currency position.

30.2 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that Postbank will not be able 
to meet both expected and unexpected current and 
future cash flow needs without negatively affecting 

either the daily operations or the financial condition 
of Postbank.Liquidity is held primarily in the form 
of money market instruments such as call deposits, 
negotiable certificate of deposits and promissory 
notes.

Postbank’s exposure to liquidity risk arises mainly as a 
result of the following:

Unexpected withdrawal of cash by depositors; and
Daily working capital requirements.

Treasury unit of Postbank is specifically mandated by 
ALCO to ensure that the banks maintains an adequate 
buffer of High Quality Liquid Assets and ensures that 
cash flow positions are measured/projected under 
various interest rate scenarios on regular basis. 
Furthermore, on a monthly basis the Treasury unit 
performs behavioural and stress analyses to identify
business as usual as well as potential stress cash 
flow requirements. ALCO also monitors and controls 
adherence to the risk appetite and regulatory 
requirements, using l liquidity risk such as the Liquidity 
Coverage Ratio (LCR) and Net Stable Funding Ratio 
(NSFR). As the 31 March 2020, Postbank had R2.1 
billion of HQLA, as investment held with the CPD, 
this was in line with the prescript of the Liquidity risk 
policy.

The tables below details Postbank’s contractual 
maturity analysis for financial liabilities and financial 
assets. The figures have been compiled based on the 
face value of financial assets and financial liabilities 
based on the maturity date on which the Postbank 
can be required to settle the liabilities.
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

2020
R ‘000

2019
R ‘000

Cash at bank
Call Deposit
Fixed Deposit
Negotiable Certificate of D eposit
Promissory Notes
Postbank CPD
Loans to Group Companies
Trade and other receivables

4 047 000
465 000
285 000
100 000

-
2 145 000
197 000
463 000

7 702 000

-
-

439 000
400 000
310 000

-
-
-

1 149 000

-
-

531 000
830 000
100 000

-
-
-

1 461 000

-
-

340 000
845 000
620 000

-
-
-

1 805 000

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-

Demand 
and

up to 1
month

Greater than
3 months

up to 6
months

Greater than 1
month up

to 3
months

Greater than
1 2 months

Additions
(Movement for

the year,
interest and 
service cost)

Assets

Table 2: Contractual Maturity Liquidity Gap

Cash at bank
Call Deposit
Fixed Deposit
Negotiable Certificate of Deposit
Promissory Notes
Postbank CPD
Loans to Group Companies
Trade and other receivables
SAPO Intercompany receivables
Deferred tax
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

1 972 000
84 000
39 000
37 000

2 132 000

4 047 000
465 000

1 595 000
2 175 000
1 030 000
2 145 000
197 000
463 000

1 972 000
84 000
39 000
37 000

14 249 000

Non-
financialas
set/liability

Total
Assets

32. Financial Instruments and Risk 
Management (continued)
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Savings deposit
Transactional Accounts
Term deposits
Grants deposits

(3 914 000)
(1 202 000)

(9 000)
(5 131 000)

(10 256 000)

-
-

(31 000)
-

(31 000)

-
-

(41 000)
-

(41 000)

-
-

(26 000)
-

(26 000)

-
-

(9 000)
-

(9 000)

Demand and
up to 1
month

Greater than 6
m onth up

to 1 2
months

Greater than 1
month up

to 3
months

Greater than
1 2 months

Greater than 3
m onth up

to 6
m onths

Liabilities

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

2020
R ‘000

2019
R ‘000

32. Financial Instruments and Risk 
Management (continued)

Savings deposit
Transactional Accounts
Term deposits
Grants deposits
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Equity

-
-
-
-

(99 000)
(4 000)

(3 700 000)

(3 803 000)

(3 914 000)
(1 202 000)

(116 000)
(5 131 000)

(99 000)
(4 000)

(3 700 000)

(14 166 000)

Non-
financialas
set/liability

TotalLiabilities

Postbank uses cash flow forecasts and cumulative 
maturity gap analysis to assess and monitor its 
liquidity requirements and risk levels. A maturity gap 
profile report forms part of the asset and liability 
report which is reviewed and analysed by the ALCO 
on a periodic basis. Calculated on a nominal maturity 
basis, the 12-month cumulative liquidity gap as at 31 
March 2020 was approximately R1.7 billion.

30.5 Credit Risk

Credit Risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will 
default on its contractual obligations resulting in 
financial loss to Postbank.

Postbank’s exposure to credit risk arises primarily 
from investment activities which is termed the 

counterparty credit risk and credit risk emanating 
from the lending business.

The counterparty credit risk arising from Treasury 
activities is segmented into two types:

Pre-settlement risk - the risk that the counterparty 
will not honour the terms of a contract and default 
before the contract’s presettlement date, prematurely 
ending the contract. Limits to manage pre-settlement 
risk are the credit ceiling and individual counterparty 
limits.

Settlement risk - the risk that a counterparty will 
not honour the terms of a contract at the time of 
settlement. Settlement risk is the risk associated with 
default at settlement and any timing differences in 
settlement between two parties.
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32. Financial Instruments and Risk 
Management (continued)

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

2020
R ‘000

2019
R ‘000

Counterparty credit risk is managed in terms of the 
Board approved counterparty credit risk policy. The 
Postbank’s credit standards are based on ratings from 
credit rating agencies such as Fitch Ratings, Standard 
and Poor’s, Moody’s Investors Service (or any other 
internationally accredited rating agency. The minimum 
credit ratings allowable for all counterparties in terms 
of Postbank policy is national rating of BBB (zaf)/ 
Baa3-za or zaBBB- and local currency Baa3/BBB-. All 
counterparty limits are reviewed in line with balance 
sheet growth and at least on an annual basis. The 
Market risk function of Postbank monitors on a daily 
basis compliance with the approved counterparty 

Postbank does not hold any collateral for all our exposures.

Credit Quality

Postbank uses external risk ratings and forecast of future economic conditions to assess deterioration in the 
credit quality of a financial assets

The following table shows information about the credit quality of financial assets measured at amortised 
cost and financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss.

credit limits and any breach is reported immediately 
to ALCO and RCMC.

Postbank, through its ALCO and RCMC is in process 
developing an impairment policy and model for 
financial instruments in line with IFRS 9.

The credit risk emanating from lending, while in its 
incubation stages will be managed through the credit 
policy which in turn encompasses comprehensive 
credit procedures, impairments models, limits and 
governance structures.

Cash and cash equivalent
Financial Assets at amortised cost
Financial Assets at fair value through OC
Trade and other receivable 
Loan to shareholders

4 516 670
3 825 798
3 251 307
728 775
197 323

12 519 873

-
(2 948)
(9 136)

(266 269)
(197 323)

(475 676)

-
-
-
-
-

-

Provision for
E CLs

Collateral
h eld as
s ecurity

Maximum
exposure
to credit

risk
Credit exposure per class of financial instruments
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

2020
R ‘000

2019
R ‘000

The amounts in the table represent gross carrying amounts.

32. Financial Instruments and Risk 
Management (continued)

Gross carrying amount
Provision for ECL

Gross carrying amount
Provision for ECL

Gross carrying amount
Provision for ECL

Financial assets at amortised cost-Stage 1 :12-month ECL

Financial assets at OCI-Stage1:12-month E CL

Loan to shareholders -Stage 3: Lifetime E CL – credit impaired

3 822 850
(2 948)

3 819 902

3 251 307
(9 136)

3 242 171

-
-

-

-
-

-

-
-

-

-
-

-

-
-

-

-
-

-

197 323
(197 323)

-

3 822 850
(2 948)

3 819 902

3 251 307
(9 136)

3 242 171

197 323
(197 323)

-

Stage 3

Stage 3

Stage 3

Stage 1

Stage 1

Stage 1

Total

Total

Total

Stage 2

Stage 2

Stage 2

Assets migrate through the three stages based on 
the change in credit quality since initial recognition.

Postbank applies a simplified approach for Trade and 
receivables.

Cash and cash equivalents

Postbank held cash and cash equivalents of R4.5 billion 
at 31 March 2020. The cash and cash equivalents are 
held with financial institution counterparties that are 
rated at least AA to AA+, based on a national scale 
credit rating.

Expected credit losses

Expected credit losses are defined as probability-
weighted estimates of credit losses over the expected 
life of a financial instrument.

A loss is defined as a shortfall between the cash 
flows that are due to an entity in accordance with 
the contract and the cash flows the entity expects to 
receive.

12-Month ECLs

12-month ECL is the expected credit loss that results 
from default events occurring within 12 months after 
the reporting date or the remaining expected life of 
the exposures, whichever is the soonest.
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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32. Financial Instruments and Risk 
Management (continued)

Lifetime ECLs

Lifetime ECLs are the expected credit losses that 
result from all possible default events over the 
expected life of a financial instrument contractual 
terms of the financial instrument

Significant increase in credit risk

When determining whether the risk of default on a 
financial instrument has increased significantly since 
initial recognition, Postbank considers reasonable and 
supportable information that is relevant and available 
without undue cost or effort.

This includes both quantitative and qualitative 
information and analysis, based on the Postbank’s 
historical experience and expert credit assessment 
and including forward-looking information.

Monitoring

When assessing whether the credit risk on an 
intercompany receivable / investment asset, that 
does not meet the definition of a trade receivable, 
has increased significantly since initial recognition (i.e. 
transfer to stage 2), Postbank uses the change in
the risk of a default occurring over the expected life 
of the instrument, rather than the change in ECL (i.e. 
change in PD).

To make the assessment, the entity compares the 
risk of default as at the reporting date with the risk 
of a default at the date of initial recognition of the 
financial asset.

At reporting date, Postbank has assessed whether 
there has been significant increase in credit risk for all 
financial assets that are exposed to credit risk.

As at the reporting date Land Bank had started 
experiencing a liquidity shortfall and engaging with 
various stakeholders with a view to addressing this 
challenge, especially financial obligations falling due 
that may need to be deferred. Land bank with its
corporate advisors, RMB, started working on the 
possible liability solution and has on 24 June 2020, 
received a R3 billion appropriation as part of the 
Adjustments Appropriation Bill (B10B- 2020). Of the 
R3bn, portion was set aside and retained exclusively 
for the purposes of making payment of the 12% 
capital reduction on all outstanding and deferred 
debt and interest on the outstanding/deferred debt. 
LandBank has started paying Postbank outstanding/
deferred interest and has to date paid R5 million on 
01 September 2020, a further R2.4 million was paid 
on 01 October 2020, R2.3 million paid on 01 November
2020 , and a further R2.4 million paid on 31 December 
2020.

Management considered the financial instruments 
held from Land bank and notes the uncertainty on 
whether these amounts will be received post-balance 
sheet date.

Forward-looking information

Postbank incorporates forward-looking information 
into both the assessment of whether the credit risk 
of an instrument has increased significantly since its 
initial recognition and the measurement of ECL
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

Macroeconomic factors

IFRS 9 introduced the use of macroeconomic factors 
when calculating ECL. To the extent that is relevant 
and practical, Postbank has used macroeconomic 
factors in the ECL methodology. Incorporating 
forward-looking information increases the level of 
judgement as to how changes in these macroeconomic 
factors will affect ECL. An overlay adjustment has 
been raised to take into effect the potential future 
Covid-19 impacts based on research from external 
credit rating agencies and credit cycle analysis. The 
overlay adjustment is based on the average PD 
impacts due to COVID obtained from S&P studies.

Credit impaired

For financial assets that have become credit impaired, 
a lifetime ECL is recognised, interest revenue is 
calculatedby applying the effective interest rate to 
the amortised cost of the asset in reporting periods 
subsequent to the asset becoming creditimpaired.
A lifetime ECL was recognised for Loan to 
shareholders(note 5).

Definition of default and credit impaired assets

Postbank considers financial asset to be in default:

— when the counterparty is unlikely to pay its 
obligations in full or are 90 days past due.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired 
include observable data about the following events:

— Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the 
borrower;

— A breach of contract, such as default or past due 
event;

— The lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or 
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s 
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a 
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise 
consider;

— It is becoming probable that that the borrower will 
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization;

— The disappearance of an effective market for that 
financial asset because of financial difficulties; or

— The purchase or origination of a financial asset at a 
deep discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.

The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are the 
term structure of the following variables:

— Probability of default (PD);

— Loss-given default (LGD);

—Exposure at default (EAD).

The ECL is calculated on an individual asset level,using 
the PD / LGD approach

The ECL is calculated on an individual asset level,using 
the PD / LGD approach

32. Financial Instruments and Risk 
Management (continued)
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LGD Assumptions

The loss given default measures the expected loss that 
the Postbank expects to incur where the counterparty 
defaults.

In the case of the Investment Assets portfolio very 
little data is available to model the LGD for high credit 
quality financial institutions.

The LGD of 45% is based on a default approach that 
Banks may use to estimate their capital requirements 
for financial institutions.

Write off Assumptions

Any exposures greater than 360 days past due is 
provided for at 100%. It is assumed that after 360 
days past due that the Postbank will not recover any 
of the outstanding exposure.

To classify financial instruments into the relevant 
IFRS 9 buckets, Postbank applied the rebuttable 

presumptions specified in the IFRS 9 requirements.

A summary of the application of the rebuttable 
presumptions is provided below:

— Stage 1 Financial Instruments – Financial 
instruments that are 29 days or less delinquent.

— Stage 2 Financial Instruments – Financial 
instruments that are 30 days or more delinquent but 
not more than 89 days.

— Stage 3 Financial Instruments – Financial 
instruments that are 90 days or more delinquent.

Probability of Default - Mapping External Agency 
ratings to PD

The master rating scale (MRS) is created by using 
the long-run average default rate for each rating 
category. The resulting MRS is shown below:

32. Financial Instruments and Risk 
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Aaa
Aa1
Aa2
Aa3
A1
A2
A3
Baa1
Baa
Baa3 2
Ba1
Ba2
Ba3
B1
B2
B3
Caa1
Caa2
Caa3
Ca

Moody’s

AAA
AA+
AA
AA-
A+
A
A-

BBB+
BBB
BBB-
BB+
BB
BB-
B+
B
B-

CCC+ 
CCC
CCC-

C

0,001 %
0,001 %
0,010 %
0,020 %
0,040 %
0,050 %
0,070 %
0,120 %
0,210 %
0,250 %
0,490 %
0,700 %
1,190 %
2,080 %
5,850 %
8,770 %
16,560 %
24,340 %
62,170 %

100,000 %

S&P PD - (LRA
d efault rates)
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30.6 Capital adequacy risk

Capital adequacy risk is the risk that the Postbank 
will not have sufficient capital reserves to meet 
materially adverse market conditions beyond that 
which has already been assumed and unable to absorb 
losses, maintain public confidence and support the 
competitive growth of the business.

Postbank in its quest to finalise its licence application 
in terms of section 16 of the Banks Act, 94 of 1990 has 
started the process of measuring of its Regulatory 
capital requirements. Regulatory capital adequacy is 
measured by expressing available qualifying capital 
as a percentage of risk-weighted assets. The Banks 
Act, 94 of 1990 and supporting regulations, read 
together with specific requirements for the Bank and 
the Group, specify the minimum capital required to 
be held in relation to risk weighted assets. Ancillary 
regulatory requirements include the Basel III leverage 
ratio which is included in the scope of regulatory 
capital adequacy.

The company’s strategic focus is to maintain sufficient 
capital to meet Regulatory capital requirements while 
continuing to generate sufficient capital to support 
the growth of the Postbank’s operations within the 
parameters of the risk appetite set by the RCMC.

ALCO is mandated to monitor and manage capital, 
which includes:

Meeting minimum Basel III regulatory requirements 
and additional capital add-ons and floors as specified 
by the South African Reserve Bank (“SARB”); and

Test the Postbank’s strategy against risk appetite 
and required capital levels.

Postbank has initiated the process of developing an 
Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process to 
ensure that it capital requirement reflects its risks.

32. Financial Instruments and Risk 
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

2020
R ‘000

2019
R ‘000

Contingent liabilities

Various proceedings were instituted against the 
Postbank during the 2020 financial year and the 
previous financial years when Postbank was still a 
division of SA Post Office. The amounts being claimed 
from the Group total approximately R7,3 million. The 

Postbank incurred material losses due to fraudent activies by 3rd parties.Most of them are due to fraudulent 
withdrawals by criminals.

Contingent assets

The contingent assets include various cases were 
Postbank is a plaintiff.The nature of the cases 
include amongst others instances were money was 

company’s legal advisors believe that the company 
has reasonable defences against the claims and that 
the probability of loss will be minimal. Accordingly, 
no provision has been made in the annual financial 
statements with regard to these cases.

fraudulently withdrawn from client bank accounts.
These matters remain contingent as the probabilities 
of successfully defending the cases remain uncertain.

33. Contingencies

Contingent liabilitiesclassification

Civil cases

Contingent assets

Civil cases

-

-

7 305

92

34. Material losses due to criminal conduct

Material losses
-49 439
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